P S
HALTON Health Policy and Performance Board

BOROUGH COUNCIL

Tuesday, 26 November 2024 at 6.30 p.m.
Council Chamber, Runcorn Town Hall

Q
5 Moy

Chief Executive

BOARD MEMBERSHIP

Councillor Eddie Dourley (Chair) Labour
Councillor Sandra Baker (Vice-Chair) Labour
Councillor Victoria Begg Labour
Councillor Sian Davidson Conservative
Councillor Mike Fry Labour
Councillor Emma Garner Labour
Councillor Louise Goodall Labour
Councillor Chris Loftus Labour
Councillor Louise Nolan Labour
Councillor Tom Stretch Labour
Councillor Sharon Thornton Labour

Please contact Ann Jones on 0151 511 8276 or e-mail
ann.jones@halton.gov.uk for further information.
The next meeting of the Board is on Tuesday, 11 February 2025



ITEMS TO BE DEALT WITH
IN THE PRESENCE OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC

Part |
Item No.
1. MINUTES

2. DECLARATIONS OF INTERESTS (INCLUDING PARTY WHIP
DECLARATIONS)

Members are reminded of their responsibility to declare any
Disclosable Pecuniary Interest or Other Disclosable Interest
which they have in any item of business on the agenda, no later
than when that item is reached or as soon as the interest
becomes apparent and, with Disclosable Pecuniary interests, to
leave the meeting during any discussion or voting on the item.

3. PUBLIC QUESTION TIME

4. HEALTH AND WELLBEING MINUTES

5. DEVELOPMENT OF POLICY ISSUES

(A) RESEARCH AND PRACTICE DEVELOPMENT CARE
PARTNERSHIP CO-CREATION REPORT

(B) INTEGRATION BETWEEN WARRINGTON & HALTON
TEACHING HOSPITALS NHSFT & BRIDGEWATER
COMMUNITY HEALTHCARE NHSFT

(C) ONE HALTON PARTNERSHIP AND ICB@HALTON
UPDATES

(D) REPORT ON ACTIVITY TO SUPPORT CARERS

(E) HSAB ANNUAL REPORT 2023-24

(F) HOUSING SOLUTIONS PERFORMANCE UPDATE
6. PERFORMANCE MONITORING

(A) PERFORMANCE MANAGEMENT REPORTS - QUARTER
2 2024/25

Page No.

8-10

11-19

20-129

130 - 145

146 - 157

158 - 191
192 - 234

235 - 243

244 - 282

In accordance with the Health and Safety at Work Act the Council is
required to notify those attending meetings of the fire evacuation
procedures. A copy has previously been circulated to Members and

instructions are located in all rooms within the Civic block.



Page 1 Agenda ltem 1

HEALTH POLICY AND PERFORMANCE BOARD

At a meeting of the Health Policy and Performance Board held on Tuesday, 24
September 2024 at the Council Chamber, Runcorn Town Hall

Present: Councillors Dourley (Chair), Baker (Vice-Chair), Begg, C. Loftus,
L. Nolan and Thornton and D. Wilson, Healthwatch Co-optee

Apologies for Absence: Councillors Davidson, Fry, Garner, Goodall and Stretch
Absence declared on Council business: None

Officers present: S. Wallace-Bonner, S. Salaman, A. Jones, L Wilson, P. Preston
and J. Rosser

Also in attendance: T. Knight — NHS Cheshire & Merseyside, T. Leo and K.
Hanson — Halton Place and Councillor Wright (in accordance with Standing
Order number 33)

ITEMS DEALT WITH
UNDER DUTIES
EXERCISABLE BY THE BOARD

Action
HEA8 MINUTES

Subject to noting that David Wilson was in
attendance, the Minutes of the meeting held on 25 June
2024 having been circulated were signed as a correct
record.

HEA9 PUBLIC QUESTION TIME

It was confirmed that no public questions had been
received.

HEA10 HEALTH AND WELLBEING MINUTES

The minutes from the Health and Wellbeing Board’s
meeting held on 20 March 2024, were submitted to the
Board for information.

HEA11 DENTAL SERVICES UPDATE
Members welcomed Mr Tom Knight from NHS

Cheshire and Merseyside, who presented to the Board a
report which updated them on dental services in Halton; the




Page 2

local dental improvement plan progress; and the publication
of the national dental recovery plan.

It was reported that access to dental care remained
one of NHS Cheshire and Merseyside’s key priorities.
However, access to NHS dental services was impacting
negatively on patients on a local, regional and national level.
Many performers on NHS contracts had switched from
providing NHS care to private care, resulting in national
workforce challenges. This was due to the NHS contract no
longer being an attractive option both professionally and
financially.

The report described how the NHS Cheshire and
Merseyside Dental Improvement Plan 2023-34 facilitated an
increase in access from 2023-24 and led to a number of
providers offering urgent care and urgent care plus.
Additionally, a pathway was created for looked after children
and vulnerable patients such as those receiving cancer
treatment.

The Cheshire and Merseyside Dental Improvement
Plan 2024-26 was presented to the Board. The local plan
would focus on five key pathways which focussed on routine
access for all; these were explained in detail. It was
reported that under the New Patient Premium and Golden
Hello incentives within the National Dental Recovery Plan,
Halton had 4 practices and one practice respectively, opting
into the schemes.

Member’'s questions were taken and the following
additional information was provided:

e Under the New Patient Premium scheme patients
would be seen as they usually were, so based on
their individual health needs. Some patients attended
every 6 months, some every 12 months;

e One Member shared the experience of one of her
constituents with a child who was turned away from a
dentist in an emergency — further information would
be provided to Mr Knight following the meeting;

e The NHS had no jurisdiction over private practice;

e The dentists in Halton who were included in the
above schemes must advertise on their websites
when space becomes available for new patients;

e The numbers of NHS dentists lost across Cheshire
and Merseyside was considered alarming; Mr Knight
would check the numbers lost in Halton since his last
visit to the Board,;

e As mentioned above two of the main challenges were




Page 3

the numbers of dentists leaving the profession and
the unattractiveness of NHS contracts; and

e The Cheshire and Merseyside Dental Improvement
Plan 2024-26 included looking at different types of
contracts for dentists and also other staff such as
hygienists and nurses.

Executive Director

RESOLVED: That the report is noted. of Adult Services

HEA12 PROPERTY POOL PLUS (PPP) - POLICY AMENDMENTS

The Board considered a report from the Executive
Director, Adults, which provided recommendations for
several amendments to be made to the Property Pool Plus
(PPP) Policy, and provided some background and rationale
for the recommended policy changes.

The Board was advised that in 2020 the PPP partner
scheme local authorities (Halton, Knowsley, Liverpool City,
Sefton and Wirral) undertook a review of the jointly
administered PPP housing allocations policy, which resulted
in the approval and implementation of a revised PPP policy
and upgraded IT system. The revised policy was
implemented in January 2024.

The report outlined the recommended changes and
rationale for these (two in particular); changes to
qualification criteria; corrections and minor changes; and
amendments to the discretion criteria.

It was reported that to further ensure that the Policy
was compliant with new legislation and to seek views on the
recommendations, a 12 week formal consultation process
would begin.

One Member raised concerns over what he felt was a
poor relationship between the Registered Providers and the
Council and he was disappointed with the PPP partner
scheme. He gave examples of some complaints he had
received from residents regarding the poor condition of
some properties on Castlefields. After receiving complaints
from people on the waiting list, he felt the allocations of
properties was flawed in some way.

With regards to those clients without online access, it
was explained that housing officers were available to help
customers to register. There were also drop in sessions for
customers and in some cases home visits were made.
Executive Director
RESOLVED: That of Adult Services




Page 4

1) the Board notes the report and Policy; and

2) the majority of the Board endorse the consultation
process.

HEA13 PUBLIC HEALTH ANNUAL REPORT

The Board welcomed the Director of Public Health
(DPH), who presented the Public Health Annuary Report
(PHAR) for 2023-24 — Healthy Start, Healthy Future.

The PHAR was an important vehicle by which a DPH
could identify key issues, flag problems, report progress and
therefore, serve their local populations. It is also a key
resource to inform local inter agency action and remained a
key means by which the DPH was accountable to the
population they served.

For the year 2023-24 the PHAR focussed the impact
of empowered young people who had embraced key
messages from the Personal, Social and Health Education
(PHSE) curriculum, who were inspired to promote change
within their school community. The children and young
people were supported to make this change through the
work of the Healthy School's Team in collaboration with
schools and their partners. The Public Health Team's
Healthy Schools Program worked with schools and colleges
to help create a healthy school environment that built lifelong
health enhancing habits.

This culminated in an event where the different
programmes that they had developed were shared and their
contributions celebrated.

The PHAR highlighted some of the key health
challenges as well as some of the ways that the healthy
schools programme tackled these. Members were referred
to the case studies presented with some of Halton’s schools
and the different areas of focus such as obesity, vaping,
intergenerational initiatives (care homes), young health
champions and wellbeing.

The challenges being faced with children and young
people taking up vaping were discussed. The dangers of
vaping were still unknown but concerns were raised around
the ‘normalisation’ of using vapes and that they were
considered to be a safe alternative to cigarettes. Their
misuse, by non-smokers, was on the increase by children
and young people, which was a concern for all.




HEA14

Page 5

One Member suggested that a video be made by
young people, aimed at young people (peers) warning of the
dangers of vaping, as a way of communicating this
message, which could be played in schools.

The Board welcomed the Annual Report and
supported the recommendations made.

RESOLVED: That the Board
1) notes the contents of the report; and

2) supports the Public Health Annual Report's
recommendations.

UTILISATION OF MENTAL HEALTH BEDS FOR HALTON
RESIDENTS

The Board received a report and presentation from
the Director — Halton Place, NHS Cheshire and Merseyside,
on the utilisation of mental health beds for Halton residents.

The presentation gave details on:

¢ the type and number of adult mental health inpatient
commissioned beds for Halton residents;

e utilisation of commissioned beds and any out of area
placements;

e services commissioned to support patients to safely
remain in the community, reducing avoidable
admissions, providing better quality and outcomes for
local people; and

e the challenges faced in ensuring local people were
able to access inpatient mental health beds locally,
when they needed them.

To provide some context to the total number of adult
bed days, numbering 14,890, this was equivalent to a total
of 40 beds available in Halton each day. The Board was
provided with information on the numbers of adult mental
health bed days utilised in Halton, in comparison to other
Mersey Care locations. The same was provided for older
adult bed days.

It was commented that the Council’s Mental Health
Teams struggled to access these beds at times; this would
be discussed at the next ICB meeting.

For its next steps, it was reported that NHS Cheshire
and Merseyside was implementing a Mental Health System




HEA15

HEA16

Page 6

Flow Programme in 2024-25. This was intended to reduce
the numbers of patients waiting in a community setting for
admission to a hospital bed; to reduce the numbers of
patients waiting in acute hospital emergency departments
for discharge into the community or to a mental health
inpatient bed; and to reduce the number of patients who
were clinically ready for discharge in mental health in-patient
settings.

RESOLVED: That the Board note the contents of the
report and presentation.

JOINT HEALTH SCRUTINY PROTOCOL

The Board received a report from the Director of
Legal and Democratic Services, which introduced proposed
revisions to the Joint Health Scrutiny Arrangements, which
were in operation across Cheshire and Merseyside.

The revised draft was attached at Appendix one, with
the proposed changes highlighted in yellow. The Board was
requested to endorse the revised arrangements and
recommend it to Council for approval.

Following one query, the Board was advised that no
notifications had been received from the new Government
regarding any further revisions to the arrangements.

RESOLVED: That the Board
1) notes the report and Appendix; and

2) endorses the revised Joint Health Scrutiny
Arrangements and recommends it to Council for
approval.

PERFORMANCE MANAGEMENT REPORTS - QUARTER
1 OF 2024-25

The Board received the Performance Management
Reports for quarter one of 2024/25.

Members were advised that the report introduced,
through the submission of a structured thematic
performance report, the progress of key performance
indicators, milestones and targets relating to Health in
quarter one of 2024-25. This included a description of
factors, which were affecting the service.

The Board was requested to consider the progress

Director, Legal
and Democratic
Services



Page 7

and performance information; raise any questions or points
for clarification; and highlight any areas of interest or
concern for reporting at future meetings of the Board.

Key developments within the report were welcomed.
It was noted that some of the data was incomplete as it was
only available up to the end of May due to the transfer from
the Carefirst reporting system to the Eclipse reporting
system and some data would not be available until October.

RESOLVED: That the Performance Management
report for quarter one of 2024/25 be received.

Meeting ended at 7.35 p.m.



Page 8 Agenda Item 3

REPORT TO: Health Policy & Performance Board

DATE: 26 November 2024

REPORTING OFFICER: Chief Executive

SUBJECT: Public Question Time

WARD(S) Boroughwide

1.0 PURPOSE OF THE REPORT

1.1 To consider any questions submitted by the Public in accordance with

Standing Order 34(9).

1.2 Details of any questions received will be circulated at the meeting.

2.0 RECOMMENDATION: That any questions received be dealt with.

3.0 SUPPORTING INFORMATION

3.1 Standing Order 34(9) states that Public Questions shall be dealt with
as follows:-

(i) A total of 30 minutes will be allocated for dealing with questions
from members of the public who are residents of the Borough, to
ask guestions at meetings of the Policy and Performance Boards.

(i)  Members of the public can ask questions on any matter relating to
the agenda.

(i) Members of the public can ask questions. Written notice of
guestions must be given by 4.00 pm on the working day prior to
the date of the meeting to the Committee Services Manager. At
any one meeting no person/organisation may submit more than
one question.

(iv) One supplementary question (relating to the original question)
may be asked by the questioner, which may or may not be
answered at the meeting.

(v) The Chair or proper officer may reject a question if it:-

e Is not about a matter for which the local authority has a
responsibility or which affects the Borough;

e Is defamatory, frivolous, offensive, abusive or racist;

e Is substantially the same as a question which has been put at
a meeting of the Council in the past six months; or



4.0

4.1

5.0

5.1

6.0

6.1

6.2

6.3

(vi)

(vii)

(Vi)

(ix)

Page 9

e Requires the disclosure of confidential or exempt information.

In the interests of natural justice, public questions cannot relate to
a planning or licensing application or to any matter which is not
dealt with in the public part of a meeting.

The Chair will ask for people to indicate that they wish to ask a
guestion.

PLEASE NOTE that the maximum amount of time each
guestioner will be allowed is 3 minutes.

If you do not receive a response at the meeting, a Council Officer
will ask for your name and address and make sure that you
receive a written response.

Please bear in mind that public question time lasts for a maximum
of 30 minutes. To help in making the most of this opportunity to
speak:-

o Please keep your questions as concise as possible.

o Please do not repeat or make statements on earlier
guestions as this reduces the time available for other
issues to be raised.

o Please note public question time is not intended for debate
— issues raised will be responded to either at the meeting
or in writing at a later date.

POLICY IMPLICATIONS

None identified.

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

None identified.

IMPLICATIONS FOR THE COUNCIL’S PRIORITIES

Improving Health, Promoting Wellbeing and Supporting Greater
Independence

None identified.

Building a Strong, Sustainable Local Economy

None identified.

Supporting Children, Young People and Families



6.4

6.5

6.6

7.0

7.1

8.0

8.1

9.0

9.1

10.0

10.1

Page 10

None identified.

Tackling Inequality and Helping Those Who Are Most In Need
None identified.

Working Towards a Greener Future

None identified.

Valuing and Appreciating Halton and Our Community
None identified.

RISK ANALYSIS

None.

EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY ISSUES

None identified.

CLIMATE CHANGE IMPLICATIONS

None identified.

LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS UNDER SECTION 100D OF
THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972

None under the meaning of the Act.



Page 11 Agenda Item 4

REPORT TO: Health Policy and Performance Board
DATE: 26 November 2024

REPORTING OFFICER: Chief Executive

SUBJECT: Health and Wellbeing Minutes

WARD(S): Boroughwide

1.0 PURPOSE OF REPORT

1.1 The Minutes from the Health and Wellbeing Board’s meeting held on
10 July 2024 are attached at Appendix 1 for information.

2.0 RECOMMENDATION: That the Minutes be noted.
3.0 POLICY IMPLICATIONS

3.1 None.

4.0 OTHER IMPLICATIONS

4.1 None.

5.0 IMPLICATIONS FOR THE COUNCIL’S PRIORITIES

5.1 Improving Health, Promoting Wellbeing and Supporting Greater
Independence

None
5.2 Building a Strong, Sustainable Local Economy
None
5.3  Supporting Children, Young People and Families
None
5.4  Tackling Inequality and Helping Those Who Are Most In Need
None
5.5 Working Towards a Greener Future
None

5.6  Valuing and Appreciating Halton and Our Community



6.0

6.1

7.0

7.1

8.0

8.1

9.0

9.1

Page 12

None

RISK ANALYSIS

None.

EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY ISSUES
None.

CLIMATE CHANGE IMPLICATIONS
None identified.

LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS UNDER SECTION 100D OF THE
LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972

There are no background papers under the meaning of the Act.



Page 13

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD

At a meeting of the Health and Wellbeing Board on Wednesday, 10 July 2024 at the
Bridge Suite, Halton Security Stadium

Present: Councillor Wright (Chair)
Councillor Ball
Councillor Woolfall
S. Burrows, Public Protection, Halton Borough Council
M. Hancock, Public Health
L. Hughes, Healthwatch Halton
A. Leo, Integrated Commissioning Board
W. Longshaw, Mersey & West Lancashire NHS Trust
D. Moore, Warrington & Halton Hospitals
L. Naidu, Public Protection, Halton Borough Council
T. McPhee, Mersey Care NHS Trust
L. Olsen, Halton Housing Trust
I. Onyia, Public HealthPublic Health, Halton Borough Council
H. Patel, Halton Citizens Advice Bureau
S. Patel, Local Pharmacy Committee
S. Scott, Halton Housing Trust
F. Watson, Halton Borough Council
S. Yeoman, Halton & St. Helens VCA

Apologies: Councillor T. Mclnerney, D. Bowman (Cheshire Fire) and C. Jones
(Cheshire Constabulary)

Also in attendance: None

Action
HWB1 MINUTES OF LAST MEETING

The Minutes of the meeting held on 20 March 2024
having been circulated were signed as a correct record.

HWB2 PUBLIC HEALTH ANNUAL REPORT 2024

The Board received a report and presentation from
the Director of Public Health, on the Public Health Annual
Report (PHAR) for 2023-24, Healthy Start, Healthy Future.

The 2023-24 Public Health Annual Report focussed
on the impact of empowered young people who had
embraced key messages from the Personal, Social and
Health Education (PSHE) curriculum and who had been
inspired to promote change within their school community.
The young people were supported to make these changes
through the work of the Healthy Schools Team in
collaboration with schools and other partners.




HWB3

HWB4

Page 14

The report highlighted some of the key health
challenges as well as some of the ways that the Healthy
Schools Programme tackled these. The report also
highlighted several school and educational setting
approaches to vaping on school grounds; peer-led health
messages; role modelling to parents around health food and
physical activity; five ways to wellbeing and an
intergenerational approach to reducing loneliness.

The Director of Public Health circulated a copy of the
Annual Plan to each Board Member present.

RESOLVED: That the Board:
1) note the report; and
2) support the recommendations.
HOUSING ASSOCIATIONS AND HEALTH IN HALTON

The Board received a report and presentation which
was delivered by the Chief Executive of Halton Housing
Trust. The presentation provided an overview of the scale
and context of social housing activity across Halton, with a
particular focus on links with health outcomes for residents.

The presentation provided a focus on:

Health and Safety;
Key housing and health issues in Halton;
Poor housing — the cost to the NHS; and

Improving living conditions and opportunities to
collaborate.

Case studies were also included, which outlined how
the work of housing associations in Halton had improved the
health and wellbeing of its tenants.

The Board discussed the information presented to
them and agreed that organisations needed to jointly identify
an integrated approach to prevent duplication of work. It
was agreed that this should be discussed further and
progressed via the One Halton Group.

RESOLVED: That the Board note the contents of the
presentation.

WARRINGTON AND HALTON INTEGRATION
PROGRAMME




HWB5

Page 15

The Board received a presentation from the Director
of Strategy and Partnerships, Warrington and Halton
Hospitals on the Warrington and Halton Integration
Programme.

In order to make improvements for both patients and
staff working at the front line, opportunities had been
identified via a programme of work. This would deliver
integrated and collaborative models of care between
Warrington and Halton Hospital NHS Foundation Trust and
Bridgewater Community NHS Foundation Trust.

The presentation provided information on the
following:

Work undertaken to date;

Local Governance;

Proposed Programme Workstreams;

Financial opportunities; and

Communications and engagement to date and
immediate next steps.

It was noted that the first meeting of the Joint
Committee would take place in September 2024 and it was
proposed that milestone targets and delivery expectations
for the eight programmes and overarching objectives would
be identified and agreed.

RESOLVED: That the Board note the contents of the
presentation.

TRADING STANDARDS SERVICE UPDATE

The Board received a report from the Director of
Public Health, which provided an update on some of the
work of the Trading Standards Service and the contribution
this work had made in protecting public health, children and
vulnerable adults from harm.

It was noted that the Trading Standards team
provided a wide range of statutory services to protect
consumers and legitimate businesses from unfair,
misleading or unsafe trading practices. Amongst others,
these services included weights and measures, product
safety, restricted sales, explosives, scams awareness, fair
trading, doorstep crime, counterfeit and illicit goods -
including tobacco and vapes. The team also provided an
enhanced consumer advice service to help consumers
enforce their own civil consumer rights.




HWB6

Page 16

The report focussed on the following services which

contributed to protecting public health and safeguarding
children and adults:

scams awareness;

doorstep crime;

illegal money laundering;

tobacco and vapes;

age restricted sales;

consumer advice and the Citizens Advice Consumer
Helpline; and

ICAN consumer alert network.

The report also provided case studies for each of the

services, which the Board noted.

Following discussions, some additional information

was noted and agreed:

1)

2)

3)

4)

Stop Loan Sharks was operated by Birmingham City
Council on behalf of Local Authorities throughout the
country;

It was acknowledged that more promotional work
needed to be undertaken on the referral process; and
It was suggested that there were opportunities for
joint working and this would be discussed at a future
housing partnership meeting.

RESOLVED: That the Board:
note the report;

endorse the approach to doorstep crime and illegal
money lending;

endorse the multi-faceted approach to both prosecute
and disrupt illegal activity by seizing illegal an illicit
products to remove them from the market; and

encourage partners to sign up to and share the iCan
alert system.

PHARMACEUTICAL NEEDS ASSESSMENT

The Director of Public Health, presented a report

which provided members of the Board with a briefing on the
Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment (PNA) which included
risks associated with it and proposed local governance
arrangements.




HWB7

Page 17

Every Health and Wellbeing Board in England had a
statutory responsibility to publish and keep an up-to-date
statement of needs for pharmaceutical services of its local
population. This was referred to as a Pharmaceutical Needs
Assessment (PNA) and included dispensing services as well
as public health and other services that pharmacies may be
commissioned to provide.

The report set out the commissioning arrangements;
proposed arrangements for producing Halton’s next PNA;
and the resources required.

The report also outlined the next steps which would
be undertaken by a steering group. It was noted that once a
final draft document had been completed, a 60 day statutory
consultation would be undertaken and the results would be
reported to the Board before its publication on 1 October
2025.

RESOLVED: That the Board:
1) note the contents of the report;

2) agreed that the Director of Public Health be the lead;
and

3) agreed that the PNA be managed by a local steering
group, led by Public Health.

WIDER DETERMINANTS OF HEALTH: RESPONDING TO
POVERTY & TACKLING THE DRIVERS OF HEALTH
INEQUALITIES

The Board received a report from the Director of
Public Health, which outlined the effects of the cost of living
crisis on those living in poverty in Halton.

The report outlined the Halton and multi-agency
approach and the support offered during the cost of living
crisis. Local Councils received Government funding to help
programs supporting residents and some of the main food
and fuel services funded were as follows:

food support for families;

fresh food at social supermarkets;
foodbanks; and

energy payments.

The Board was advised that some research had also
been undertaken which looked into housing conditions and




HWBS8

HWB9

Page 18

how the effects of damp and mould have on the health of
residents. Some of this work was done in collaboration with
Bridgewater and Halton Housing Trust who were able to
provide additional data on health and home conditions.

There were different reasons why residents required
support e.g. financial, behavioural and structural. For those
struggling to heat their homes, fuel vouchers had been
offered. Energy Project Plus offered home visits, as part of
their Warmth for Health Scheme, which advised residents on
causes of mould and how to ventilate their homes properly.
For homes that needed structural improvements, the Eco
Flex Scheme offered grants for improvements such as wall
and loft insultation and over the Winter period, 40 successful
applications had been granted.

RESOLVED: That the Board:
1) endorse the work taking place in Halton;

2) note the importance of multi-agency approaches to
tackling inequalities and collective work;

3) note the requirement for a long-term focus on
prevention to combat the drivers of poverty and
health inequalities; and

4) discuss how to sustain support for interventions to
ensure they remain open and available to all.

BETTER CARE FUND 2023/24 - END OF YEAR RETURN

The Board received a report from the Executive
Director of Adult Social Services, which provided an update
on the Better Care Fund 2023-24 Year-End return, following
its submission on 21 May 2024. The update provided the
Board with information on the four national conditions which
had been met, progress on the four national metrics, income
and expenditure actual, year-end feedback and adult social
care fee rates.

RESOLVED: The Better Care Fund Year-End return
for 2023-24 be noted for information.

BETTER CARE FUND PLAN 2024/25




Page 19

The Board received a report from the Executive
Director of Adult Social Services, which provided an update
on the Better Care Fund (BCF) Plan 2024-25, following its
submission on 4 June 2024.

The aim of the BCF Plans was to support people to
live healthy, independent and dignified lives through joining
up health, social care and housing services.

The Board noted that in order to support the BCF
Plan 2024-25, the current Joint Working Agreement was
reviewed and updated to reflect recent changes in
governance arrangements and to include 2024-25 pooled
budget financial details.

Following discussions, the Board noted the request
from Mersey Care NHS Trust to join the Better Care
Commissioning Advisory Group.

RESOLVED: That the Better Care Fund Plan 2024-25
be noted for information.

Meeting ended at 3.25 p.m.



Page 20 Agenda Item 5a

REPORT TO: Health Policy and Performance Board
DATE: 26" November 2024
REPORTING OFFICER: Dr Robert McSherry, Professor of Nursing and

Practice Development in Health and Social
Care, Dr Nellie Makhumula-Nkhoma, Research
Assistant and Rhian Crompton, Research

Assistant
PORTFOLIO: Adult Social Care
SUBJECT: Research and Practice Development Care

Partnership - Using co-creation to explore
public and professionals’' awareness of location
and types of care services (the Continuum of
Care) available to older people: A qualitative

approach.
WARD(S) Borough wide
1.0 PURPOSE OF THE REPORT
11 To provide an update on the Research and Practice Development

Care Partnership Co-Creation Final Report of using co-creation to
explore public and professionals’' awareness of location and types of
care services (the Continuum of Care) available to older people: A
gualitative approach. Please see appendix 1.

2.0 RECOMMENDATION: That

1) the report be noted; and
2) recommendations actioned where necessary.

3.0 SUPPORTING INFORMATION
3.1 Background

3.1.1 The Research and Practice Development Care Partnership was
formed in August 2021. Itis a joint venture between Halton Borough
Council Adult Social Care, the University of Chester, Age UK Mid
Mersey and the Caja Group. The partnership aims to improve
experiences of care by forging closer links between social care
professionals and researchers. They are part of a national NIHR
funded programme of “Creating Care Partnerships”.

3.1.2 The COVID-19 pandemic has raised some fundamental questions
surrounding the provision of home care (domiciliary care) and care



3.2

3.2.1

3.3

3.3.1

3.3.2

Page 21

services and their impact on an older individual’s quality of life and
health and wellbeing. Anecdotal evidence seems to suggest that an
individual is better placed in their own home as opposed to a nursing
/ residential care home. However, there is limited evidence to
corroborate these claims. The Continuum of Care and Care Spectra
are essential attributes and characteristics aligned to understanding
individuals' experiences of health and wellbeing throughout the life-
course. It is imperative that both the Continuum of Care and Care
Spectra help people and society shift the perspective from personal
success and failure. It is a matter of personal preferences.

Methodology

There were 4 key activities for the methodology used for the project.
These were:
e Activity 1: Professional and Stakeholder Engagement Events
e Activity 2: An Exploratory Literature Review
e Activity 3: Public Engagement Events, comprising of 5
creative engagement methods.
o Snap judgement
o Three words
o Idea Board
o Role Play Scenarios
o Survey
e Activity 4: Sharing and Dissemination

Findings

Activity 1 — Professional and Stakeholder Engagement Events
Five events took place, two face-to-face and three online with 18
people attending in total. Representatives came from the following
groups:
e Local and national charitable organisations
NHS and Primary Care
Halton Borough Council
Rehabilitation Services
Health & Wellbeing-related Social Enterprises
Carers’ Organisations
Local Government Elected Members

Activity 2 — An Exploratory Literature Review
Areas looked at included:
¢ National surveys
Newspaper articles
Reports
Google
Various related databases
These amounted to around 150 thousand pieces of literature.




3.3.3

3.34

3.3.5

3.3.6

3.3.7

3.3.8

3.3.9

Page 22

Key Findings

e The majority of publications — have indicated Home as the
favoured location of care.

e Also highlighted that social and emotional components can
act as barriers — certain areas are neglected but easily
actionable — mainly to do with safety.

e There is lack of consensus on quality of life, i.e. whether
individuals are in their own home or care/nursing homes.

e Individuals who are dependent on others in their daily lives,
can still experience autonomy and well-being.

Conclusion
e When developing services for older people, it is important to
consider those that reinforce recovery, adaptation and
psycho-social growth, which will enable them to navigate
resources and marshal areas of concern related to old age.

Activity 3 - Public Engagement Events, comprising of 5 creative
engagement methods.

There were 5 activities which resulted in 451 engagements in total.

Activity 1 — Snap Judgement
e The people who participated were categorised by age range
(8 categories from 18-24 up to 85-94).
e Participants were asked to choose their preferred option of
location of care out of 5 alternatives. The majority opted for
Living at Home. Only one person chose Residential Care
Home.

Creative Methods 2: Three Words
e Participants were shown 4 pictures and asked to provide
words relating to them, e.g. one picture showed a sign of love
in a care home.
e 252 words were identified: recurring words were: Love, Care,
Caring, Hospital, Support and Happy. Love was the most
popular word.

Creative Methods 3: Ideas Board

e Participants were shown a flipchart and invited to provide
feedback on their experience of care services which were
posted onto the chart.

e There were 7 sessions producing 110 responses, with a
varying level of feedback. This exercise provided a useful
overview of people’s experiences and opinions.

e Sterling’s thematic analysis was then applied. All responses
were noted and words with no meaning removed.
Categorisation took place into basic themes and
organisational themes.




Page 23

After detailed analysis, 18 broad themes were consolidated
into 6 which cut across all areas:

o Communication and Information was the top priority,
alongside Public Image and Perspectives of Care
Services. This was divided into 4 key.

o Helpfulness — what individuals are able to gain and
access

o Individuals not wanting to think about growing old,
personal experience of care

o Political element around imagery — media influence

o Domiciliary care - Perception that these services have
reduced and failed over time.

Place and Types of Care Services:

o Desire to bring back care services such as home
helps.

o Sharing memories and places. Feeling that some
interactions with care sector was too rapid and rushed.

o Funding

o Much talk about resource allocation and underfunding
across the sector.

Resources and Support:

Workforce and skill-mix

Rewards and recognition

Challenges around equipment. Some useful and interesting
anecdotes were noted

Impact and Outcome of Care:

o Concerns about cost of care —

o Safety and quality.

In conclusion, this exercise provided much insight into how
people view care services. Overall theme of individuals only
looking for services when needed and not wanting to think
about the issues until something happens. Concerns about
expense of future care.

3.3.10 Creative Methods 4: Role Play

Participants were offered a scenario and asked to put
themselves into this situation.

Participants were then asked how they would feel and given
several options and what they would do next.

The majority would contact family, although worried about
being a burden. In terms of contacting professionals, they
were not convinced they would be provided with the care
required.

There were also statements of resilience, such as they would
concentrate on getting better, getting adaptations installed in
their house, or sourcing alternative care such as domiciliary
care.

Some individuals expressed a wish to stay sociable and
ensure they got out and took advantage of any activities



3.3.11

3.3.12

3.4

3.4.1

Page 24

available to them.

e The final question concentrated on what choice of services
are available?

e Participants indicated negative feelings about professionals
and the services they provide (possibly as a result of
experiences of care during the pandemic).

e Services referred to included:

o Family and friends

Alternative care

Legal/finance advice

External services

Social activities

The most concerning response was where individuals

indicated they were unsure of available resources, bearing in

mind that the majority of participants were aged 55 and
above.

©)
@)
©)
@)

Creative Methods 5: Survey
e 41 surveys were completed (39 in field and 2 online)
e Majority of respondents were female (some of the locations
were weighted towards women)
e Majority of respondents were Halton residents; age
breakdown reflects the age breakdown from other activities
e Summary of some of the questions as follows:

o Preferred location of care: no-one selected residential
care home

o Sources of information regarding care options: wide
variety of sources, the most popular being the internet,
GP or family and friends.

o Factors determining choice of care: most important
factor was to remain near family and friends, followed
by cost.

Has Covid 19 affected opinion of care services: majority answered
no — those that answered yes were influenced by stories in the
media.

Activity 4 — Findings Dissemination
e There are journals and publications in the academic world
who may be interested in this research.
e However, the prime objective is to link with Adult Social Care
and offer a presentation to local meetings, to provide insight
and oversight on the subject.

Conclusion

Co-creation and creative methodologies have proved useful tools in
evaluating awareness of care services available to older people, by
both the public and professionals. The findings highlight the
importance of location in terms of both the home (care provided at
home) and the community (care services embedded in communities



3.4.2

4.0

4.1

4.2

5.0

5.1

6.0

6.1

6.2

6.3

6.4

6.5

6.6

Page 25

allowing closeness to family and friends, ease of access to services
and local amenities e.g. GP, Library services, opportunities for
connecting with people to avoid social isolation).

The feedback regarding Halton Borough Council’s drive to reform
the care services was overwhelmingly positive, and the data allowed
the development of some recommendation to continue this
important work.

POLICY IMPLICATIONS

Using a co-creation approach, this service evaluation aimed to
discover the current situation and most pressing issues affecting
location and types of care services (the Continuum of Care) as
determined by the public and professionals using Halton as a case
study.

This is essential in shaping our understanding care services going
forward. By gaining real world insight into the Continuum of Care,
we can begin to explore wider issues and concepts, such as the
impact of location and type of care services on the health and
wellbeing of older people.

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS
None identified.
IMPLICATIONS FOR THE COUNCIL’S

Improving Health, Promoting Wellbeing and Supporting Greater
Independence

The aim is to collaborate with Halton Adult Social Care to look
deeper into the findings to assist with future planning.

Building a Strong, Sustainable Local Economy
The aim is to collaborate with Halton Adult Social Care to look
deeper into the findings to assist with future planning.

Supporting Children, Young People and Families
None

Tackling Inequality and Helping Those Who Are Most In Need
The aim is to collaborate with Halton Adult Social Care to look
deeper into the findings to assist with future planning.

Working Towards a Greener Future
None

Valuing and Appreciating Halton and Our Community
The aim is to collaborate with Halton Adult Social Care to look



7.0

7.1

8.0

8.1
9.0

9.1

10.0

10.1

Page 26

deeper into the findings to assist with future planning.
Risk Analysis

None identified.

EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY ISSUES

An Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) is not required for this report.

CLIMATE CHANGE IMPLICATIONS
None identified.

LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS UNDER SECTION 100D OF
THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972

Appendix 1: Co-Creation Final Report of using co-creation to explore
public and professionals' awareness of location and types of care
services (the Continuum of Care) available to older people: A
qualitative approach.



Centre for Ageing and
Mental Health

EREEEEEENw
mE EURES

‘ Thornton

=l University of

| P:Chester

L7 \\"";-.\:‘ /'/:Vl:;.é-'e
Using co-creation to explore public and
professionals' awareness of location and
types of care services (the Continuum of
Care) available to older people: A qualitative
approach

Authors
Dr Robert McSherry

Professor of Nursing and Practice Development in
Health and Social Care

Rhian Crompton

Research Assistant

Dr Nellie Adeline Makhumula-Nkhoma
Research Assistant

Mr Damian Nolan

Operational Director, Commissioning and Provision,
Halton Borough Council



Page 28

Final Report

Executive Summary - July 2023

Using co-creation to explore public and professionals' awareness of location and types of care

services (the Continuum of Care) available to older people: A qualitative approach
Report Authors:

Dr Robert McSherry
Professor of Nursing and Practice Development, Centre for Ageing and Mental Health, Faculty

of Health, Medicine and Society, University of Chester

Rhian Crompton
Research Assistant, Centre for Ageing and Mental Health, Faculty of Health, Medicine and

Society, University of Chester

Dr Nellie Adeline Makhumula-Nkhoma
Research Assistant, Centre for Ageing and Mental Health, Faculty of Health, Medicine and
Society, University of Chester

Mr Damian Nolan
Divisional Manager - Engagement and Development, Halton Borough Council

Background

The COVID-19 pandemic has raised some fundamental questions surrounding the provision
of home care (domiciliary care) and care services and their impact on an older individual’s
guality of life and health and wellbeing. Anecdotal evidence seems to suggest that an
individual is better placed in their own home as opposed to a nursing / residential care home.
However, there is limited evidence to corroborate these claims. The Continuum of Care and
Care Spectra, in our opinion, are essential attributes and characteristics aligned to
understanding individuals' experiences of health and wellbeing throughout the life-course.
The Continuum of Care highlights and represents the individual’s lifespan from birth to death
(dependent, independent to possible dependency), running in parallel to health and
wellbeing. The Care Spectra are associated with specific elements relating to maintaining
optimum quality of life. For example, Technology Spectrum is about having minimum or
advanced enhanced or assisted technology to keep someone safe at hospital, home and/or

in a care facility. The Care Provider Spectrum focuses on the place where care is provided



Page 29

Final Report

i.e., in health and/or social care facilities and delivery type ranging from informal to specialist
care. It is imperative that both the Continuum of Care and Care Spectra help people and
society shift the perspective from personal success and failure. It is a matter of personal

preferences.

Funding

The service evaluation project is funded by the Impact and Research Co-Creation
Programme in partnership with Halton Borough Council, facilitated by the Research and
Innovation Office (RIO) and in support of the Research and Knowledge Exchange Institutes
(RKEIS) at the University of Chester.

Service Evaluation Aims and Objectives

Aims

Using a co-creation approach, this service evaluation aimed to discover the current situation
and most pressing issues affecting location and types of care services (the Continuum of
Care) as determined by the public and professionals using Halton as a case study.

This is essential in shaping our understanding care services going forward. By gaining real
world insight into the Continuum of Care, we can begin to explore wider issues and
concepts, such as the impact of location and type of care services on the health and

wellbeing of older people.

Objectives:

1: To use the existing Research and Practice Development Care Partnership to facilitate
engagement with stakeholders and experts in older people services to identify the
opportunities and challenges resulting from the Continuum of Care. [Professionals]

2: To undertake an exploratory review of the literature to explore the context of the
Continuum of Care and identify how different types and location of care services influence
outcomes such as benefits, harm and costs as regard older people's quality of life.

3: To apply a qualitative co-created methodology to explore public perceptions and
awareness of the Continuum of Care concerning older people. [Public]

4: To devise a sharing and dissemination strategy to help inform and enhance professional,
clinical practice, educational and research priorities, and activities for our community and

beyond.



Page 30

Final Report

Methodology
The service evaluation adopted a co-creation design and associated principles aligned to
gualitative inquiry. The approach provided a logical and effective approach including:
discovery: what is working well, envision: what would we like to see more of, co-create: how
we achieve our aims and embed: what works well.
Several methods were sequentially operationalised through four activities to achieve the
aims and objectives of the service evaluation. These were:
e Activity 1: Professional and Stakeholder Engagement Events
e Activity 2: An Exploratory Literature Review
e Activity 3: Public Engagement Events, comprising of 5 creative engagement
methods;
o Snap judgement
o Three words
o Idea Board
o Role Play Scenarios
o Survey

e Activity 4: Sharing and Dissemination

Service Evaluation Context

The service evaluation was conducted using a combination of online and public engagement
activities with health and care workers and the public in the Borough of Halton in North West
England.

Sampling
A total of 18 professionals and stakeholders participated in activity 1 and 118 members of
the public contributed to activity 3 across the various creative engagement methods resulting

with over 400 participant interactions.

Ethical and Research and Development Approvals
The service evaluation obtained approval from the University of Chester, Faculty of Health,

Medicine and Society Research and Governance Committee.

Findings
In relation to Activity 1: comprising of 5 sessions (3 online and 2 face to face) 18 professional
and stakeholders from across 7 care sector organisations participated in the event. An

endorsement of the overall co-creation service evaluation design, and the 5 creative



Page 31

Final Report

engagement methods for activity 3 was provided. Mechanisms for improving the approach
included expanding the number of events and locations. Key challenges experienced by the
care sector were identified. These included, workforce and skill mix shortages, a lack of

reward and recognition and the desire to see a fair pay parallel to health sector workers.

Activity 2, Exploratory Literature Review of national and professional databases primary
message was that when developing services for people of old age it is of great importance to
consider the services that reinforce recovery, adaptation and psychosocial growth.

Activity 3, Public Engagement Events were undertaken over 3.5 days, covering 7 venues
comprising of libraries, care facilities and marketplaces. The five innovative creative
engagement methods enabled participation based on their availability of time to complete
some or all of the activities. The creative engagement methods generated the following

results:

1) Snap judgement n=126: highlighted interaction by age-range, the choice of location of
care

2) Three words n= 91: love, care, caring, hospital, support and happy most popular word
3) Notice Board n=110: 7 sessions, 18 broad themes, 6 consolidated themes

4) Role Play Case Scenarios n=63: 6 choices, most accessed scenario D and least
accessed scenario B.

5) Survey n=41: 68.3% female, 31.7% male, mean average age 63, range of ages 22-89,
residents of Halton 82.9%. Preferred location of care was own home (75.6% of
respondents), closeness to family and friends most important factor in choice of care
(85.4%), followed by cost (70.3%). Wide variety of sources identified to gain information
about care. Desire expressed for local community based care options.

Total: 451 interactions.

In brief the results highlighted a strong commitment and desire from professionals,
stakeholders and the public to engage with the activities. There was variability of awareness
of the location, types and places of care. Participants sought information about care services

from a variety of sources.
A synthesis of the all the activities generated 6 key themes as follows:

e Communication and Information

e Public Image and Perspectives of Care Service



Page 32

Final Report

e Place and Types of Care Services
e Funding
e Resources and Support

e Impact and Outcome

Several recommendations and limitations focusing on enhancing the project and services

were identified.

Conclusion

Co-creation and creative methodologies have proved useful tools in evaluating awareness of
care services available to older people, by both the public and professionals. The findings
highlight the importance of location in terms of both the home (care provided at home) and
the community (care services embedded in communities allowing closeness to family and
friends, ease of access to services and local amenities e.g. GP, Library services,
opportunities for connecting with people to avoid social isolation).

The feedback regarding Halton Borough Council’s drive to reform the care services was

overwhelmingly positive and the data allowed the development of some recommendation to

continue this important work.

Vi



Page 33

Final Report

Contents
Executive SUMMArY - JUIY 2023 ... ... e e e e e e e e e e ar ii
I 2 T Tod (o | o 11 ] o 1RSSR 11
2. Service Evaluation Aims and ODJECHIVES ............uuuiiiii i 12
00 T 0 PP 12
2.2 ODJECHIVES: ... 13
3 Methodology and MEthOAS ..........cooiiiiiii e e 14
3.1 Service Evaluation DESIgN ........uuuiiiiii it e e e 14
3.2 Service Evaluation PrOCESS ........cccuviiiiiiiiiiiiieeeeeeee et 14
3.2.1 Activity 1: Professional and Stakeholder Engagement Events...................cceee... 15
3.2.2 Activity 2: An Exploratory Literature ReVIEW ..........cooveiiiieiiiieeeeeeeeee, 16
3.2.3 Activity 3: Public Engagement EVENTS ........ccooviiiiiiieeeee 17
3.2.4 Activity 4: Sharing and dissemination.............cccooiiieiiiiiiiiiiie e 19
3.3 Recruitment and SAMPIE........oouuiuiiii e 19
3.4 Ethical Considerations and participant SUPPOIT ..........ccvvvviiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee 19
3.4.1 Consent and confidentiality ..........ccooooeeeeeeeeee e 19
B2 ANONYIMILY e 19
3.2.3 Dealing with potential risks and management ...............ccccceeeeieeeriiieiiiieee e 20
4 FIndings from ach ACTIVILY .......oooiiiiiiii e e 21
4.1 DEMOQYIAPNIC OVEIVIEW .....eeiiiiiieiieetiiitieeteeeeeeeeeeseeeeseesesseeessesss e ebesbseeeesesnneees 21
4.2 Activity 1 — Professional and stakeholder engagement events..............cccevvvvviieiinnnns 23
4.3 Activity 2 — EXploratory literature FEVIEW ................eeuueeueiriiieieiineiinieeenennninnenneennnennenenn. 24
4.3 Activity 3 — Public ENgagement EVENLS.........cooiiiiiiiiiiii et e e aaaens 25
B3 L POt e 25
4.3.2 Creative Engagement Method 1: Snap Judgement .........ccccoeeeeeeiiiiiiiiiieeeeeeeeeeenns 25
4.3.3 Creative Engagement Method 2: Three WOords .........ccoooeeiiieiiiiieeeeeeeee, 28
4.3.4 Creative Engagement Methods 3 — Ideas Board.............cccceeeiieeviiiiiiiiiiii e, 31
4.3.5 Creative Engagement Method 4: Role Play Case Scenarios.........cccccceevieeeeeeennes 36
4.3.6 Creative Engagement Method 5: SUIVEY ..........iiiiiiiiiiiiiiee e 42
4.4. Synthesis Of fINAINGS.......ooeii e eeeeeeeees 54
4.5 Activity 4 — Sharing and DiSSEMINATION ..........uuuuuuuururiiiiiiiiiieeieineiinneeeeeeeeeae. 56
5 Discussion and RecOMMENALIONS .......coooiieiiieeeeee e 57
LT R = 4 1= (o] o T =T 0] Y2 57

Vii



Final Report

5.2 NOteS 0N MEthOUOIOQY ... .cceiieeeiiiiee e e e e e e 58
BB TREMES .. 58
5.3.1 Communication and INformation..............cooovrrieiiiiiiin e 59
5.3.2 Public Image and Perspectives Of Care...............uuuuuuuirmmmmmimmiiiiiiiiiiiiiiinninennnnnnnenes 59
5.3.3 Places and Types Of Care SEIVICES .....cciiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiii e 60
IR T 3 ¥ T 11 T PSSP 60
5.3.5 RESOUICES AN SUPPOIT. ....uuuiieeeeiieetiiiie e e e e e ettt e s e e e e e e e e et e e e e e s aearnaa e e e eaaes 61
5.3.6 Impact and OUICOME OF CAr€ ..........uuuuumuuiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieiee e enenennennes 61
L S {=Tod0 ] 0 ] 4=T 0 o F= 11 0] 1= T 62
5.4.1 Project RECOMMENUALIONS ........uuuiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieiieieineeibbeeb bbb eeeenneeeneeenennnnne 62
5.4.2 Service ReCOMMENTALIONS .......uuuuuuuiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieiiiiieeeereeeeereeeneerrererrereeeereeeeeenenennne 63
5.5 Fulfilment of AIms and ObJECHVES..........oeuiiiiii e 66
LI I 01 7= ] o 1 67
LSO 0] o o] 113 o o 1P 67
7 ACKNOWIBUGEMENTS ... 68
B R EIEIBINCES ... 68
Appendix 1: The Continuum of Care and Care Spectra: The Emerging Theory and
= 1 41V PP PPPPPPPPPP 71
Appendix 2: Professional and Stakeholder Invitation Letter...........cccccvvvvviiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiee, 74
Appendix 3: Professional and Stakeholder Participant Information Sheet .............cccccceeee.. 76
Appendix 4: Participant Information Sheet Leaflet (and Poster) for Public Engagement...... 79
Appendix 5: Professional and Stakeholder Event PowerPoint Presentation........................ 80
Appendix 6: Idea Board — Attride-Stirling (2001) thematic analysis networks applied to review
and analyse the fINAINGS ......ovuuiiii e e e e e e e 85
Appendix 7: ROIE Play SCENAIIOS ........cuuviiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieieeeee ettt 86
Appendix 8: Public Engagement ACLIVIty 5 — SUIVEY .......coovvviiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieeeeeeeeeeeeeeee 88

List of Figures

Figure 1: Summary of Service Evaluation Processes (ACHVItieS 1-4).........ccovvvevieviviieiirnnnnn. 15
Figure 2: Creative Engagement Methods .............ccuvviiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee 18
Figure 3: Emerging themes during the professional and stakeholder events....................... 23
Figure 4: Summary of reviewed evidence on favoured Location of Care.........ccccccevvvvvveenne. 24
Figure 5: Interactions DY age-range...........ouvvviiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieeeeeeeeee et 26
Figure 6: Choice of location of care by age Category............uuuvvviiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieeieieeeeeee 27
Figure 7: Images used in Three Words creative engagement method (3A to D).................. 28

Figure 8: Response rate to three-word activity by age range (excluding those who did not

010 )Vi o [= =T = o =) PSS 29



Page 35

Final Report

Figure 9: Response rate to three-word activity by age range *including those who did not

010 )Vi o (= T 1= To =) ISP 29
Figure 10: Participation by selected picture and age category........cccceeeieeeeiiveiiiiiinieeeeeeennnns 30
Figure 11: EMErging thEMES .......ouuuiii i e et s s e e e e e e e ettt e e e e e e eaeeanee 34
Figure 12: Six global and SUD thEMES ...........uuuiiii e 35
Figure 13: Participation DY g€ CAtEQONY ........ceviiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieeieeie ettt 36
Figure 14: Participation by scenarios and age Cat€gory ..........ceevvrrrerieieiiieiiieeiiieeeeeieeieeeeeees 38
Figure 15: Survey results demographics by gender ... 42
Figure 16: Survey results demographics by age Category ...........ceuvvvivveiiieeiieiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieeee 43
Figure 17: Survey results demographics by reSidence ............ooevvvvieviiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieeieeeee 44

Figure 18: “If you are/were aged 65 years and over and needed care, where would be your
preferred l0Cation Of CArE?” ......... i e 45

Figure 19: “Is your choice based on you or somebody you know providing or accessing the

(o7 17PN 45
Figure 20: “What would determine where you accessed care from?” ...........ccccceeeevieeeeeiinnnn, 47
Figure 21: “Where would you seek information about available care?”.....................oooonniie 48
Figure 22: “Has COVID-19 affected your opinion of choice of care services?” .................... 49
Figure 23: Have you heard of any of the following Services?........cccooeeeiiiieiiiiiiiiiieiie e 50
Figure 24: Synthesis and mapping of the three activitieS...............ccieieii i, 55

List of Tables

Table 1: Primary search terms and Strat€gy .........cceeiieeiiiiiiiiiiiiii e 16
Table 2: Stakeholder events demographiC SUMMaAry.........ccccceeiiieeiiiiiiiiiiie e, 21
Table 3: Public events demographiCc SUMMArY ... 22
Table 4: Choice of location of care by age Category ........ccoovveeiiiiiiiiei e, 27
Table 5: Three-letter word participants by choice and age range .............ccccoeeeeeeiiieeeeeeeee. 30
Table 6: Public Engagement Numbers (Based on Ideas Board)...........ccccoeveeevrviiiiiiiinnneeenn. 31

Table 7: Transcript analysis and theming associated with “Public Images and Perspectives

(o) 0= (SIS Y o7 =P 32
Table 8: Participation by scenarios and age Category .........ccoovvveiiieeieeiieeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee e 37
Table 9: Summary of Public Engagement ACHIVILIES ...........ooovviiiiiiieeee e, 54
Table 10: Service Recommendations by priority and timescale..............ccccoeveeviieeeeeeeee, 64
Table 11: FUfiImeNnts Of AIMS ... 66
Table 12: Fulfilment of ODJECHVES .......cuuiii e e 66



Page 36

Final Report



Page 37

Draft Version 4

1 Background

The COVID-19 pandemic has exposed some of the best areas of care and practice in the
caring sectors along with their deficits. These include but are not limited to the following:
failure in safety and governance systems and processes, workforce and skill mix shortages,
lack of education and training, lack of care and compassion, insufficient capital and financial

investment and limited access to personal protective equipment and other resources.

Care and caring are fundamental principles and are often regarded as ‘threshold concepts’
and are essential understandings central to a health / care / allied profession or professions
(Meyer and Land 2003). Care is awash with threshold concepts, for example, ‘caring’ is the
bedrock of the nursing profession and by extension could be argued central to care
professionals and workers. Similarly, ‘person-centred’ is a major component for the delivery
of ‘individualised care’. Both concepts could be regarded as primary “threshold concepts”.
Like care and caring the ‘Continuum of Care’ (CoC) — “care options that follow an individual
through time, adapting to their changing needs”, and ‘Care Spectra’ (CS) — mechanisms that
aid and support individuals along the Continuum of Care, we would suggest, are threshold

concepts (see Appendix 1 for elaboration of these emerging concepts).

The CoC and CS are disciplinary-specific knowledge requirements for care workers
essential to the delivery of safe, quality care and services across the care sector. If a care
worker fails to understand these the following may be impeded. Firstly, the way in which care
workers and practitioners make sense of their working environment and professional world.
Secondly, how they engage with their future education and training through continuous
professional development. Thirdly, their confidence, capability, and competence to
undertake their roles and responsibility both efficiently and effectively. Finally, threshold

concepts are “central to the mastery of a subject” (Cousin, 2003).

The challenge and difficultly surrounding the application of “threshold concepts” specifically
to care is twofold. Firstly, in raising awareness of what they mean together with their
characteristics and how they influence the Continuum of Care and Care Spectra. Secondly
in highlighting their importance of facilitating care worker and practitioner learning (Meyer
and Land 2003; Clouder, 2005; Bellingham-Yong, 2015).

In parallel to the above the COVID-19 pandemic raised some fundamental questions
surrounding the provision of home care (domiciliary care) and care services and their impact
on an older individual’s quality of life and health and wellbeing. Anecdotal evidence suggests
that an individual is better placed in their own home as opposed to a nursing care home.

However, there is limited evidence to corroborate these claims.

11



Page 38

Draft Version 4

Focusing on the Continuum of Care and Care Spectra in our opinion are essential attributes
and characteristics aligned to understanding individuals' experiences of health and wellbeing
throughout life's course. The Continuum of Care highlights and represents the individual’s
lifespan from birth to death (dependent, independent to possible dependency) which has
running in parallel health and wellbeing. The Care Spectra are associated with specific
elements relating to maintaining optimum quality of life. For example, Technology Spectrum
is about having minimum or advanced enhanced or assisted technology to keep someone
safe at hospital, home and/or in a care facility. The Care Provider Spectrum focuses on the
place where care is provided i.e., in health and/or social care facilities and delivery type
ranging from informal to specialist care. It is imperative that both the Continuum of Care and
Care Spectra help people and society shift the perspective from personal success and
failure. It is a matter of personal preferences (Weil and Smith, 2016).

The service evaluation project is funded by the Impact and Research Co-Creation
Programme in partnership with Halton Borough Council, facilitated by the Research and
Innovation Office (RIO) and in support of the Research and Knowledge Exchange Institutes
(RKEIs) at the University of Chester.

The service evaluation project is guided by the following overarching question:

To what extent do care service professionals and stakeholders have an awareness of
the ‘Continuum of Care’ and how well informed are the public regarding care service

provision?

2. Service Evaluation Aims and Objectives

2.1 Aims

Using a co-creation approach, this service evaluation aims to discover the current situation
and most pressing issues affecting location and types of care services (the Continuum of

Care) as determined by the public and professionals using Halton as a case study.

This is essential in shaping our understanding going forward. By gaining real world insight
into the Continuum of Care, we can begin to explore wider issues and concepts, such as the

impact of location and type of care services on the health and wellbeing of older people.

12



Page 39

Draft Version 4

2.2 Objectives:

1: To use the existing Research and Practice Development Care Partnership to facilitate
engagement with stakeholders and experts in older people services to identify the
opportunities and challenges resulting from the Continuum of Care. [Professionals]

2: To undertake an exploratory review of the literature to explore the context of the
Continuum of Care and identify how different types and location of care services influence

outcomes such as benefits, harm and costs as regard older people's quality of life.

3: To apply a qualitative co-created methodology to explore public perceptions and

awareness of the Continuum of Care concerning older people. [Public]

4: To devise a sharing and dissemination strategy to inform and enhance professional,
clinical practice, educational and research priorities, activities for our community and

beyond.

13



Page 40

Draft Version 4

3 Methodology and methods

3.1 Service Evaluation Design

The service evaluation is designed around the principles of co-creation. This according to
McSherry et al. (2018) is ideal in this context because it offers a simple, logical, and highly
effective phased approach through “discovery’. Discovery in this instance is about
establishing what is working well, what needs to happen more of the time to improve the
situation, and whether there was sufficient preparation to achieve goals. Qualitative inquiry
enables the team to explore and evaluate the opportunities and challenges surrounding the

Continuum of Care for older people.

3.2 Service Evaluation Process

The service evaluation process utilised four activities to achieve the aims and objectives of

the project, as summarised in Figure 1.

14



Page 41

Draft Version 4

Activity 1: Professional and Stakeholder Engagement Events Activity 2: Exploratory Literature
Pilot Consultation: Research and Practice Development Care Review
Partnership (Conceptual Framework Refining)

Consultation: Professional and Stakeholder fact finding event x5 (3
online and 2 face-to-face)

vy
v
=
Activity 3: Public Engagement Events c
Pilot Engagement: Testing of engagement methods (1 session) <
(g0}
Full Engagement: Full rollout of engagement methods (6 sessions) +
(48]
Creative Engagement Methods: 0O
1. Snap judgement—Instant opinion via voting boxes
2. Three Words—Viewing social care related images and noting first three words that come to mind
3. Idea Board—Post-it note board to gather opinions regarding social care
4, Role play scenario’s—scenarios and guestions
5. Survey—optional short survey to gather more in-depth opinion

Activity 4: Sharing and Dissemination

Stakeholder report, briefing summary, meetings with relevant
partners, online summary document, potential conference
papers, peer review journal articles

Figure 1: Summary of Service Evaluation Processes (Activities 1- 4)

3.2.1 Activity 1: Professional and Stakeholder Engagement Events

These events involved an Initial Consultation: Professional and Stakeholders event designed
to obtain the potential stakeholder and participant’s perspectives surrounding the proposed
format and methods for the activities. Following this, five events were held, two face to face
at a Halton Borough Council venue and three online via Microsoft Teams. The duration of
these events was no longer than 90 minutes. The format for the engagement activity

comprised of a briefing outlining the service evaluation framework. This was followed with a
series of five discussion points:

o Professional opinions of the care sector
e Perspectives on co-creation and project design

e Thoughts and opinions associated with creative methods

15



Page 42

Draft Version 4

e Perspectives on the Continuum of Care and Care Spectra

e Any other relevant points

3.2.2 Activity 2: An Exploratory Literature Review

An exploratory literature search included general market surveys conducted nationally such
as that of IPSOS, newspaper articles such as the Guardian. This baseline search enabled
the project team to gain general insight of the public’s perception of the current social care
context. The search was then conducted in google scholar search engine with reference list
revealing previously published research. A review of these resources enabled the design of
a scoping search framework of Population, Intervention, Comparator and Outcome (PICO)
framework, using an updated strategy from Boland et al (2017), and shown in Table 1. Limits
were set for research published in English and conducted or published between 2018 and
2023. This limitation is to allow retrieval of research published in the past five years and to

exclude already been identified.

Table 1: Primary search terms and strategy

Elements Search strategy
Population ‘Adults 65 years old or greater’
AND

\
&

Intervention ‘Home care’ OR ‘home care with support’ OR ‘living home with

technology’ OR ‘companionship care’ OR ‘live-in care’ OR
home nurs* OR ‘shared care’ OR shared liv* OR ‘extra care
housing’ OR ‘retirement village’ OR ‘community-based care’ OR
‘retirement village’ OR ‘adult day care centre’ OR ‘at home
friend’ OR ‘at home companion’ OR ‘at home visitor’ OR ‘family
care support’ OR ‘domiciliary care’ OR ‘shared living’ OR
‘sheltered accommodation’ OR ‘support care’

=~
&

AND

Comparator

16



Page 43

Draft Version 4

‘nursing home care’ OR ‘care home care’ OR ‘hospital

rehabilitation’ OR ‘respite care’ OR ‘long-term care’

AND

\
&

Outcome ‘physical health and wellbeing’ OR ‘psychological health and

wellbeing’ OR ‘mental health and wellbeing’” OR morbidity OR
mortality OR ‘functional status and dependence’ OR activit* OR
‘quality of life’ OR fall*

3.2.3 Activity 3: Public Engagement Events

Public engagement activities commenced following the completion of Activity 1. A pilot of the
public engagement methods was undertaken in Halton. Following revisions, a full rollout of
the public engagement activities was conducted over a three-day period across six separate
public engagement locations in Halton. The duration of each session was no more than 4
hours. The agreed format implemented following the pilot activity comprised of series of five

creative engagement methods, as shown in Figure 2).

17



Page 44

Draft Version 4

Creative Engagement Method 1: Snap Judgement

The participants provided with list of five places and asked to choose where they would you like

to be cared for in older age, and record the chosen place along with their age on a slip then
placed in box provided.

Creative Engagement Method 2: Three Words

Participants select one of four pictures and record the first three words that came to mind on a
slip of paper along with their age which was placed in box provided.

Creative Engagement Method 3: Ideas Board

Participants were asked if they had any ideas and/or information regarding social care for older
people they would like to share by writing this on post-it notes and sticking it to the idea board.

Creative Engagement Method 4: Role Play Scenario's

A series of 6 scenarios prepared. Participants given a scenario to read and reflect on. Then
asked to answer a series of questions about the scenario.

Creative Engagement Method 5: Survey

Participants were given the option to complete a brief survey prior to leaving (paper copy) or
online.

Figure 2: Creative Engagement Methods

The creative engagement methods incorporated a new novel feature into the design
processes. This was in the way participant responses were captured, moving from the short

quick responses requiring minimal time to, the more detailed responses needing more time
to engage.

18




Page 45

Draft Version 4

3.2.4 Activity 4: Sharing and dissemination
The service evaluation team intends to disseminate the findings of the project to academics,

health and care staff, partners, and other interested parties.

3.3 Recruitment and sample

The recruitment for Activity 1 (stakeholder engagement) was facilitated via the Research and
Practice Development Care Partnership. Representatives of the group circulated an
invitation email (see Appendix 2) and Participant Information Sheet (see Appendix 3) to a list
of stakeholders held by the partnership. A cross sectional representative membership of

care sector workers, organisations and associated partners was achieved.

Activity 3 (public engagement) was advertised on Halton Borough Council social media
platforms and notice boards highlighting the date, location and times of the various events.
Participants attending the events were encouraged to read and review a participant
information leaflet/poster (Appendix 4). On reading and reviewing the poster they consented
to participate in the various activities.

3.4 Ethical Considerations and participant support

3.4.1 Consent and confidentiality

Consent was obtained from adults over 18 years of age to participate in activities 1 and 3.
Consent for activity 1 was integrated within the Participant Information Sheet. After reviewing
the leaflet/poster verbal consent for activity 3 was provided by the participant prior to

engaging with the creative engagement methods.

All information is anonymous and is maintained throughout the duration of the project.
Information and data are password protected and stored on University of Chester main
drives to protect the data and information. Access is only available to the service evaluation

project team identified in the project.

3.4.2 Anonymity

Participants for activity 1 and 3 were informed in the Participant Information Sheet (see
Appendix 3) and Participant Information Leaflet/Poster (see Appendix 4) that anonymity will
always be maintained throughout the duration of the service evaluation. All information is

non-identifiable in any sharing and dissemination of the findings.

19



Page 46

Draft Version 4

3.2.3 Dealing with potential risks and management

The service evaluation posed limited risk to participants given the fact that we were seeking
opinion and information which is already available in the public domain. A potential risk to
highlight was the safety of staff undertaking the activities specifically within the public areas
of Halton. A comprehensive risk assessment was undertaken and mitigating measures
implemented to safeguard all staff members undertaking fieldwork. The service evaluation
team received a written letter from the council authorising the public engagement
consultations for review should they be challenged.

20



Page 47

Draft Version 4

4 Findings from each Activity

4.1 Demographic overview

Tables 2 and 3 summarise the dates, locations and demographics of the stakeholder events
and the public engagement events in turn.

Table 2: Stakeholder events demographic summary

Stakeholder and partners engagement Events

Participant areas of No

Date Time Mode work/specialty attended

Local and National Voluntary

21/03/23 AM and Charitable Organisation 2
Face-

to-face National Health Service

21/03//23 PM 5
Halton Council

Primary Care
24/03/23 AM 4

Rehabilitation Services

24/03/23 PM Health and Wellbeing related 6
Online Social Enterprises

Carers Organisations

11/04/23 AM 1
Local government elected

members

TOTAL 18

21




Table 3:

Page 48

Draft Version 4

Public events demographic summary
Public engagement events
(minimum)!
Date Time Venue No. seen
Halton Lea Library
28/03/23 AM _ 8
(Pilot)
AM Widnes Market 20
17/04/23
PM Widnes Library 20
AM Halton Lea Library 18
18/04/23 oM St Luke’s Nursing Home 12
AM Carer Group Meeting 15
19/04/23
PM Widnes Market 33
TOTAL 126

1 These figures represent the minimum number of participants — as the five engagement activities

were completed at different rates, from people completing just one, to those who completed all five,
the minimum number of people seen is based on the activity which recorded the highest number of
completions, i.e., the snap judgement including the pilot (though the pilot data is not included in the

results).

22



Page 49

Draft Version 4

4.2 Activity 1 — Professional and stakeholder engagement events

A total of 18 participants attended across the 5 events, with a range of organisations and
care-allied work specialities represented (see Table 2). The events were focussed around a
PowerPoint presentation (provided in Appendix 5) encouraging open discussions regarding
professional opinions of social care and the co-creation and fithess of the creative methods
for purpose framed around a series of questions identified in section 3.2.1 (page 15-16).
Overall, the participants to the professional and stakeholder events agreed with the use of
the co-creation and creative methods in the data collection for the public events, the

following suggestions were made:

1. To consider audio format for scenarios (due to ethical and time constraints this was
not practical. However, the feedback is noted for any future events).

2. To be mindful in use of some terminology for example, the use of the term ‘institution’
referring to care and nursing homes.

3. To consider and suggested additional public engagement sites. Several of the

recommended sites were included.

During the discussion several emerging themes developed, as illustrated in Figure 3.

Lcase load & mix Access of information

Workforce |

‘ Training & de

Communication & connectivity

.

Needs & choices

Systems & process

Figure 3: Emerging themes during the professional and stakeholder events

23



Page 50

Draft Version 4

4.3 Activity 2 — Exploratory literature review

At the time of writing, the literature review is still ongoing. Thus far, most of the reviewed
literature favoured home as the favoured location of care (Shaw et al 2018; Bolan et al 2017;
Smith-Carrier et al 2017; Beswick et al 2010). Although, aging in place highlights the
socioemotional components that act as barriers to remaining in the home, it often neglects
actionable safety features of the home which may also pose a threat (Brim et al 2021).
These include categories home mobility and safety, personal health, access to community
services, home improvement and maintenance needs, general safety concerns, and
bathroom safety (Brim et al 2021). Moreover, successful ageing in terms of autonomy and
wellbeing — can occur in people who are very dependent on others for daily living (Beswick
et al 2010). When developing services for people of old age it is of great importance to
consider the services that reinforce recovery, adaptation and psychosocial growth (WHO
2015). These may be particularly important in helping people navigate the systems and
marshal the resources that will enable them to deal with the health issues that often arise in
older age (WHO 2015). Figure 4 summarises the overall evidence in reviewed literature.

There is no consensus on

1
LOC with associated highest

1

I

. , !
HOME’ favoured LOC 1 quality of life when com- |

1

1

pared to care/nursing home :

Neglects actionable safety features

(home mobility and safety, personal Socioemotional - -
health, access to community services, home Successful ageing in terms of
improvement and maintenance needs, genera\‘ components autonomy and We||being i
safety concerns, bathroom safety ) as barriers can occur in people who are
very dependent on others for
daily living

When developing services for people
of old age it is of great importance to
consider the services that reinforce

recovery, adaptation and psychosocial
growth

Figure 4. Summary of reviewed evidence on favoured Location of Care

24



Page 51

Draft Version 4

4.3 Activity 3 — Public Engagement Events

4.3.1 Pilot
The public engagement pilot event enabled the testing of the creative methods, and the

following amendments were made:

Snap judgement: provide example of sheltered care

Three words: reduce number of photographs

Idea board: reduce structure

Role play/ Scenarios: develop template to capture data more accurately

a s> wnN ke

Survey: more multiple choice, less free text

4.3.2 Creative Engagement Method 1: Snap Judgement

The snap judgement is where the participants were asked to pick location of choice of care
amongst 5 options of:

A. To live in your own home with help from friends and family

B. To live in your own home with adaptions and domiciliary care workers to support you

C. To live in a retirement village

D. To live in a flat in assisted living facility

E. To live in a residential care home.

There was a total of 118 interaction at this activity. Most of the responses (60.2%, n=71)
were from participants age range 55 — 89 years and the least 39.8% (n=47) from the
participants age range 18 — 54 years. The highest response rate came from participants age
range 55-64 (25.4%, n=30, and the lowest from those of age range 18-24 (5.1%, n=6,),
Figure 5. However, 2 (1.7%) of the participants opted not to give their ages and could not be

included in the analysis by age range.

25



Page 52

Draft Version 4

18-24
5%

85-94

75-84
15%

65-74

23%

26%

Figure 5: Interactions by age-range

Further analysis was conducted to determine participants’ choice of care by age category
with the majority, 63.6% (n=75) choosing option ‘A’ (To live in your own home with help from
friends and family). Most of these participants (74.7%, n=56) that chose option ‘A’ were of
age range 55 to 89. The remaining (24%, n=18) were between 25-54 age range and 2.3%
(n=1) did not give their age. None of participants in the age category 18-24 went for this
option ‘A’. The least chosen option (0.8%, n=1) of location of care of location of care was ‘E’

(To live in a residential care home). Table 4 summarises the results of the Snap Judgement.

26



Page 53

Draft Version 4

Table 4: Choice of location of care by age category

Location Age range (years) TOTAL
of care
18-24 | 25-34 | 35-44 | 45-54 | 55-64 | 65-74 | 75-84 | 85-94 | N/A*

A 6 4 8 21 18 12 5 1 75

B 4 1 2 2 1 3 3 1 17

C 2 2 1 3 4 4 1 2 19

D 3 2 1 6

E 1 1
TOTAL 6 9 7 13 30 27 17 7 2 118

*N/A = no age declared

The results in the above table are also visually presented (percentage) of the choices of care
by age category in Figure 6. Please note the two participants did not give their age have also

been included in this analysis.

25

50 W 18-24
W 25-34

15 m 35-44

4554

10 | 55-64

21
18
12
8
6
5
5 4 N 33 344 3 m75-84
I1 I1221 1 2% II:L2 2 1 _
W 3594
ST | T | M I .
A B C

| 65-74

Percentage (%)

0
H N/A

Options of Location of Care

N/A = No age provided

Figure 6: Choice of location of care by age category

27



Page 54

Draft Version 4

4.3.3 Creative Engagement Method 2: Three Words
During this activity participants were asked to pick and look at an image, labelled A, B, C and
D (Pictures 3A, 3B, 3C and 3D as shown in Figure 7) and to list three words that came to

mind.

Figure 7: Images used in Three Words creative engagement method (3A to D)

There were a total of 91 interactions with 7 excluded (7.7%) in this activity. Reasons for
exclusion included, participants not identifying the selected picture (n=6) or not writing down
the three words (n=1). Based on participants who had provided their age, most responses to
this (3-word activity) were from those of age range 55-64 years (n=30) and the least were
from age rage 18-24 and 25-34 (n=4), as shown in Figure 8. Figure 9 shows results
including those who did not provide an age.

28



Page 55

Draft Version 4

H18-24

10, 13%

m25-34
m35-44
m45-54
m55-64
m65-74
m75-84
W 85-94

Figure 8: Response rate to three-word activity by age range (excluding those who did
not provide an age)

w1824
2534
m35.44
10, 12% m45-54
m55-64
m65-74
m75-84
m85.94

mN/A

N/A = No age provided

Figure 9: Response rate to three-word activity by age range (including those who did
not provide an age)

Most of the participants (41.7%, n=35) chose picture A with the least, 13.1% (n=11) having
participated in picture D (shown in Table 5).

29



Page 56

Draft Version 4

Table 5: Three-letter word participants by choice and age range

Picture Age range (years) TOTAL
choice
18-24 | 25-34 | 35-44 | 45-54 | 55-64 | 65-74 | 75-84 | 85-94 | N/A*

A 2 1 3 4 10 8 2 2 3 35

B 1 1 3 2 5 7 2 2 23

C 1 2 3 4 2 2 1 15

D 1 5 4 1 11
TOTAL 4 4 6 7 23 19 10 5 6 84

N/A = No age provided

A graphical presentation of the results in Table 5 is presented in Figure 10.

12
10

g 10 Pictures
@ 8
g 8
S 7 HA
E EB
=% 6 5§
— mC
° 4 4 4
g 4 33 il 3 b
£
=0
=

2 2 2 2272 2 2 2
badl LEREEE
. i -

18-24 25-34 35-44 45-54 55-64 65-74 75-84 85-94 N/A

Age category

N/A = No age provided

Figure 10: Participation by selected picture and age category

30



Page 57

Draft Version 4

Qualitative data analysis was then performed to determine the participants’ perceptions of
the chosen picture. Individually, there were 144 words that were mentioned across all the
four pictures; however, some of these words were mentioned multiple times which brought
an overall grand total of 252 words. The five most recurring words across the four pictures

were:

e Love (19x)

e Care (16x)

e Caring (9x)

e Hospital (8x)

e Support and happy (7x each).

4.3.4 Creative Engagement Methods 3 — Ideas Board

A total of three and a half days covering seven sessions generated a total of 110 participant’s

responses, shown in Table 6.

Table 6: Public Engagement Numbers (Based on Ideas Board)

Public Engagement Numbers
Date Morning Afternoon TOTAL
28/03/2023 8 N/A 8
(Pilot)
17/04/2023 15 21 36
18/04/2023 19 21 40
19/04/2023 17 9 26
FINAL TOTAL 110

31



Page 58

Draft Version 4

The qualitative data generated from the sticky notes were analysed using, Attride- Stirling’s

(2001) Thematic networks analytic tool for qualitative research (see Appendix 6 for summary

of this approach).

Thematic networks were ideal in this context because it offers a simple ‘way of organising a

thematic analysis of qualitative data. Thematic analyses seek to unearth the themes that are

salient within an excerpt of text at different levels. Thematic networks aim to facilitate the

structuring and depiction of these themes’ (Attride-Stirling 2001). This network enabled the

participants’ individual attitudes, perceptions and experiences to be expressed in narrative

formats, which were reviewed individually and collectively at a basic, organisational and

global level. The process is depicted in Table 7.

Table 7: Transcript analysis and theming associated with “Public Images and
Perspectives of Care Services”.

Participant Initial statement Condensed Basic Organization | Global theme
No meaning theme theme
14 People think of old- People think of | People think | Old fashioned | Public
fashioned care homes old-fashioned old- places imagery and
when they think of them care homes fashioned perspectives
when they care homes of care
think of them Public image | services
17 People forget that lots of | People forget Imagery of Perspectives | Public
old people are just frail that lots of old | older people | of ageing imagery and
and not dementia people are just perspectives
sufferers and that those frail and not of care
have different needs. dementia services
Good care takes those sufferers and
needs into account —and | that those
helps the families too have different
needs
18 Care homes frighten me. | Care homes Fear Fear Public
| know a few horror frighten me. | imagery and
stories. Staff seem like know a few perspectives
they are so in demand horror stories. of care
that a few don’t care services
enough about the
patients

32




Page 59

Draft Version 4

supported/vetted enough.

Some terrible stories
coming from our service

users about agencies

not as
supported/vett
ed enough.
Some terrible
stories coming
from our
service users
about

agencies

not as
supported /
vetted.
Terrible
stories
coming from
our service
users about

agencies

35 Social care provision had Social care Public Public Public
been very good in recent provision had | imagery imagery of | imagery and
years, but extremely been very care perspectives
difficult in years prior good in recent of care
years, but services
extremely
difficult in
years prior
88 You hear more cases of More cases of | Cases of Public image | Public Image
neglectful or careless neglectful or careless and and
practices i.e. people left careless and/or perspectives Perspectives
to die at home and practices i.e. neglectful surrounding of care
remaining undiscovered people left to care careless services
and children under social | die at home and/or
care suffering or even and remaining neglectful
dying at the hands of undiscovered care
their parents/care givers” | and children
under social
care suffering
or even dying
at the hands of
their
parents/care
givers
90 Agencies are not as Agencies are Agencies are | Shocking Public Image

stories from
public about

agency care

and
Perspectives
of care

services

A total of 18 themes were identified from the 110 participants. These were arranged in order

of the number of comments aligned to the themes Figure 11. Figure 12 shows the final

global and sub themes.

33



Public Images
and Perspectives
of Care Service
(n=11)

Insufficient
Resources and
Support
(n=9)

Helpfulness
(n=7)

Figure 11: Emerging themes

Communication
and Information
(n=10)

Impact and Workforce and Rewards and
Outcome of Care SKkill Mix Recognition
(n=9) (n=9) (n=8)

Not wanting to Activities within
think about it care services Que?l?t?ty an((ril=5)
(n=6) (n=6)

Political Personal Sharing

(n=3) Experience of Memories and
Care (n=3) Places (n=1)

34

Draft Version 4

Domiciliary Care
(n=9)

Cost of Care
(n=8)

Equipment

(n=3)

09 abed



Page 61

Draft Version 4

ﬁ NI
AT

Figure 12: Six global and sub themes



Page 62

Draft Version 4

4.3.5 Creative Engagement Method 4: Role Play Case Scenarios

During this activity participants were randomly offered one scenario (A, B, C, D, E, F) out of
six (see Appendix 7) to read. They were asked to assume being the person in the scenario

and answer the following three question:

1. How do you feel?
2. What would you do next?

3. What choices do you think would be available?

A total of 56 participants got involved in this activity. While the majority (96.4%, n=54), 3.6%
(n=2) did not declare their age. Most patrticipation (29%, n=16) with the scenarios was from
participants of age category 65-74 years. The least participation was from age category 25-

34 years (4%, n=2), shown in Figure 13.

2,4% 3,5% 2, 3%

5, 9%
3,5% m1824

8, 7% m2534

6 11% m 3544

45-54

W 5564

6574

m 7584

16,29% W 85-94
15,27% /A

N/A = No age provided

Figure 13: Participation by age category

36



Page 63

Draft Version 4

Scenario D was the most accessed (19.6%, n=11) and the least was scenario B (12.5%,

n=7). Results by age category are summarised in Table 8.

Table 8: Participation by scenarios and age category

Scenario Age category (years) TOTAL
18-24 | 25-34 | 35-44 | 45-54 | 55-64 | 65-74 | 75-84 | 85-94 | N/A*

A 1 1 3 1 1 1 8

B 1 2 3 1 7

C 1 1 2 4 1 1 10

D 2 1 1 3 1 3 11

E 6 3 1 10

F 3 5 2 10
TOTAL 3 2 3 6 15 16 4 5 2 56

N/A = No age provided

Results in Table 8 and Figure 13 are consolidated and presented in Figure 14 to display a
picture of participation to the activity by scenario and age range.

37



Page 64

Draft Version 4

Number of participants
8]

6
6
5
5
4 mA
4 mB
g 333 3
3 | mc
2 2 2 D
2 - i
s mE
1 11 111 1f1 1111 1 1
1 i § | - I mF
0 | | i | |
N/A

18-24 25-34 35-44 45-54 55-64 65-74 75-84 85-94
Age Category

N/A = No age provided

Figure 14: Participation by scenarios and age category

Participants’ responses
Responses to each question for all of the scenarios were collated to determine the most
recurring answers. Overall, there were 31 expressed feelings to Question 1 across all the

five scenarios. The following were the most recurring expressed feelings grouped together:

o ‘worried’ (5), ‘nervous’ (3), anxious (3) (35.5%, n=11)

o ‘lonely’ (5), 'sad’ (1), ‘uncared for’ (1), ‘unwanted’ (1), ‘not understood’ (1), ‘let down’
(1) (32.3%, n=10)

e ‘scared’ (4) ‘frightened’ (3) ‘afraid’ (1) (25.8%, n=8)

Responses to question one

Further analysis was conducted to determine the commonly appearing participant’s feelings
by scenario and by age. Out of 8 responses to question one in scenario A, half of the
participants (50%, n=4) expressed word, ‘worried’ (2) and upset (2). The word ‘upset was
stated by participant’s age category 45-54. For scenario B, the word ‘frustrated’ was
mentioned twice by participants age category 55-64. Words such as ‘vulnerable’, ‘stuck’ and
‘vulnerable’ were mentioned once each by participants age category 65-74. Sixty percent
(n=6) of the stated feeling in scenario C was ‘nervous’ (5) and worried (1) expressed by

participants age categories 45-54 (2), 55-64 (3) and 75-84 (1). The most appearing words

38



Page 65

Draft Version 4

(54.5%, n=6) for scenario D was lonely (3) and isolated (3). Two participants of age category
65-74 expressed the word ‘isolated’. Three participants highlighted the word, ‘scared’,
‘frightened’ and ‘afraid’. The most expressed word (40% n=4) in scenario E, is ‘lonely’ (age
55-64, 2 and 65-74, 1). Words ‘forgotten’ and ‘isolated’ were also highlighted. ‘Sad’ was
another word expressed by 30% (3) of the participants of two of who were of the age 55-64.
The most expressed (40%, n=4) feelings to scenario F were ‘sad’ (3) and ‘depressed’ (1)
mostly (2) from participants in age category 55-64. ‘Alone’ and ‘isolated’ were also
highlighted (one each).

Responses to question two
In response to the second question, ‘what would you do next?’ a total of 69 responses were
captured across all the five scenarios. The following themes emerged:

1. Family or professional involvement in future care — nephew / niece involvement and
social worker and GP (General Practitioner) input
Resilience — ‘concentrate on getting independence back’
Home adjustments — grab rails, ‘equipment may be lifesaver’
Alternative care — opt for the other available services, e.g., domiciliary, residential
home care

5. Remain sociable — clubs, regular visitors, past hobbies and reconnect, new hobbies

Further analysis was conducted to determine suggested action by scenario and age
category. The most common response (62.5%, n=5) to the second question to scenario A
was ‘to wait for the scan results before making further decision’. These responses came
from both the younger age category (18-24, 35-44, 45-54) and the old age category (65-74)
and one from the participants that did not declare their age. The others indicated that they
would not know what to do (1) or cry (1).

Most participants (57%, n=4) to scenario B indicated they would seek support for charitable
organisations such as Age Concern or professional (Social Services) or neighbour’s input.
The responses were participants age category 55-64 and 65-74 (two each). Two (35-44; 65-
74) had indicated they would look into sheltered accommodation or home care, respectively.

The last participant (75-84) indicated they would continue with current activities.

In view of scenario C, there was a consensus (80%, n=8) amongst the participants to seek
assistance in response to question two. Fifty percent of these participants indicated they

would seek assistance from family members and friends. While one participant indicated,

39



Page 66

Draft Version 4

would seek support without specifying where from, the other indicated they would complete
physio. Most of the responses (30%, n=3) were from participants age category 55-64 and
20% from age category 45-54. The other two participants to the scenario age category 55-64
indicated they would check if ‘staying at home’ would be an option and the last (25-34)

indicated they would ‘list everyday tasks’.

There were variable responses from the 11 participants to question two in scenario D. Some
of the participants (36.4%, n=4) indicated they would seek help with one specifying they
would ‘seek help from family but would not like to bother them’. These views were from
across all age categories (25-34, 65-74, 75-84, and 85-94). A further 27.3% (n=3) age
category 18-24, 65-74, 85-94, specified the type of help they would seek (domiciliary / home
care). Another participant ‘felt pushed into care home /sheltered housing’. Two participants
of the youngest and oldest age categories stated they would ‘complete physiotherapy to help
them get on their feet’ (18-24) and another indicated ‘seek medical check-up’ (85-94). While

the last participant indicated they would ‘nothing’.

In view of scenario E, four (40%) of the participants highlighted they would ‘speak to
someone to get help’ with one specifying they would ‘speak to family’. The participants were
of age categories 65-74 (2), 55-64 (1), and one who did not specify their age. Two of the
participants both of age category 55-64 stated they would ‘downsize’, or ‘move into care
environment’. A further two participants stated they would socialise ‘find a club to meet
people’ or ‘try to mix with people. Both participants were of age category 55-64. As with the

previous scenario, one participant stated, ‘after the grieving you have to carry on.’

Lastly, 50% (n=5) expressed the need to seek help when given scenario F, with two
specifying need for professional help (GP, social worker). Most of the responders (3) were of
age category 65-74. Two participants (age category 55-74, 85-94) expressed the need ‘to go

in a home’ with the last indicating they would do ‘nothing’.

Responses to question three
There was a total of 38 responses to this question with the following five highlighted

assumed available choices:

1. Professional (GP/medical, community, dementia/memory teams) and social support

(council, support workers) and advice of available services (5)
2. Family and friends — for advice, support, and care (7)
3. Alternative care — home, day centres, increased home visits (5)

4. Legal/financial advice — power of attorney, welfare/wellbeing rights, benefits (4)

40



Page 67

Draft Version 4

5. External services — agency, meals on wheels (3)

6. Social activities — painting, handcraft, elderly social care clubs, local connection,

community services, libraries, friendship groups via social media (8).

7. Unsure of available services/ lack of trust of NHS (National Health Service) /not wanting to

depend on family (6).

Like question 2 above, further analysis was conducted to determine suggested available
choices of care by scenario and age category. In response to question 3 on scenario A
37.5% (n=3) age category 18-25, 35-34, 45-54, mentioned medication/more medication.
While another 37.5%, age category 65-74 (1), 75-84 (1) and another with undisclosed age,
indicated they would seek professional /online advice, 25% (n=2) both of age category 45-
54, indicated they ‘did not trust the NHS’/ ‘not a lot'.

Most participants (57.1, n=4), age category, 65-74% (n=2), 35-44, 65-74, to scenario B
highlighted ‘social services/worker/ care’ as the available choices. Some participants in age
categories 65-74 and 75-84 indicated there were ‘not options/none’. The last participant

highlighted they would have to ‘all information before making any choices.

Ninety percent (n=9) of participants to scenario C indicated they would need more help /
advice ranging from professional personnel (GP, district nurse, social services/support
worker, n=4), to family/friends (2), the community (1) and home adaptation (1). Three of
these responses were from participant’s age category 55-64. One participant (age category

45-54) indicated there were ‘not too sure’ of other available choices.

Majority of the participants to scenario D had indicated various options ranging from social
services/ home care/ carers (5) to family (1), NHS (1). Others were not specific as they just

indicated ‘services’ and ‘help’ (2); while the last indicated ‘stroke club’ (1).

Most responses (50%, n=5) to scenario E were from participants aged 55-64 with the other
choices of care being, care home, Help the Aged, family, and social care. The other two
indicated ‘unsure/very little choice.” Further 20% (n=2) aged 65-74 indicated Help the Aged

and clubs as the other options.

Thirty percent (n=3) to scenario E felt the other available are social clubs (1), Help the Aged
(1) both of age category 65-74 and local church (1) of age 55-64. Another of same age

category felt social services and another (65-74) indicated the social services.

41



Page 68

Draft Version 4

Most of the participants (60%, n=6) to scenario F highlighted the need to some support or
care. These ranged from care home (2), social care/housing (2), relatives (1), and
professionals (1). However, two participants indicated ‘they did not know’ and ‘not many.
There was one response indicating the need for technology but indicated it may not be

appropriate ‘not being very good to new technology.’

4.3.6 Creative Engagement Method 5: Survey

Survey Demographics

The Survey was completed by 39 respondents across the 6 main public engagement events
(responses from the pilot are not included, as the event involved a trial survey which was
subsequently amended based on feedback). The option to complete the survey online was
given via a leaflet containing the website link to the survey, however only 2 responses were
gathered via this means, giving 41 survey completions altogether.

A PDF copy of the survey can be found in Appendix 9.

= Female Male

Figure 15: Survey results demographics by gender

Gender: The gender of respondents is shown in Figure 15. The majority of respondents were
female (68.3%), due to sites visited (e.g., the majority of respondents completing the survey

42



Page 69

Draft Version 4

at both the care home and carers group sites were female). Other public engagement sites

yielded a more equal gender split (if the aforementioned sites were excluded, the weighting

would be closer to a 54:46 female/male split).

14

12

10

4.9%

18-24

7.3%

25-34

2.4%

35-44

31.7%

22.0%
2.4%

45-54 55-64 65-74

12.2%
9.8%
7.3%

75-84 85-94 N/A*

Figure 16: Survey results demographics by age category

Age: The age categories of respondents is shown in Figure 16. It can be seen that age

group is heavily weighted towards older categories (mean average age of respondents was

63), again likely due to sampling bias, as the time of day at which public engagements took
place (approx. 09:00-12:00 and 13:00 to 16:00) could have excluded those working

(especially on standardised hours). This inherent bias was apparent to the project team prior

to the study, but time constraints were in effect. The inclusion of an online option of filling in

the survey was included as an attempt to address this (giving people passing but in a hurry

for whatever reason the option to complete at a more convenient time), however, as noted,

not many people took up this option.

43



Page 70

Draft Version 4

m Halton Resident Not Halton Resident

Figure 17: Survey results demographics by residence

Residence: Figure 17 shows the proportions of respondents who resided within and outside

of Halton borough. Respondents were asked for their area of residence via which council

area they lived within. By far the majority of respondents (82.9%) were from Halton borough

itself. Of the seven people from outside the area, they were mainly still local (two each from

Warrington and Cheshire West, and one each from Knowsley and St Helens), with one

individual residing outside the UK visiting family.

Survey Results

After demographics, the survey consisted of questions concerning:

preferred location of care (if you were / are over 65 years of age and in need of care
services), and whether that choice in based upon yourself or with someone else in
mind

the factors that would influence choice of care location

sources of information utilised to learn about care options

whether Covid-19 had an impact on choice of preferred care location and type
opinions

levels of awareness regarding a range of care providers and types

a chance to share any other thoughts about care services in Halton itself, or in

general

44



Page 71

Draft Version 4

Preferred location of care (for self or with others in mind)

0 5 10 15 20 25 30 35

A residential home 0.0%

A nursing home 2.4%

Sheltered accomodation / assisted living . 7.3%

Retirement village - 14.6%

Other = 0.0%

Figure 18: “If you are/were aged 65 years and over and needed care, where would be
your preferred location of care?”

Figure 18 shows responses for preferred location of care. Own home was by far the
preferred location selected in which to receive care (75.6% of respondents). There was
some interest in retirement villages and sheltered accommodation, but residential homes

and nursing homes proved very unpopular with respondents to this survey.

0 5 10 15 20 25 30

Prefer not to say . 4.9%

Other = 0.0%

Figure 19: “Is your choice based on you or somebody you know providing or
accessing the care?”

45



Page 72

Draft Version 4

Figure 19 shows how the majority of respondents were making their choice regarding
themselves (61%). “Someone | know” included grandparents, great-grandparents, parents,
spouses, siblings, uncles/aunts, in-laws and friends. When elaborating on their choice, most
responses were negatively linked to care homes, though there was also some positive notes

regarding care staff). Others were linked to the desire to maintain independence:

o “I've witnessed care outside the home and it was appalling”

o “My experience of residential and nursing homes has always negative and they
would always be a very last resort for either myself or an elderly family member”

o “Would like to remain independent as long as possible”

¢ “The want for independence!”

One respondent compared the experience of two relatives, one receiving home care viewed

positively:

o “Having family around her and being in familiar surroundings made her feel more

comfortable”

And one receiving care home care having a more negative experience:

o “Whilst the staff in the care home were great, [relative] would miss home and would
fret whenever we left her. She wouldn't understand why she was sharing a house

with so many other people”

46



Page 73

Draft Version 4

Factors that would influence choice of care location

10 15 20 25 30 35 40

o
]

Cost 70.3%

51.2%

Easy access to services

Near family / friends 85.4%

Near to social / leisure activities 39.0%

46.3%

Easy access to transport

Other 2.4%

Figure 20: “What would determine where you accessed care from?”

Respondents were given a list of possible factors determining their care access choices, and
able to give multiple answers. As can be seen in Figure 20, while cost was an important
consideration when determining care access (70.3% of respondents selecting this option), it
was remaining near family and friends which was seen as most important (85.4%). The
‘other’ option selected by one respondent identified a good point; that their choice of care

location would be determined by their health over time / the amount of care they required.

47



Page 74

Draft Version 4

Sources of information utilised to learn about care options

o
(6]

10 15 20 25 30

The internet

63.4%

Social media (e.g., Facebook) 17.1%

GP

61.0%

GP Practice Nurse

36.6%

Charity (e.g., Age UK)

43.9%

Hospital 29.3%

Family and Friends 58.5%

Dentist

2.4%

Council

34.1%

Local Press 9.8%

Word of Mouth 46.3%

Other 2.4%

Figure 21: “Where would you seek information about available care?”

Respondents were given a choice from a list of potential sources of information, and able to
give multiple answers. Responses showed a whole variety of options being chosen for
information-seeking sources regarding care, as can be seen in Figure 21. The internet
(63.4%), GP’s (61.0%) and family and friends (58.5%) proved the most popular three
sources of information. The Council was also identified as an information source by over a
third of respondents (34.1%). Social media was identified by only 17.1% of respondents,
which may be linked to the survey sample population being skewed to older age groups. The
individual who filled out “other” referred to seeking information from social workers. The
variety of sources identified suggests that publicity strategies for information regarding care
need make use of a multitude of source types. Also, the fact that even the highest ranked
source (internet) was still only used by less than a third of individuals suggests that there is

no ‘one stop shop’ from which people feel they can access all the information they need.

48



Page 75

Draft Version 4

This suggests that the provision of a resource giving a consolidation of information regarding

care services and support could be useful.

Impact of Covid-19 on opinions of care services

yes ®no

Figure 22: “Has COVID-19 affected your opinion of choice of care services?”

The majority of respondents noted that Covid-19 had not affected their opinions on care
services (80.5%), as illustrated in Figure 22. When asked to expand on their decisions,
respondents in this group noted that Covid-19 was just another illness to manage, and a fact

of life:

o “Whilst the initial virus was detrimental to health, the virus is now part and parcel of
everyday life / health.”

¢ ‘It has been the same for years even before Covid 19”

However, of the 19.5% who said their opinions had been affected by Covid-19, respondents
noted specific reasons linked to the stories about struggles faced by care homes during the

pandemic:

e “Covid caused a collapse in social care. People discharged from hospitals to
intermediate care services then forgotten about.”
o “Slightly, it was scary to see older people not being able to see family during Covid.”

e “The isolation of care homes during Covid made me feel | wouldn't want to go!”

49



Page 76

Draft Version 4

e “Shortage of staff and medical services that was provided to care homes during
Covid-19 - should have been prioritised like they did with the NHS.”

Levels of awareness regarding a range of care providers and types

o
(€]

10 15 20 25 30 35 40

Acute Services 22.0%

Community Hospitals 36.6%

Rehabilitation Centres 75.6%

Day Centres 82.9%

Hospices 90.2%

Companion Care Services 36.8%

Shared Care 22.0%

Shared Lives 17.1%

Domiciliary Care 58.5%

51.2%

Support Services

Home care with Gadgets 46.3%

Living-in Care 51.2%

78.0%

Respite Care

Residential Home Care 80.5%

Nursing Home Care 70.7%

Hospital at Home 31.7%

Figure 23: Have you heard of any of the following services?

50



Page 77

Draft Version 4

Respondents were given a list of care related services and providers to choose from, and
able to give multiple answers. Figure 23 shows the choices of respondents, most of whom
had heard of such services as Hospices (90.2%), Day Centres (82.9%), Residential Homes
(80.5%), Respite Care (78.0%), Rehabilitation Centres (75.6%) and Nursing Homes (70.7%).
It should be noted, if people failed to fill out the question, this will affect the exact
percentages, but the chart in Figure 23 still illustrates some of the better known services,
compared with services that are not known as well (e.g., the Shared Lives scheme on
17.1%). This is no judgement on the quality of these services, just the public awareness of
them, showing some may need more effective marketing or publicity. The low recognition of
acute services (22.0%) could be linked by the choice of terminology by the project team (i.e.,
it is possible that if terms such as “NHS hospital services” or “Medical Care” had been used,

more respondents would have shown awareness).

Thoughts about care services in Halton and beyond

Responses to this open box question will be examined using the global themes identified in

Figure 12 (page 35).

Communication and Information

The survey reiterated the findings of the other public engagement activities, with some

respondents feeling there was a dearth of information regarding care services and support.

¢ ‘I don't think there is enough information for Halton area for social care.”

o “Too many people are isolated as they get older. Support not promoted enough”

Public Image and Perspectives of Care

As reflected in the low numbers of people selecting care homes (both residential and
nursing) earlier in the survey, when elaborating, respondents indicated a low / fearful opinion

of care homes.

e ‘| prefer to be at home. Don't like nursing homes”

o “Would always like to care myself if | could not heard good things about care homes.

There was a feeling that local services were lacking, and needed to be improved. There was

also evidence for a feeling that care had deteriorated in quality over the years.

e “Halton need to improve all aspect of care.”

51



Page 78

Draft Version 4

e “There are not a lot of available beds in the local area. Need to fight to get near
family.”

o “The change in today's standards from my parents experienced in their old age”

As noted in the other public engagement activities, there were also those who admitted to
not thinking about care up to that point, showing again that planning for care is not currently

a normalised behaviour, until a crisis point is reached.

o “Not thought about it yet.”

o ‘I haven't had any experience of any type of local care so don't think | can comment.”

Places and Types of Care Services

While one’s own home was identified as the preferred location in which to receive care, there
was also a stress placed on the importance of the local area / community, and the desire to
maintain the social connections of family, friends and neighbourhoods. This was seen as of

paramount importance by many respondents.

e “There are not a lot of available beds in the local area. Need to fight to get near
family.”

e ‘It needs to be more local”

e “Not a lot of choice of care homes in the local area, some are too far to travel to.”

e “ think that proximity of care to someone's home and extended family is a key factor”

o “Domiciliary care is the perfect location / distance!”

Funding

Respondents indicated appreciation of the difficulties regarding funding for care services.
Some also showed awareness of and support for Halton council’s strategy of bringing care
home services back in house. The survey did not ask outright what the opinions of people
were regarding this strategy; it could be of use for the council to more explicitly explore these

public views regarding who should be providing care.

e “Care under-funded and not priority for central Govt. Local Govt under pressure to
help fund care. Some care homes which were private in Halton rescinded ownership
therefore putting even more pressure on L Govt / HBC to fund & provide adequate
care.”

e “More home carers & care homes put back into council control rather than run by

private companies that are only interested in making a profit.”

52



Page 79

Draft Version 4

Resources and Support

The range in quality of care services and support was identified. Care services / staff in
Halton was viewed positively on average (though facing the same struggles in care as other
locations), while there were concerns for relatives sent away to care outside of the local
area. Variations based on residential area type (rural / urban divide) was also identified
(though the majority of the population of Halton can be found in its large towns, the
experiences with care services of those living in its more rural areas would also be

interesting to explore).

e “There are variations in different care homes around. Had a brother in one care home
that provided good care and was moved to another outside the area where services
were poor. It had shortage of staff.”

o “Care is usually miles away if you live rurally, and standards vary from very good to

poor”

Some respondents did appreciate the choice available for services offering support in the

home, while others noted improvements were still needed.

o “There are a lot of companies that offer home care too so I do feel like there are a lot
of options available for people.”
o “Improved domiciliary care needed and supported accommodation with carers on site

and warden support.”

Impact and Outcome of Care

The fear of becoming a burden was raised, as it was in other of the public engagement
activities, along with a desire to maintain ‘independence’ for as long as possible, the
importance of being treated with ‘dignity’, and being provided with the appropriate support to

achieve these.

o ‘I would hate to be a burden to my children but they would be the first place | would
look.”

o “We all deserve good care as we get older, and personally respect & dignity”

o  “People should be supported to live at home with support, equipment and

adaptations until it is no longer feasible or safe for them to live alone.”

53



4.4. Synthesis of findings

Page 80

Draft Version 4

Table 9 shows a summary of all of the public engagement activities combined. In total, there

were 451 ‘engagements’ with the activities.

Table 9: Summary of Public Engagement Activities

Date Time | Venue Activity | Activity | Activity | Activity Activity
1 2: 3: 4: 5:
Snap 3 Words | Ideas Scenarios | Survey
Board
28/03/23 | AM Halton Lea 8 20 8 5 N/A
Library
(Pilot)
17/04/23 | AM | Widnes Market | 20 16 15 21 16
PM Widnes Library | 20 20 21 2
18/04/23 | AM Halton Lea 18 15 19 11 9
Library
PM St Luke’s 12 13 21 13 3
Nursing Home
19/04/23 | AM Carer Group 15 15 17 11 10
Meeting
PM Widnes Market | 33 12 9 0 1
Online 2
TOTAL 126 91 110 63 41
Total no. Engagements: 451

A synthesis of the data from the three activities enabled us to map the data to reveal the

crossover of the themes Figure 24.

54




Page 81

Draft Version 4

Activities Emerging Themes

—{  Helpfulness

Communication
and Information

| |Not wanting to think
r ) TPUBIIE THage ana| about it

1: Professional and Perspectives of =
Stakeholder __Care Services | | Personal
Enagement Events Experience of Care

r \ — Political

2: Exploratory Literture
Review

Domiciliary

’ '1 Place and Types | | | Activiies within
of Care Services Care Services

3: Public Engagement

Events . Sharing Memories
Funding | andPlaces

_|Workforce and Skill
Mix

| Resources and | | | Rewards and
Support Recognition

— Equipment

Cost of Care (n=8)

Impact and Outcome
of Care (n=9)

Safety and Quality
(n=5)

Figure 24: Synthesis and mapping of the three activities

Figure 24 highlights how the three activities facilitated the capturing of data in a tripartite
way; stakeholders and partners, the literature and the public. The uniqueness of this
approach was in how the primarily open-ended options of data collection enabled a blend of
positive and negative statements to be captured. The narrative was both personal, anecdotal
and first-hand experiences of professionals and stakeholders of care services and the public

showing that one size does not fit all. Similarly, the approaches demonstrate the importance

55



Page 82

Draft Version 4

of utilization several creative methodologies to engage the participants at varying levels of
time and intensity. The approach facilitated the capturing of narratives that could be traced
across the three activities illuminating priorities for action. For example, the six global

themes and associated sub themes.

4.5 Activity 4 — Sharing and Dissemination

In addition to this report, the service evaluation team is currently writing papers to be
submitted to relevant peer-reviewed journals. Appropriate care conferences will be identified
and, if applications are accepted, presentations will be delivered. There are planned briefing
summaries (in person or via visual presentations such as posters) for some of the public
engagement sites included in the project (i.e., carers group, stakeholders, libraries).
Summaries for online display are also being prepared.

56



Page 83

Draft Version 4

5 Discussion and Recommendations

The discussion is presented in three sections highlighting the emerging theory, notes on

methodology and key themes originating from the service evaluation.

5.1 Emerging theory

The importance of type, location and place of care services was confirmed across all
activities and associated methods. The public participant feedback demonstrated an indirect
appreciation of the Continuum of Care by the fact they were able to articulate some of the
various types, location and places where they would like care to occur. In contrast, the
stakeholders and partners engagement activity generated in-depth, supportive discussions
highlighting an awareness and understandings of the Continuum of Care and Care Spectra
endorsing the emerging theoretical framework (refer to Appendix 1 for more details). They
found the visualization and presentation of the Continuum of Care and Care Spectra to be
interesting concepts that merit further development.

The theory regarding the Continuum of Care was reflected in the variety of responses to the
preferred location of care. While participants in the public engagement events
overwhelmingly preferred care to take place at home, there was variety in this selection as
some favoured family/friends support, some emphasised the importance of technological
types of support and others preferred external independent care support e.g. home help,
domiciliary care. Also, whilst the least preferred option was nursing home type settings, the
participants stressed the importance of local geography and accessibility with care remaining
embedded in the community, thus if care homes (residential and nursing) were confirmed to

remain within the local area, this could become a more appealing option.

Some participants indicated types of help and support which indirectly related to the Care

Spectra emerging theory including:

o Technology Spectrum in references to stair lifts, smart watches, personal alarms,
mobility aids
e Care Provider Spectrum such as, domiciliary care, home help, meals on wheels,

e Risk and Safety Spectrum like safeguarding issues

The professional and stakeholder meetings helped the team to identify a new spectrum
framed around legal issues which was reaffirmed by the public engagement responses e.g.
enduring power of attorney, wills, issues with service contracts (i.e., banks, mobile

companies) and issues with benefits, amongst other legal matters.

57



Page 84

Draft Version 4

These results reinforce the potential significance of the emerging theory regarding the

Continuum of Care and Care Spectra, which warrants further research in this field.

5.2 Notes on Methodology

The co-creation process has proved its importance and utility. The nature of the service
evaluation as an exploratory piece of work means the focus has been on co-ideation (the
first of the four-stage process of co-creation developed by Pearce et al, 2020). This was
evidenced in the way the professionals and stakeholders feedback led to direct amendments
to the public engagement events, assisted the team with the use of terminology (both in
terms of elaborating on professional terminology and highlighting sensitivities pertaining to
potentially problematic phraseology (i.e. the weight behind nomenclature such as
institutional, formal and informal care), and helped further develop the emerging theory.
There was also support for the innovative approach adopted.

The novel creative methods developed specifically for the service evaluation have also
proven highly successful with both support from the professionals and positive feedback
from the public participants. The creative methods facilitated the collection of a wide ranging
and diverse set of data primarily due to the engaging and stimulating nature of the
methodology. The success of this approach has inspired the team to repeat these methods

future projects.

5.3 Themes

Based on the synthesis of the three activities it is evident that several universal overarching

key themes have emerged as follows:

e Communication and Information

¢ Public Image and Perspectives of Care
o Places and Types of Care Services

e Funding

e Resources and Support

e Impact and Outcome of Care

The themes will be discussed separately.

58



Page 85

Draft Version 4

5.3.1 Communication and Information

There was variability of awareness about the type, location and place for care and the
associated services available. Both the professionals and public have challenges regarding
the accessibility and availability of information through various mediums. The first port of call
from the public was to access information on the internet. Others sought information from
professionals such as General Practitioner’s (GP), family and friends, word of mouth and
charitable organisations, with the council also recognised as a source of information. While
some of the participants sought information regarding social care from a variety of sources,
others did not know where to go, or who to contact (this could be especially concerning
when many of the participants were older adults). Some information was considered to be
outdated and participants noted struggles to know where to start accessing information

about available services.

5.3.2 Public Image and Perspectives of Care

Residential and care home were the less preferred option for care. There exist fears of care
homes, alongside a recognition that information about choices is absent. Most participants
noted COVID-19 would not influence their decisions regarding care, but those who did
expressed fears based on problems experienced by care homes during the pandemic.
There was an apparent lack of trust in official lines of social services. People would turn to
family first, but do not want to and fear becoming a ‘burden’. Living at home gives older
people comfort they will be cared for; but there is also acknowledgement of feeling
depressed, anxious and worried about the children’s future and their own commitments
(Smith-Carrier et al 2016). Overall, it was clear people do not want to think about ‘aging and
getting old’ and make advance preparation of the type and LOC they would prefer when the
time comes. Stigma has also been highlighted as one reason for people not wanting to talk
and plan for getting old due to unappealing aesthetic (e.g. grab bars, accessibility devices)
proactively implementing home modifications to reduce the risk of accidents and support
extended living at home (Shaw et al 2018). The participants responses to the three words
creative engagement method seem to be highly positive with the terms, ‘love’ care’ and
‘caring’ most recurring. Such response may have perhaps be reflective of the cultural
markers' residual following the COVID-19 pandemic. Seeing the image of an individual with
a mask, socially distancing seems to have highlighted these markers which continue to

evoke deep emotive feelings.

59



Page 86

Draft Version 4

5.3.3 Places and Types of Care Services

Most participants opted to be cared for at home or at home with support. Those below the
age of 55 years were more receptive to the idea of sheltered and retirement village types of
accommodation. Overall, most of the reviewed literature identified ‘home’ as the favoured
location of care (Shaw et al 2018; Bolan et al 2017; Smith-Carrier et al 2017; Beswick et al
2010). Although, aging in place highlights the socioemotional components that act as
barriers to remaining in the home, it often neglects actionable safety features of the home
which may also pose a threat (Brim et al 2021). Healthy Ageing reflects the ongoing
interaction between individuals and the environments they inhabit; the interaction of which
results in trajectories of both intrinsic capacity and functional ability (WHO 2015). These
include categories of home mobility and safety, personal health, access to community
services, home improvement and maintenance needs, general safety concerns, and
bathroom safety (Brim et al 2021). Specific groups may not be using the services and may
face difficulties because they are unaware of the depth and breadth of care services
available to them. Losses in physical function and ability of a person to care for themselves
lead to reduced social engagement, and that this in turn accelerates functional decline
(Beswick et al 2010. These factors could increase isolation and enhance decline. When
viewing the three words images (see Figure 7, image ‘3D’), some respondents identified the
care home as a hospital setting, thus leading to associations with ill-health and sickness,
with related emotions attached (i.e., medicalising care homes). In addition to the preference
for ‘home’, there was also an emphasis on the importance of community, stressing the
importance of local facilities for care, the desire to have family and friends nearby, and the
benefits of maintaining community links, especially when care in the home is no longer an

option.

5.3.4 Funding

When deciding on care, the most important consideration was being able to remain near
family and friends — cost was secondary to this. As noted, local services and resources and
keeping loved ones requiring care nearby were very important to participants. The ability to
make the best choices at different stages in life is influenced by a range of environmental
and personal resources such as financial security and social connection (WHO 2015). Being
aware of such influences with an individual requiring care could facilitate assignment of
appropriate location of care. Participants were generally positive both as regards care
workers (though this was noted as variable, with good and bad examples provided by some),

and the work of the local council, with an appreciation of funding pressures faced by both.

60



Page 87

Draft Version 4

5.3.5 Resources and Support

When developing services for older people requiring care it is of great importance to
consider the services that reinforce recovery, adaptation and psychosocial growth (WHO
2015). Such services could enhance function and independence, and, or support when
required. Public services and facilities could be considered an essential place to the public
for connecting, accessing information, advice, social gatherings and sign posting to other
essential services. These may include legal services and arranging financial matters (e.g.
ensuing powers of attorney, will-writing, care finances) which were identified as an area
requiring support. It is apparent from across the different public engagement activity findings
that many people are unaware of the resources and support available to them.

5.3.6 Impact and Outcome of Care

The holistic care journey approach through integration of care services across the public,
voluntary and private sectors could facilitate the healthy ageing, including in those fully
dependent on others. Moreover, people who are very dependent on others for daily living
can age successfully in terms of autonomy and wellbeing (Beswick et al 2010). Therefore,
interdisciplinary and inter-sectoral approach is essential in the allocation of appropriate care
to all the population with variant needs. Furthermore, assessment of such care would be
appropriately identified through thorough and continuous assessment of care needs, with

collaboration across different services.

61



Page 88

Draft Version 4

5.4 Recommendations

The recommendations are presented under the headings of ‘Project Recommendations’
(potential further work to expand the project) and ‘Service Recommendations’ (advice for
service providers based on the project findings).

5.4.1 Project Recommendations

It would be useful to repeat the public engagement events developed during this project
targeting young adults, and individuals with long term conditions, co-morbidities and people
living with different types of disabilities (physical, mental health, learning disability etc.).
People with greatest heath care need at any time may at any time may also be those with
the fewest resources to address it (WHO 2015). Interventions need to be crafted in ways that
overcome, rather than reinforce, these inequities (WHO 2015). The initial approach could be
performing resources and assets assessment (e.g., asset and resource audit) at grass roots
level and revisiting current services. Such an approach could highlight current successes
and areas in need of further development. A follow-up through interdisciplinary and inter-
sectoral research could enhance understanding of the needs of such members of the
population around care services and ageing in place (Shaw et al 2018; WHO 2015). Such
evidence would support planning and early action, laying the groundwork for people and the
services they require to safely remain in their homes as changes in their capability occur
(Shaw et al 2018). It would be beneficial to find more participants from all ages, to enhance
the quantitative components of the method (e.g. word counts, word clouds). It could also be
helpful to expand the project into a greater range of residence area types, i.e., the data
gathering was concentrated in the two biggest urban centres of the borough, and a look at

more rural areas could be of interest so they are not ‘left behind’.

As the creative methods used in this project were novel, there were a number of potential
amendments the team identified which could be carried forward to future work. The choice of
pictures in ‘public engagement activity 2: three words’ could have been influenced by the
type and style of picture. If repeating, the team would seek to use photographs / images that
are targeted to specific questions that are under review, and that are natural / neutral to
avoid unintentionally influencing people. Research materials could also be adapted for all
types of participants e.g. accessibility for vision impaired, potentially larger print
materials/images and some audio recorded descriptions of the various methods, use of easy
read / ‘Makaton’ materials. Greater emphasis could also be given to fully explaining what
people need to do more with each creative method (e.g., making the method more explicit in

what to do and how it works, for example, in the ‘three words’ activity, some individuals

62



Page 89

Draft Version 4

provided statements like ‘I love you’ and ‘enjoy the outside’, rather than giving three separate
words). There could also be scope to increase the digital options for data collection. There
was low take up of these options here (i.e., digital returns of survey), however, successfully
utilising digital means could open data collection to a wider sample population, with the
digitisation of other methods beyond just the survey, e.g., development of a digital ideas

board to capture real-time feedback. Having an innovative approach is key.

5.4.2 Service Recommendations
Service recommendations based on the findings of this project are presented in Table 10,
each categorised by the team as to their perceived priority level and required timescales.

63



Table 10: Service Recommendations by priority and timescale

Draft Version 4

Higher Priority

Medium Priority

Lower Priority

Short Term

Medium Term

Long Term

Explore existing localised care based options

within communities

Consolidating a public care communication and

awareness strategy

Review domiciliary care services

Engage with diverse, hard to reach, groups about views of
care and services (e.g. chronic illness, disabilities, life

limiting etc...)

Invite new and diverse members
onto the Research and Practice
Development Care Partnership

Undertake a resources and assets audit

Create ways of engaging the public to enhance

trust, confidence, in care services

Enhance the accessibility and clarity of available

resources for care planning

Create accessible free community-based space for

connecting

Facilitating and connecting care services (health, social,
allied)

Explore the possibility of merging existing assessment

methods into a single holistic individualised framework

Having adequate ongoing care education and training
standards and competencies for all staff

Consider a public awareness
campaign regarding healthy ageing,
planning for ageing well and
celebrating ageing

Designing innovative and creative ways for the

provision of localised care

Maintain proactiveness with partners enhancing services,

resources and assets

Emphasising care that is individualised, targeted, flexible
and adaptable

Review existing workforce, skill mix and employment

conditions to ensure safe, quality care services

Engaging with younger age groups
to gather opinions on care and

services

64

06 abed



Page 91

Draft Version 4

The key themes provide a road map informing priorities for care services. The responses
highlighted the importance of engaging with all sectors of the public when focusing on
changing or designing new services. It would be beneficial that more of the stakeholders and
partners involved in this project be invited onto the care partnership (Research and Practice
Development Care Partnership). Furthermore, it is important to widen the stakeholder and
partnerships to elicit the voices of allied professionals and organisations (e.g., housing,
urban planning, cultural services). Interdisciplinary and inter-sectoral collaboration and
creation of an advisory committee could enhance easy access to mainstream specialised
knowledge, contacts and services and build awareness of how to prepare to age in place
(Shaw et al 2018). Moreover, it is essential to keep the proactiveness around stakeholders
and partners to enhance and maintain excellent services through engaging with resources

and assets.

Localised care based within communities was of paramount importance to participants in the
public engagement activities (not being sent to large care homes at a distance from families,
friends and communities). Given the growing number of older adults who face health decline
and who wish to remain at home instead of moving to long-term care facilities, there is an
urgent need to assist this population in preparing to live longer at home (Shaw et al 2018).
Developing a strategy of a diverse set of mechanisms for sharing and communicating
information about care services is of great importance. When devising information sharing
strategies, a range of sources should be utilised. It is also important to develop awareness
raising programmes for the public to improve communication and provide information which
is easily accessible and understandable about the various types, locations and places of
care services. This could include creation of accessible free community-based space for
people to identify and connect, for the sharing and finding of information, for socialising and
feeling included. There is also some evidence for a lack of trust in formal services associated
with care, so building ways of engaging the public to enhance trust and confidence in care
services is imperative. Strategies for information sharing should also help to encourage
people to think about their own future care needs (and from earlier ages), and should assist
in normalising thinking about and discussing care. When the need for care is identified by
allied care services, it should be followed with multidimensional assessment at intake,
enhancing effective creation of care plans targeted at appropriate management of health
and social care of older adults requiring care (Smith-Carrier et al 2016). Facilitating and
connecting the services to ensure a shared comprehensive holistic assessment of an
individual's health and care needs and requirements will allow interventions to become more

individualised and targeted.

65



Page 92

Draft Version 4
5.5 Fulfilment of Aims and Objectives

Tables 11 and 12 illustrate how the service evaluation project has met its aims and

objectives.

Table 11: Fulfilments of Aims

Aim Achieved —
Yes/No

Using a co-creation approach, this service evaluation aimed to discover the current | Yes
situation and most pressing issues affecting location and types of care services (the
Continuum of Care) as determined by the public and professionals using Halton as

a case study.

Shaping our understanding going forward, by gaining real world insight into the | Yes
Continuum of Care, we can begin to explore wider issues and concepts, such as the
impact of location and type of care services on the health and wellbeing of older

people.

Table 12: Fulfilment of Objectives

Objective Achieved —
Yes/No

1: Use the existing Research and Practice Development Care Partnership to | Yes
facilitate engagement with stakeholders and experts in older people services to
identify the opportunities and challenges resulting from the Continuum of Care.

[Professionals]

2: Undertake an exploratory review of the literature to explore the context of the | Yes
Continuum of Care and identify how different types and location of care services
influence outcomes such as benefits, harm, and costs as regard older people's

quality of life.

3: To apply a qualitative co-created methodology to explore public perceptions and | Yes

awareness of the Continuum of Care concerning older people. [Public]

4: Devise a sharing and dissemination strategy to inform and enhance professional, | Ongoing (at
clinical practice, educational and research priorities, activities for our community and | time of

beyond. writing)

66



Page 93

Draft Version 4

5.6 Limitations

Population - Sample size small numbers of public, sample demographics, weighted
towards older adults, female.

Locations — enhance the breadth and depth of places to engage with the public.
Creative Methodology — Adjustment's and amendments e.g., address potential bias
in list of care location provided (could be read as ranking) influencing choices. Could
include a description of place and mixing these choices. Adapting the ideas board to
focus on what you are requiring information about. Having an awareness that put the
ideas on the board may influence other participant’s contributions. Some sensitivities
may emerge around the topics of the case scenarios that may need to be addressed
appropriately.

Having greater clarity and instructions in place to allow the activities to run smoothly
and with enhanced autonomy, access to technologies to aid completion of online
methods in person.

Loss of capturing the anecdotal discussions and conversations, having an additional

project team member to note these comments may be useful.

6 Conclusion

Co-creation and creative methodologies have proved useful tools in evaluating awareness of

care services available to older people, by both the public and professionals. A synthesis of

the data from the three activities has highlighted a number of key themes:

Communication and Information

Public Image and Perspectives of Care
Places and Types of Care Services
Funding

Resources and Support

Impact and Outcome of Care

The findings highlight the importance of location in terms of both the home (care provided at

home) and the community (care services embedded in communities allowing closeness to

family and friends, ease of access to services and local amenities e.g. GP, Library services,

opportunities for connecting with people to avoid social isolation). The feedback regarding

Halton Borough Council’s drive to reform the care services was overwhelmingly positive and

the data allowed the development of some recommendations to continue this important

work.

67



Page 94

Draft Version 4

7 Acknowledgements

The service evaluation team would like to thank the University of Chester and Halton
Borough Council for the funding to undertake the service evaluation project. We would also
like to say thank you for having the confidence and insightfulness to commission the project
during a difficult and challenging time for social care and society. We would like to thank and
acknowledge Dr. Jan Blain (University of Chester), Dean Stevens (University of Chester)
and Jacob Barnard (Halton Borough Council) for their assistance with data collection. We
would like to thank all participants and organisations for their contributions throughout the
four activities and duration of the project period. We would also like to thank the University of
Chester, Faculty of Health and Social Care Research Ethics Committee for reviewing our
application and approval as a service evaluation project. Finally, we would like to thank the
care workers who again found the time and resource to participate in the project that will
contribute to improving the care sector in the future.

8 References

Bellingham-Young, D (2015) Developing a basic principles model to inform threshold

concepts of public health Journal of Health and Social Care Improvement. April 2015, 1-4.

Beswick, A.D., Gooberman-Hill, R., Smith, A., Wylde, V. and Ebrahim, S., (2010).
Maintaining independence in older people. Reviews in Clinical Gerontology, 20(2), pp.128-
153.

Brim, B., Fromhold, S. and Blaney, S., (2021). Older adults’ self-reported barriers to aging in
place. Journal of Applied Gerontology, 40(12), pp.1678-86.

Boland, L., Légaré, F., Perez, M.M.B., Menear, M., Garvelink, M.M., Mclsaac, D.I.,
Painchaud Guérard, G., Emond, J., Briére, N. and Stacey, D., (2017). Impact of home care
versus alternative locations of care on elder health outcomes: an overview of systematic

reviews. BioMedCentral Geriatrics, 17(1), pp.1-15.

Burnard, P. (1991). A method of analysing interview transcripts in qualitative research. Nurse
Education Today, 11(6), 461-466.

Clouder, L (2005) Caring as a ‘threshold concept’: transforming students in higher education

into health (care) professionals Teaching in Higher Education 10, 4, 505-517.

Casey, B.; Proudfoot, D.; Corbally, M. (2016) Narrative in Nursing Research: An Overview of
Three Approaches. J. Adv. Nurs. 72, 1203-1215.

68



Page 95

Draft Version 4

Cousin, G (2006) An Introduction to threshold concepts, Planet 17, 4-5.

Frontier (2022) What is Co-Creation? Amsterdam [Available on:

https://www.fronteer.com/what-is-co-creation [Accessed 06/12/2022]

Innovate United Kingdom (2018) Evaluation Framework: How we assess our impact on

business and the economy Innovate UK (United Kingdom), Swindon.

McSherry, R., Timmins, F., de Vries, J. M. A., & McSherry, W. (2018). A reflective qualitative
appreciative inquiry approach to restoring compassionate care deficits at one United
Kingdom health care site. Journal of Nursing Management, 26(8), 1108-1123.

Meyer, H.F.J., Land, R (2003) Threshold Concepts and Troublesome Knowledge: linkages
to ways of thinking and practising within the disciplines in Improving Student Learning — Ten
Years On. OCSLD, Oxford.

Pearce T, Maple M, Shakeshaft A, Wayland S, McKay K. What Is the Co-Creation of New
Knowledge? A Content Analysis and Proposed Definition for Health Interventions. Int J
Environ Res Public Health. 2020 Mar 26;17(7):2229. doi: 10.3390/ijerph17072229. PMID:
32224998; PMCID: PMC7177645.

Shaw, L., Moody, E., Swan, R., MacDonald, |. & Donovan, S. (2018). Living safely at home
begins with a plan! Occupational Therapy Now, vol. 20, no. 2, pp. 20-1.

Smith-Carrier, T., Sinha, S.K., Nowaczynski, M., Akhtar, S., Seddon, G. and Pham, T.N.,
(2017). It ‘makes you feel more like a person than a patient’: patients’ experiences receiving
home-based primary care (HBPC) in Ontario, Canada. Health & Social Care in the
Community, 25(2), pp.723-33.

Social Care Institute for Excellence (2022) Co-production: what it is and how to do it London,
SCIE Available on: hitps://www.scie.org.uk/co-production/what-how [Accessed 06/12/2022]

Weil, J., Smith, E (2016) Revaluating aging in place: from traditional definitions to the
continuum of care Working with Older People 20, 2, 223-230.

World Health Organization (2015). World report on ageing and health. World Health
Organization. [Accessed 23/10/2022]

69


https://www.fronteer.com/what-is-co-creation
https://www.scie.org.uk/co-production/what-how

Page 96

APPENDICIES



Page 97

Draft Version 4

Appendix 1: The Continuum of Care and Care Spectra: The Emerging
Theory and Framework

The ‘Continuum of Care’ is an emerging concept being developed as part of this service

evaluation project.

The term has previously been used by Weil and Smith (2016) to move beyond a binary in
care home choice, i.e., domiciliary care vs care homes, and instead consider the wide range

of concepts in between (see figure below).

Dependent A - Independent

i

s 3 (| 1 N
4 AN Eﬁéﬁ"'f N,
/ \\:\ &{‘p# N

e, Pl
M

& LOCATION OF CARE #-“F‘]ﬂ‘
S iy MY inayap, [

Enhanced technology

“Aging in place should be moved from the personal “success” or “failure” of an older
individual to include the role of society and societal views and policies in facilitating or

hindering aging in place options.” (Weil and Smith, 2016)

We are proposing a further development and widening of this concept, with “The Continuum
of Care” highlighting and representing an individual’s lifespan from birth to death, with

varying levels of intervention required for retaining independence, health and wellbeing.

71



Page 98

Draft Version 4

We also propose there are a number of “Care Spectra” which are associated with specific
elements relating to maintaining optimum quality of life. For example, the “Technology
Spectrum” is about having minimum or advanced enhanced or assisted technology to keep
someone safe at hospital, home and/or in a care facility. The “Care Provision Spectrum”
focuses on the place where care is provided i.e., facilities and delivery type ranging from
informal to specialist care. The figures below illustrate the Care Spectra concept visually,
with some examples:

Technology Minimal Advanced
Provision Type  Informal Specialist
Risk Low Risk High Risk
Finance Low Cost High Cost
Location Home Residential

Care

Everyone fits somewhere along the spectra. Using an example scenario:

“Priscilla, 85-year-old lady was living in her own home with domiciliary care before a fall
which resulted in a fractured hip. Priscilla had an operation four days ago and has now been
discharged from the medical team who have now referred her to the physiotherapist to

commence her rehabilitation.”

The diagram for ‘Priscilla’ would look something like this:

Technology Minimal | Advanced

Provision Type  Informal Specialist

Care

Risk Low Risk High Risk
Financial Low Cost | High Cost
. Residential
Location Home | esidential

72



Page 99

Draft Version 4

(Low technology required, high levels of specialist care, relatively high risk, low to medium

cost and home/community-based care)

By viewing care through the lens of a continuum, shaped by the spectra, a shift in
perspective can be made, removing care options from binary concepts of home/care home,
low tech/high tech, etc., and consequently away from viewing care choices as forms of

personal success and failure.

73



Page 100

Draft Version 4

Appendix 2: Professional and Stakeholder Invitation Letter

University of ""'-‘r’\“--
o]

HALTON
;\C he Ste r BOROUGH COUNCIL

Dear Sir/Madam,

We are contacting you regarding a project we are undertaking into ‘exploring professional
awareness of location and types of care services available to older people’. The project
is jointly funded by the Research and Innovation Office (RIO) of the University of Chester and
Halton Borough Council; and is being supported by the Research and Knowledge Exchange
Institutes (RKEIs) at the University of Chester.

Using a co-creation approach, the project aims to discover the current situation and most
pressing issues affecting location and types of care services as determined by professionals
and later the public, using Halton as a case study.

We will be holding a listening and learning event to gather “stakeholder perceptions of the
effect of location and type of care services on older people”. This event will comprise of a
choice of one of two sessions: either face-to-face or online. Both will involve fact-finding
consultation with professionals and stakeholders where a brief outline of the service evaluation

framework will be presented followed with a series of questions.

As a person with interest and/or experience in older people’s services or working in the field
we would be very grateful if you would be willing to attend or nominate a representative to
attend either a face-to-face session on 21 March 2023 from 10:30 to 12MD or 13:00 to 14:30
at the Civic Suite, Runcorn Town Hall, Heath Road, WA7 5TD. There will also be option of
online sessions via Microsoft TEAMS on 24 March 2023 from 9am to 10:30am or 13:30 to

15:00. Please specify whether you would prefer to attend the face-to-face or online session,

and the time by emailing the project team (r.crompton@chester.ac.uk). The sessions should

last no longer than 90 minutes.

74


mailto:r.crompton@chester.ac.uk

Page 101

Draft Version 4

We hope that the project and the proposed process is essential in shaping greater
understanding of current old age services and will enable the development of new approaches.
Please feel free to consider helping to further promote participation in the project by inviting

other eligible individuals to the session(s), by forwarding this email to them.

The project team comprises:

Professor Robert McSherry (Principal Investigator), email: r.mcsherry@chester.ac.uk

Rhian Crompton (Research Assistant), email: r.crompton@chester.ac.uk

Nellie Makhumula-Nkhoma (Research Assistant), email:

n.makhumulankhoma@chester.ac.uk

If you have any queries or would like any further information about the project, in the first

instance please contact Rhian Crompton via email.

We would be most grateful if you would let us know if you are interested in participating in the
project.

Yours sincerely,

Professor Rob McSherry
Centre for Ageing and Mental Health

University of Chester

75


mailto:r.mcsherry@chester.ac.uk
mailto:r.crompton@chester.ac.uk
mailto:n.makhumulankhoma@chester.ac.uk

Page 102

Draft Version 4

Appendix 3: Professional and Stakeholder Participant Information
Sheet

University of

.Chester

Participant Information Sheet (PIS)

Stakeholder perceptions of the effect of home care and nursing home care services
on the health and wellbeing of older people: a care sector listening and learning event

You are being invited to take part in a stakeholder fact finding event. Before you decide, it is
important for you to understand what the event is for and what it will involve. Please take time
to read the following information carefully and discuss it with others if you wish. Ask us if there
is anything which is not clear or if you would like more information. Take time to decide whether
or not you wish to take part.

What is the purpose of the project?

The COVID-19 pandemic has exposed some of the best areas of care and practice in the
caring sectors along with its deficits. It has reiterated some fundamental questions surrounding
the provision of home care (domiciliary care) and nursing home care services and their impact
on an older individual’'s quality of life and health and wellbeing. Anecdotal evidence seems to
suggest that an individual is better placed in their own home as opposed to a nursing care
home. However, there is limited evidence to corroborate these claims.

Staff from the Centre for Ageing and Mental Health (University of Chester) have organised
this event with the intention of opening a dialogue between staff specialising in older peoples
services across a diverse range of organisations and stakeholders.

Why have | been chosen?
You have been chosen because you have specialist knowledge and experience regarding
older people’s services in Halton and/or its surrounding area.

Do | have to take part?
It is up to you to decide whether or not to take part. If you decide to attend, you are free to
leave at any time during the event.

What will happen to me if | take part?

If you decide to take part you will be sent details of the event including its schedule, and some
points to think on ahead of time. As we want to give the opportunity for as many people as
possible to attend, we will be running two parallel events; one in person, and one online. Both
events will follow the same structure, and you only need to attend one.

In Person:

76



Page 103

Draft Version 4

If you choose to attend in person, you will be emailed event details, including travel advice
about getting to the venue.

Online:

If you choose to attend the online event, you will be sent an invite through Microsoft Teams,
will a link to follow at the beginning of the event. You do not have to be registered with Microsoft
Teams in order to attend (attendance will be as a ‘guest’). You will need internet access and
a computer equipped with internal or external microphone, camera and speakers. If you would
like to take part online but have any issues or queries regarding equipment, please contact
staff at the Centre for Ageing and Mental Health (see ‘further information’ section of this form
for contact details).

What are the possible disadvantages and risks of taking part?
There are no anticipated disadvantages or risks foreseen in taking part in the event.

What are the possible benefits of taking part?

By taking part, you will be contributing to the development and co-ideation of both this project
and potential future research directions in collaboration with researchers based at the Centre
for Ageing and Mental Health, University of Chester. You will have the opportunity to contribute
your opinions and raise issues regarding social care provisions for older people. There will
also be the chance to network with other professionals and stakeholders across older peoples
services in Halton and its surrounding areas.

What if something goes wrong?

If you wish to complain or have any concerns about any aspect of the way you have been
approached or treated during the course of this project, please contact: Professor Angela
Simpson, Executive Dean, Faculty of Health and Social Care, University of Chester, Riverside
Campus, Castle Drive, Chester, Cheshire, CH1 1SL. Tel: 01244 513380. Email:
angela.simpson@chester.ac.uk

The University does not accept responsibility for any harm experienced apart from that which
is proven to have been caused through its negligence. In the unlikely event that you
experience harm through your participation in the event, and this is due to the negligent
conduct of the university team, then you may have grounds to bring legal action. If you
choose to bring such action, you may incur legal costs.

Will my taking part in the study be kept confidential?
All information will be anonymised and we will not collect any personal information about you
beyond your position/role and organisation.

What will happen to my data?
By agreeing to participate in this event, you are consenting to the retention and publication of
data.

What will happen to the information gathered at the event?

The project team will prepare a draft summary report of event findings. Attendees will be able
to suggest amendments or clarification, following which a final event report will be distributed.
Information may also be published in academic journals and used at conferences. Individuals
who participate will not be identified in any subsequent report or publication.

77


mailto:angela.simpson@chester.ac.uk

Page 104

Draft Version 4

Who is organising and funding the event?

The event is jointly funded by Halton Borough Council and the University of Chester. Staff
from the Centre for Ageing and Mental Health (part of the Faculty of Health and Social Care)
at the University of Chester will be organising the event and analysing its findings.

Who may | contact for further information?
If you would like more information about the event and/or would like to take part, please
contact:

Prof. Rob McSherry r.mcsherry@chester.ac.uk (Principal Investigator)
Rhian Crompton r.crompton@chester.ac.uk
Nellie Makhumula Nkhoma n.makhumulankhoma@chester.ac.uk

Or write to us at:

Centre for Ageing and Mental Health
Faculty of Health and Social Care
University of Chester

B95, Room 106

Thornton Science Park

Pool Lane

Chester

CH2 4NU

Or call us on: 01244 512249

Thank you for your interest in this project.

78


mailto:r.mcsherry@chester.ac.uk
mailto:r.crompton@chester.ac.uk
mailto:n.makhumulankhoma@chester.ac.uk

Page 105

Draft Version 4

Appendix 4: Participant Information Sheet Leaflet (and Poster) for

Public Engagement

"199foad sIY) 1noqe aiow uiea| 0} ayl|
pInom noA J1 wea) Yyo1easal Ino JO aUO Yse ased|d

"glsgem
18188y 1o AIsIiaAiun ay) uo s|gejieAe aq (1M s)nsal 1o Aewwns

v ‘'showAuoue pue ‘Aiejunjoa Aj219|dwod si papircid uonewloul

[|e ‘ureBby ‘sjewnol slwspeae ul uonedlgnd Jo) wes) yasessal ay) Ag
pasn ag os|e AeW UONRWIOLU| "SIap|oyaye]s pue ‘siauped s} ‘[1ounos)
ybnolog uo)jeH Jo} sjdoad Jap|o 1o} uoisirold aied [e120s Jo suoluido
a1gnd noge podal e aiedaid 01 pasn aq |IM pa)28]|02 UONBLLIOIU|

Juoleuioul pajaaljod yim uaddey jjim yeym
‘lenpiaiput Aue Kuapi

0} pasn aq pino? pajaajjo2 bulaq uogeuuol oN ‘(¢ uolsiacid a1ed
[e120s Jo suoiuido 1oale abe saop “6°a) paiayeh suoiuido siedwod o1

sn Mmoj[e 0} SI SIYL "92uspisal Jo Auoyumoyebe|iA pue ‘Jspuab ‘afe —
uoneuwLolul siseq Jo sedald ¢ Buusyed aie am ‘suoluido o) uonippe u

¢.Bu130a|j02 am ale uonewloul Jeyp

‘A1ejunjon Aje1a|dwod sIJUSWSA|OAUl — ||e 1B 10N

Med aye) 0} aAey | og

"UoleLUIoLUl SIOW 10} Wes)] youesssl
ino Jo auo 0] j[e] asea|d ‘snowkuoue si pasayieb uoneuloul
IV “wes) youeasal sy3 Aq pesn bBulaq spinoid nok uoyeuuoyul

fue o) Bupuasuod aie nok ‘ped bunyey Ag ‘sespl pue suoluido

Jayo pue ‘a|doad Jap|o 1o} uoisiroid 21e2 [e120S Jnoge sjybnoy; Jiay)

snool 0] a|doad djay 01 seniaoe Juswabebus Jo Jaguwinu B aAeY apA

¢Hed ayey | op moH
‘lesouab ul YN 8yl ssoloe pue

‘eale ay] Ul s)jnpe 1ap|o Jo} uoisiroid aied [e120s Inoge suoiuido dljgnd
¥88s 0} 1unoD Ybnolog uojieH yim uoneloge]oo Ul Bunom sle ap)

& Bulop am ate Jeypn

1218y Jo ANsIoAlun syl e aien
[B100S pue y)jesH o Ajnded oy) Wolj SIayolessal Jo Wes) & ale ap)

¢&3M 3le oYM
‘ped aye] 0] 81| pINoM NoA I uonewlorul Buimojjol ay) peal ases|d

‘puofaqg pue uo)eH ul sjdoad Jep|o 10} uoisirold a1ed [e120s
1N0gE YUy} hoA 1eym JaAodsip o) Buieas s jusas Juswsbelus syl

iOlIeH

AUy nok op Jeym
:a]doad J8p|O 10} UOISIAOIH aJe?) [e120S

191Say) A1

jo Ajis1aAlun

79



Page 106

Draft Version 4

Appendix 5: Professional and Stakeholder Event PowerPoint
Presentation

Cerne for Ageng and | [ 8 Universicy of } G Usivaraity o
) Menval Heakh | "‘-“L-' = ",L’:.E’IL“.:{.: ; Chhe';tneﬁ
— HALTON

H&"'—TQ.H Faculty of Heah and Sachal Care I Fatuity of Health

Using co-creation to explore publicand
professional awareness of the continuum of
care (location and types of service) available Welcome all

to older pecple. A qualltatlve appmaCh Before we start let's get to know each other

Lead researcher: Prof Rob McSherry

Project Funders:
Halton Borough Council & University of Chester

TIME SCHEDULE }L__
(MINS) HALTON

Bl e

0-5 Welcome and Introductions — Why are we here today?

5-10 Open discussion 1 - In your professional opinion...

Introduction to and definition of co-creation

Open discussion 2 — Concept of co-creation

The Project: Outline and approach

Defining Creative methodologies

10-15

15-25

30-35

35-40

40-50 Open discussion 3 — Ideas on public engagement

50-55 COFFEE BREAK to d a y ?
55-65

65-75

75-80

80-90

Context and Theory: The continuum of care and care spectra

Open discussion 4 — Thoughts on continuum of care

Going forward — Mapping care in Halton

Questions and Closing remarks

_h _h
FALTON FATON

Open discussion 1

In your professional opinion...

* What are the top issues facing social care today? T h e use Of
*  What are the strengths and weaknesses of the social H
care system? co-c re atlon

*  What are the short, medium, and long term
priorities?

80



Page 107

Draft Version 4

} \ Cente fior Ageing and
Metal Health

HALTON

e e ———

- © = o "
! Third sector A Cultural Sector bt
~_organisations artners |

Co-creationiis .... P

...the generation of new knowledge that is derived from . - Co-creation potential .t-f"' TRaith T
- . partners S oreanisations |
the application of rigorous research methods that are
- Ty A
B >l

e

:')—'/{_ Councils -2

0 integrated -
embedded into the delivery of a program or policy (by ¥y ‘(-uia_"ﬁ.t_"_’a_”}f -

. . . e ) ';—s, e
researchers and a range of actors including service Frofeorals P r'nn?:ﬁﬁé' -~ € RHs 3
Fegul E >, o
providers, service users, community organisations and _Esf;d?;:j :('j'cannQGnm o - :.:'s:: ) ) c"‘c;ireée;
o nt e T
policymakers) through four collaborative processes. it -
Fi}f}o“ﬁ . ﬁ}—}a—ﬂ S | AT Chener
e Faculty of Meath and Sachal Care R Facuity of Health and Soca Care.
Co-creation process Open discussion 2
Generating an idea (co-ideation) * Have you heard or used the concept of co-creation in
the past?
Designing the program (co-design)
*  What was the context in which it was applied?
Implementing the program (co-implementation)

+  What other partnership/collaborative methods have

) . . . you used?
Collection, analysis and interpretation of data
(co-evaluation)
'(L__ ——r ; '(L__ Cenre
AAGS e emaireom | 37-Ch s e e

Faculty of Heath and Secial Care Faculty of Heat= and iacisl Care

The Project: Aims

T h e P roj e ct . To provide an initial exploration into the effect of

. . . the continuum of care on the health and wellbeing
Using co-creation to explore public

and professional awareness of the
continuum of care (location and types adopting a co-creation approach.
of service) available to older people

of older peaple using qualitative methods and

o I | Gt ot corresy
HALTON - HALTON
Py of Hestthsed Socs Cae FaculyofHesth and socki Cre
The Project: Public Engagement Sites The Project: Planned Timetable
* Retail (Markets, Shopping centres) * Public Engagement Pilot: 28th March
* Health and Wellbeing (GP practices, Care/Nursing *  Runcorn: 17th — 19th April
Homes) +  Widnes: 8th — 10th May
* Cultural (Libraries, Leisure Centres, Theatres) «  Data Analysis: Late May — Early July
* Findings Dissemination: July

81



Page 108

Draft Version 4

nbvarsity of

Cantre for Againg an

E“KEE\,C}E Centae for Ageing Eﬂ@éﬁ Hental Healt Chester
Eacuity of Heaith and Socal Care Facuity of Health s~d Sacis Care
Creative methods ...
c re at ive ...are qualitative methods that use visual
(photo-elicitation) and narrative (storytelling)
-
M et h 0 d 0 I og l e S technigues for both collecting data and
presenting findings.
Haynes 2022
] Cernre for Ageing and ' Centre for Ageing and
--..._(.L. e e --._(-L- M| Feaith
HALTOR HALTOR
- ’ Faculty of Heath and Sscial Care - ’
Order of activities Snap Judgement

1. Snap judgement

2. Three words

3. Role play —scenarios
4. I|dea board

5. Survey

* Voting box

* Back board with options
labelled A, B, C, etc.

*  Paper slips with tick box
for A/B/C etc.

* Space to enter age /
tick age range

Centre for Ageing and
Metal Health

Three Words

* Care-related images on
board (4 or 5 pictures)

Centre for Ageing and

Mental Heafth

Fatuity of Health a

Role Play / Scenarios

* Card options

+ Different scenarios on

o
* People asked to write and & each card
submit first 3 words that . .
come to mind linked to * Role play imagining how
each picture you would feel / behave
in given circumstance
* Submissions used to
develop Word Clouds + Feedback collected
o . e
Faculty of Meath and sochil Care Facuity of Health and Soca Care
Idea Board Survey

* Back board / Flip chart

* Post-Its for people to make
comments / voice ideas

* Develops into Idea Board

Traditional survey (paper
copies and link to online
version)

* Basic demographic
questions

* Short section of Multi-
choice questions

* Final free-text section

82




Page 109

Draft Version 4

Faculty of Heati an

o Saelal Care

Open discussion 3

*  What are your thoughts and experiences of using
arts-based and creative methods?

* Do you think creative methods are able to capture
the current social care context?

*  What are your thoughts on our proposed approach?

) : )
. .- e - .
HAKTO) HATON

acuity of Heslth weed

Background to the
proposed context
and theory

“Research about aging in place tends to stress the value
of one place (one’s home) over other living settings. This
limits the ability of people to age in place and curtails

discussion of all the items necessary to maintain place.”

Weil and Smith 2016

) )
HALTON HALTON L
Research Context Continuum of care and care spectra

Continuum of care

Refers to bundled care options that follow an individual
through time, adapting to their changing needs.

Care spectra

Are specific elements relating to maintaining optimum
quality of life.

{i litation

Home & cent At home
famuhr support

-A:nte hospnals :‘_DG Ser\nce\. I Health

- —,— -

% Dayoentru

e

Living-in care

~ Sheftered > 5 k

hagphals, >~ T ) o
Nursing Ehaled IMng}
Homes

)
HALTON

Care Spectra: Visualising
Examples:

* Technology

* Types of Provision

* Risk Levels

* Finance

* Location

Minimal |

Lare

Advanced

Infarmal Specialist
Lerw Risk High Risk
Low Cost High Cast
rome | Residential

Priscilla, 85-year-old lady was living in her own home with domiciliary care
before a fall which resulted in a fractured hip. Priscilla had an operation four
days ago and has now been discharged from the medical team who have now
referred her to the physiotherapist to commence her rehabilitation,

83



Page 110

Draft Version 4

.. LR | 4 e - T
paLTenN HALTON
= Fagulty of Heat and Saclal Cane - Facuity of Health and Soca Care
Open discussion 4 Moving forward: Mapping care in Halton
*  What are your thoughts of the continuum of care and *  What other questions would you like us to ask?
?
care spectra * Are there any other relevant points that we need to

*+ s the above relevant to your practice? include, or issues we are overlooking?

* Could the above be applied to Halton?

} Covnm for Ageing and
Meal Heal
H‘EEFQN Facuty of Hea® and secial Care

THANK YOU!!

= Professor Robert McSherry (Project Lead)
r.mcsherry@chester.ac.uk

= Rhian Crompton (Researcher) r.crompton @chester.ac.uk

= Nellie Makhumula-Nkhoma (Researcher)

n.makhumulankhoma@chester.ac.uk

84



Page 111

Draft Version 4

Appendix 6: Idea Board — Attride-Stirling (2001) thematic analysis
networks applied to review and analyse the findings

Stages Steps Rationale
1. Code material Each individual post it notes and
A was reviewed and transcribed.
Reduction or 2. ldentify themes [ A transcript template was devised
Breakdown of Text where each post it notes statement

was recorded.

The transcript enabled a review of
the participant's responses by
basic, organisational and global

themes to be undertaken.

3. Construct thematic Focused on consolidating the

networks transcript into basic themes.
B 4. Describe and explore | Achieved by identifying emerging
Exploration of Text thematic networks organisational themes derived from

consolidating the basic themes.

5. Summarise thematic | By reviewing and consolidating the
networks organisational themes for global

themes and trends.

C 6. Interpret patterns Associated with reviewing the
Integration of occurrence of the global themes.
Exploration

85



Page 112

Draft Version 4

Appendix 7: Role Play Scenarios

Read through the information below and imagine yourself being in the situation described.

Then, turnover the sheet, think about the questions, and share your thoughts.

Scenario A

You are 58 years old, you work so does your wife. You have four children, the youngest is
14 years old. Of late you’ve started to become more forgetful. A few times you have
forgotten to attend a few important meetings at work and are getting frustrated more easily.
Today you received a letter advising you to take early retirement. Your partner is concerned
and has sought medical advice. The doctor has requested blood tests and a brain scan to

rule out dementia.

Scenario B

You are 81 years old, live alone, have no close family, and suffers from Parkinson’s disease.
You have recently had 2 falls. You enjoy living in his own home and community. You have
an influential and active role in community life but have had to slow down due to your
Parkinson’s getting worse in the last few months, You have a good relationship with your
neighbours, who help when they can but of late, you can tell they are getting concerned of

your safety.

Scenario C

You are 85 years old and are living in your own home with domiciliary care. You have a
niece and nephew living nearby who come over to visit when they can. You recently had a
fall which resulted in a fractured hip. You had an operation four days ago and have now
been discharged from the medical team, who have referred you to the physiotherapist to
commence rehabilitation. You are happy to be home but more nervous than before when

carrying out everyday activities.

Scenario D

You are 70 years old and live independently in your own home. You are divorced. You are

close to your two children but they live in London with their young families and can’t see

86



Page 113

Draft Version 4

them in person as often as you would like. A month ago, you experienced a stroke living you
with partial paralysis on your right side and mild swallowing problems. You have been seen

by the medical team and referred to the physiotherapy and speech and language teams.

Scenario E

You are 94 years old. You lost your spouse 6 months ago. Before then, you enjoyed a walk
to the pub, talking to your neighbours and working in your garden, with the help of one of
your grandchildren. Since your spouse’s death, you spend most of the day indoors and
rarely speak to the neighbours. You are also working less in your garden. You gradually
have become frailer, have lost weight, and feel lonely. Your family visit when they can, and
are getting worried about your appearance and frame of mind.

Scenario F

You are 78 years old; you live alone but with support from family and close friends. You have
heart failure and lately have become short of breath at slight exertion. The past couple of
days you started to become incontinent. As your support can only come a couple of times a
day, you are spending time sitting in a wet pad, not drinking much as you fear needing to
use the toilet again. Due to work commitments and changing care requirements, some of
your friends and family have indicated they can’t continue in their current role. A social

worker has been contacted.

Q1. How do you feel?
Q2. What would you do next?

Q3 What choices do you think will be available to help?

87



Page 114

Draft Version 4

Appendix 8: Public Engagement Activity 5 — Survey

University of

#Chester

Perceptions of Care Services for Older
People in Halton

Page 1: Page 1

Perceptions of care locations, types and services available for older people across
Halton and beyond.

This Survey is part of a joint project by Halton Borough Council and the Centre for
Ageing and Mental Health at the University of Chester, looking at perceptions of social
care for older people.

We appreciate you taking the time to give us information about your perceptions
regarding older people's care services. By filling out the survey, you are consanting to the
University of Chester using the data provided. Please note the information is being
collected anonymously, but we require some demographic information about you that will
facilitate the analysis of the data we collect. Completing the gquestionnaire should take
around 10 o 15 minutes.

88



Page 115

Draft Version 4

89



Page 116

Page 2: Demographic information

1. Please state your age. Optional

2. Whatis your gender? Optional

r Female r Male
r~ Other

2.4 Ifyou selected Other, please specify:

3. Are you a resident of Halton? Optional

C Yes
« No
« Prefer nol to say

Draft Version 4

r Prefer notto say

3.a Ifyou are not a resident of Halton, please note the council area you live in eqg.,
Warrington Borough Council, Cheshire West and Chester Council, Liverpoaol City

Council, etc. Optianal

217

90



Page 117

Draft Version 4

Page 3: Choosing care

4. Ifyou arsiwere aged 65 years and over and needed care, where would be your
preferred location of cara?

Wy owen home

A residential home

A nursing home

Shellered accommodationfassisted living
Retirement village

Other

i e e N

d.a Ifyou selected Other, please specify:

5 Is your chioice based on you or somebody you know providing or accessing the
cara?

i~ ke i Someone | know i Prefer not to say
 Other

Sa  Please feel free o provide more information about who influenced your choice.
Optional

377

91



Page 118

Draft Version 4

G What would determine where you accessed care from? Please select all that apply.

I Caost

I Easy access o senvices

I MNear family / fiends

I Mear o social and leiswre activiies
I Easy access to transport

I Ciher

Ga [Fyouselected Other, please specify:

7. Where would you seek information about available care? Please select all that

apply.

The Internet

Social media, e.g. Facebook
GP

GP Practice Nurse
Charity, e.q. Age UK
Haospital

Family and friends
Drantist

Ciouncil

Lacal press

Wiord of mouwth
Cither

I A e e e e e B B B B

477

92



Page 119

Draft Version 4

. [IFyou selected Other, please specify:

& Has CONVID1S affected your opinion of choice of care services?

~ Yes Mo r Prefer not to say

Ba Please explain your answer.

2  Have you heard of any of the following sendces? Please select all services you have
heard about.

Aoute sendces
Community hospitals
Rehabilitation centres
Cray centres

Hospices

Companion care services
Shared care

Shared lives
Cromiciliary care
Support services

Home care with gadgets

i I e e e e e I I i B

BIT

93



Page 120

Draft Version 4

I Living-in care

Ir Respite care

IN Residential hame care
I Mursing home cane

Ir Hospital at home

10, Please give your thoughts regarding locafion of care in people as we age (feel free
o write about personal expenences but please do not include any ideniifiable
infarmation, e.g., nameas, addresses, contact details atc.)

g7

94



Page 121

Draft Version 4

Page 4: Final page

Thank you for taking the time to complete this guestionnaire and for your interest
in the project.

If you would like any further information about this questionnaire or project, pleass
contact Professor Robert McShermy.

email: r.moshermyifichester.ac.uk
Telephone: 01244 512245

Address: The Centre for Ageing and Mental Health, Faculty of Health, Medicine and
Society, 895, Room TEC106, Thomton Science Park, Poal Lane, Chester, CH2 4N

7T

95



Centre for Ageing and !—\ H Uni

]f Mental Health Che ster
""‘h_.-l""n—-l

HALTON Faculty of Health and Social Care
BOROUGH COUNCIL

RPDCP PrOJect Summary

22T abed

Using co-creation to explore public and
professionals' awareness of location and
types of care services in Halton




‘ Centre for Ageingand | [ M University of
r Mental Health | M PEChester
'-"'l-_.-ll-‘h—i
HAI—TON Faculty of Health and Social Care
BOROUGH COUNCIL

Introduction to the RPDCP

e Stands for “Research and Practice Development Care
Partnership”

cZT abed

* A Social Care Research Practice Partnership between
Halton Borough Council, University of Chester, Age UK,
Changes Plus and Caja Group

e Part of wider nationwide network of three initiatives in
the “Creating Care Partnerships” project




Centre for Ageing and i @ University of

]f Mental Health | N PeChester
"""'h.._..-l""h—-l

HALTON Faculty of Health and Social Care
BOROUGH COUNCIL

Project Summary

* Research Population: professional stakeholders and
members of the public

72T abed

* Location: Halton Borough
* Time Frame: Fieldwork carried out March —June 2023
* Research Ethos: Partnership Working and Co-Creation

* Research Methodology: Creative Methods & Survey




_h_
HALTON

BOROUGH COUNCIL

Faculty of Health and Social Care

Stakeholder | Public

Workforce Care Journey,

e Case Load & Mix Impact and
* Training/Development Outcomes

Places and Types of
Care Services

Communication
Needs and Choices and Information
Access

Resources and
Support

Systems and Public Image and

processes

Funding Perspectives of
Care

Centre for Ageing and i @ University of

Mental Health | M PEChester

GZT abed




_h_
HALTON

BOROUGH COUNCIL

Centre for Ageing and i @ University of

Mental Health | M PEChester

Faculty of Health and Social Care

Short Term Recommendations

High

Priority

Low

Priority

Review existing workforce, skill mix and employment conditions to ensure safe,
quality care services

Review domiciliary care services

1
A= @ |

Invite new and diverse members onto the RPDCP
Developing a social care related digital and technological strategy

Create ways of engaging the public to enhance trust, confidence, in care services

O2ZT
b/ I 01 7

Engaging with younger age groups to gather opinions on care and services

Start planning for future housing and infrastructure policies




_h_
HALTON

BOROUGH COUNCIL

Centre for Ageing and i @ University of

Mental Health | M PEChester

Faculty of Health and Social Care

Medium Term Recommendations

High

Priority

Having adequate ongoing care education and training standards and competencies
for all staff

Undertake a resources and assets audit to explore localised care options within
communities

Develop strategy to engage with diverse, hard to reach, groups about views of care
and services (e.g. chronic illness, disabilities, life limiting etc...)

Consolidate a public care communication and awareness strategy

Facilitating and connecting care services (health, social, allied) — e.g., Link Workers

1= ARY g
L CL YVO(]

Low

Priority

Create accessible free community-based space for connecting

Explore the possibility of merging existing assessment methods into a single holistic
individualised framework




_h_
HALTON

BOROUGH COUNCIL

Centre for Ageing and i @ University of

Mental Health | M PEChester

Faculty of Health and Social Care

Long Term Recommendations

High

Priority

Designing and implementing innovative and creative ways for the provision of
localised care

Consider a public awareness campaign regarding healthy ageing, planning for
ageing well and celebrating ageing

Maintain proactiveness with partners enhancing services, resources and assets
Emphasising care that is individualised, targeted, flexible and adaptable

Enhance the accessibility and clarity of available resources for individual’s care
planning for old age

o=zT ARl 4
oC L YVT(]

Low

Priority

Long term sustainability planning for RPDCP

Long term research and innovation strategy




] Centre for Ageingand | [ M University of
r Mental Health | M PEChester
""‘h_.-l""n—-l
HALTON Faculty of Health and Social Care
BOROUGH COUNCIL

Thank You

62T abed

For more information, please contact:
Rhian Crompton r.crompton@chester.ac.uk

Or search for the Centre for Ageing and Mental Health at:
https://www.chester.ac.uk/



mailto:r.crampton@chester.ac.uk
https://www.chester.ac.uk/

Page 130 Agenda Item 5b

REPORT TO: Health Policy and Performance Board

DATE:

26" November 2024

REPORTING OFFICER: Lucy Gardner, Chief Strategy and Partnerships

Officer, Warrington and Halton Teaching
Hospitals NHSFT

PORTFOLIO: Health and Wellbeing

SUBJECT: Integration between Warrington and Halton

Teaching Hospitals NHSFT (WHH) and
Bridgewater Community Healthcare NHSFT
(BCH)

WARD(S) Borough wide

1.0

11

2.0

3.0

3.1

4.0

4.1

5.0

5.1

6.0

PURPOSE OF THE REPORT

The purpose of this report is to provide an update on the integration
between Warrington and Halton Teaching Hospitals NHSFT and
Bridgewater Community Healthcare NHSFT.

RECOMMENDATION: That the Board is asked to note the
update.

SUPPORTING INFORMATION

The attached presentation provides all supporting information.
POLICY IMPLICATIONS

N/A

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

The integration programme intends to deliver financial savings to
support the sustainability of healthcare provision.

IMPLICATIONS FOR THE COUNCIL’S
The integration between WHH and BCH supports all the council
priorities.
e Improving Health, Promoting Wellbeing and Supporting
Greater Independence.
e Building a Strong, Sustainable Local Economy.
e Supporting Children, Young People and Families.
e Tackling Inequality and Helping Those Who Are Most In
Need.



Page 131

e Working Towards a Greener Future.
e Valuing and Appreciating Halton and Our Community

7.0 Risk Analysis

7.1 The risks to the delivery of the integration programme are reviewed
by both Trusts and reported monthly to the Integrated Care Board.
Risks of the integration itself will be identified, described and
mitigated through the development of the strategic outline case and
delivery of the integration of services.

8.0 EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY ISSUES

8.1 A full Equality Impact Assessment is currently being completed.

9.0 CLIMATE CHANGE IMPLICATIONS

9.1 Any climate change implications will be identified as the programme
progresses.

10.0 LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS UNDER SECTION 100D OF
THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972

10.1 ‘None under the meaning of the Act.’



Z<T obed

Warrington and Halton integration programme

Bringing together Bridgewater Community

Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust and Warrington

Slides for partners October 2024 (v4LG) and Halton Teaching Hospitals NHS Foundation
Trust



Introduction

We have identified significant opportunities to improve things for both our patients and staff working at the front line
and are launching a programme of work to deliver integrated and collaborative models of care between Warrington and
Halton Hospital NHS Foundation Trust and Bridgewater Community NHS Foundation Trust.

Our system is not clinically and financially sustainable and we must significantly improve our use of resources. All
parties have recognised the sub-optimal working that exists, caused by silo working, fragmentation, and lack of co-
ordination. Evidence demonstrates that alignment of management of the system is necessary to effectively address
and optimise the use of resources and outcomes for patients and staff.

We recognise the potential risks associated with these plans, in terms of staff anxiety and the potential for
cumbersome governance. The overriding aim of delivery of a sustainable system for patients and staff will require focus
and leadership to mitigate risks and take people with us.

The programme must focus on a Warrington and Halton solution and involve the seven local Primary Care Networks
and the two Local Authorities.

To achieve the objectives, the programme will focus on the place-based clinical integration of services and production
of a co-designed clinical strategy for the places/partnership, with organisational forms/models being developed to
create the environment, leadership and governance for high-quality clinical services to thrive.

c¢T obed



ICB Context

Reporting

Bimonthly Status Report

Monthly Summary Status Report
Fortnightly exception reports
‘Focus on’ sessions (scheduled)

Monthly Summary Status Report
Fortnightly exception reports
Weekly check ins as agreed

(" NHS Cheshire & Merseyside
Board
L Chair: Raj Jain )
f
4 )
Cheshire and Merseyside

Recovery Committee
Chair: Graham Urwin

(& J

f

Recovery Programme Management Office (PMO)

Lead: Natalie Robinson

A

\

Recovery Programmes

Steering groups/programme boards to be established as required

NHS

Cheshire and Merseyside

[ Urgent Care Improvement

\/——Iajor organisational integration

—
( Liverpool Mersey and West

Mark Bakewell/ Lancashire
Deb Butcher Mark Palethorpe/
Deb Butcher

Cheshire Warrington &
Laura Marsh Halton
Carl Marsh
Wirral
Simon Banks

projects

Mental Health Optimising
A&E and OOA Independent [
Placements Sector Value Wirral Review
Simon Banks Mark Wilkinson Simon Banks
Primary and Non-Statutory

community care
standardised offer
Clare Watson

Liverpool Clinical \

Service Review
Mark Bakewell

Services Warrington
Anthony Leo Review
Carl Marsh

N\ /

Cheshire Review
Mark Wilkinson

yeT obed

Unwarranted All Age Neurodiversity
clinical variation Continuing Care Laura Marsh
Rowan Pritchard Alison Lee

Jones
Workforce Medicines
Chris Samosa Management
Anthony Leo

\C

%

Digital- enabler role on above programmes
John Llewellyn




Overview of organisations

Bridgewater Community Healthcare NHSFT

g

®

1,550 staff @ £97m annual turnover

66 community sites in Warrington, Halton,
Cheshire, Merseyside and Greater
Manchester

Community adult and children’s nursing and
therapy services in Halton, Warrington,
and St Helens. Community dental services
across Cheshire, Merseyside and Greater
Manchester.

g

Warrington and Halton Teaching Hospitals
NHSFT

o0 00
m 5,000 staff @ £347m annua
turnover

sites in Warrington and Halton

Full range of acute general

\-'V care and clinical support servi

Warrington and Halton.

hospital

services, across unplanned care, planned

ces in

GeT obed

2 Acute hospital and over 30 community



Programme workstreams (1)

1. Clinical and operational
service integration

Mark Charman
Dan Moore

Deliver improvements to the care provided to our populations
Ensure financial and clinical sustainability of our shared services.
Determine the clinical operating model for the integrated teams

2. Corporate services
integration

Nick Gallagher
Jane Hurst

Review corporate services structures

Develop corporate services operating model

Establish integrated structure, systems and streamlined processes to support
clinical services

Deliver efficiency savings and improved Use of Resources, enabling the release of
the opportunity costs identified in Model Health data

3. Finance

Nick Gallagher
Jane Hurst

Understand the underlying Place financial position and develop and 5-year strategy
to ensure financial sustainability.

Outline the financial impact of the integration to the overall financial position of the
new organisation

Develop financial benefits realisation plan

Identify financial and operational efficiencies

4. Workforce

Paula Woods
Michelle Cloney

Establishment of leadership and organisational structure

Cultural behavioural alignment (Common vision, values and behaviours)
Workforce transformation

Develop change management and staff transition plan/arrangements

o¢T obed



Programme workstreams (2)

5. Estates Nick Gallagher = Develop Estates strategy
Dan Moore = Current Estate review and rationalisation
= Develop single EFM structure
6. Digital Ted Adams » Review and rationalisation of digital infrastructure
Paul Fitzsimmons = Develop and implement robust informatics systems, processes and digital

technologies to improve quality of care, increase productivity and improve
operational efficiencies

= Review and harmonise clinical systems

= End-to-end digitised clinical pathways, ongoing optimisation across place
including social care

7. Communications and Mike Baker
engagement Kate Henry

Engagement and communication with stakeholders
Manage stakeholder consultation

Develop benefit key messages

Develop communications and engagement strategy

8. Governance and programme | Lucy Gardner Establish robust Governance and Assurance arrangements
management = Development of Programme and Implementation timeline

/€T obed



6-month deliverables

Workstream Deliverables

1. Clinical and operational
services integration

UEC System Improvement (Flow)
Dermatology (Quality and safety)

2. Corporate services integration

Review all corporate structures and identify opportunities to share resource
Develop integrated structures and assess savings

3. Finance

Develop high level 5-year financial strategy
Review use of resources data to identify opportunities

4. Workforce

Develop integrated organisational change framework
Develop joint vacancy review & management process framework

5. Estates = Explore options for integrated hard/soft facilities management functions
= Review service contracts across both Trusts and identify opportunities for savings
6. Digital = |dentify opportunities for EPR consolidation, convergence, patient portals and interoperability

Review & align digital strategic intent

7. Communications and
engagement

Develop communications and engagement strategy
Introduce regular internal and external comms re the integration journey

8. Governance and programme
management

Establish programme governance and reporting arrangements
Development of programme and implementation timeline

g¢T obed



Summary of progress to date (1)

Developed and agreed an MoU between CEQOs

Agreed Nikhil Khashu will be Chief Executive for both Trusts, subject to approvals
Drafted and approved high level summary case for change

Established workstreams and SROs

Joint executive SROs met to agree initial 6, 12 and 24 month priorities for each
workstream

Plans on a page drafted for each workstream and highlight reports produced monthly to
track progress

Agreed initial programme governance arrangements

Regular joint executive team delivery group meetings held
Second Steering Group, chaired by ICB CEO, held 9" October
First Board to Board held 4" September

6T obed



Summary of progress to date (2)

Sought advice from partners and networks who have undertaken integration recently

Met with Hill Dickinson to obtain initial advice on options for legal mechanism to bring
organisations together

Reviewed model hospital data to inform potential financial benefits
Issued joint media statement and internal communications
Established joint vacancy review process

Developed initial quality, performance and financial benefits
Developed and agreed workforce principles and single EIA process
Approved communications key messages and principles
Developed and approved initial milestone plan

Signed data sharing agreement

Approved risk/gain share agreement

Developed draft joint executive team structure

ot T obed



Summary strategic case for change

Initial draft case for change shared at Exec-to-
Exec meeting on 6 August and developed
further subsequently

It helps set a positive tone for the integration,
focusing on the benefits for patients and staff

Boards have now:

 reaffirmed the principles of strategic intent
to integrate

« approved the proposed partnership
branding

* Approved the strategic case for change

This case for change will be communicated
internally across both organisations, and
externally, as soon as possible

Warrington and Halton

—_— NI’-:ealtl_lc.are Partnershj
g 5 hospital and COmmunity Try, t
sts

Better Care Together

Hospita . Community » Home

Lnity Healtheare NHS Foundation T

alton T
@aching Mospirals NHS Foundation Ti
ruse

rust

T1T obed



Priority services

Priority service for integration Rationale for prioritisation

1. Urgent and emergency care (including UTC and
UCR)

2. Intermediate Care (Padgate)

3. Dermatology
4. Paediatric Audiology

Risk around workforce resilience and
leadership

Clinical risk re inpatient dermatology
Need to create a high quality, more seamless

service as close to patients’ homes as possible.
Potential IQIPP accreditation for single service.

2T obed



Key next steps

» Finalise communications and engagement plan — October 2024

= |CB Steering Group meeting — October 2024

= Confirm in year forecast benefits — quality, performance and financial — October 2024
= Clinical and operational services workshop — October 2024

= Joint CEO and executive team — 15t November 2024

= Develop partnership/management agreement — November 2024

= Establish Joint Committee — January 2025

et T obed



Key next steps — draft milestone plan

2024

2025

2026

MILESTONES

JUN

JUL

AUG

SEP

ocTiNoV pEC

JAN

FEB

IMAR

APRMAY

JUN| JUL

AUG) SEP

ocTNOV

DEC

JAN

FEBMAR

APR

PROGRAMME GOVERMNANCE

Establishment of Programme Govemance

Establishment of workstreams

WOKSTREAMS

Clinical & Operational Services Integration

Develop Clinical services integration milestone plan and prioritisation*

Integration of Priority services (Paed Audiology, Child Protection, Intermediate
Care/Padgate, UEC, Dermatology)*

Complete Runcorn UTC Review®

Integration of Medical and Clinical structures and operational management for patient and
productivity benefit *

Integration of Clinical Support Services *

Agree strategy for fully integrated clinical pathways to deliver improvements to patient care
and experience*

Stakeholder Engagement and potential Public Consultation for any Service Change

Corporate Services Integration

l|717'[ 90k g

Collate information around all key systems, operational processes and external
contracts/services for both organisations

Agree phased workforce plans for each corporate function

Implementation of Target Operating Model

Alignment of processes and systems

Organisational identity and service integration®

Finance

Develop high level 5 year financial strategy*

Review all contracts and draft agreement of principles for transferring contracts®

Rationalisation and alignment of all external contracts and SLAs*

Single Financial Ledger




Key next steps — draft milestone plan

2024 2025 2026
MILESTONES JUN | JUL |JAUG| SEP OCT|NOV DEC|JANFEB LVIARAPR IMAY/JUN | JUL |JAUG| SEP|OCT|NOV|DEC|JAN | FEB LVIAR APR

Workforce
Sign off Joint Vacancy Review and Management Framework.

Sign off Integrated Organisational Change Framework.
Single ESR system in place

Estates
Complete Review of all Trust sites to identify opportunities for cost savings*
Identify opportunities for service relocation to and from WHH/BCH sites*
Implementation of a single FM Service delivery model
Rationalisation and alighment of all FM contracts and SLAs*
Digital
Define and agree plan for digital system architecture integration*
Provide digital user environment conducive to integration
Seek opportunities for integrated digital procurement (non-EPR)*
Define a common suite of products to use across WHH and BW for end user hardware
Align BW and WHH digital strategies*
Align BW and WHH digital teams in order to delivery digital strategy -

Comms
Finalise and begin implementing integration communications and engagement plan,

Ped

including approach to joint branding*
Introduce regular internal and external comms re integration*

Governance
Develop and agree Partnership/management agreement -
Develop options appraisal/strategic outline case*

Joint Committee in place
Committees in Common in Place -




Page 146 Agenda Item 5c

REPORT TO: Health Policy and Performance Board

DATE: 26™ November 2024

REPORTING OFFICER: NHS Director - Halton

PORTFOLIO: Health and Wellbeing

SUBJECT: One Halton Partnership and ICB@Halton
Updates

WARD(S) Borough wide

1.0 PURPOSE OF THE REPORT

1.1 To present the Board with an update on One Halton Partnership and

also some of the work programmes undertaken by ICB@Halton
which support One Halton’s ambitions.

2.0 RECOMMENDATION: That an update on One Halton and
associated activities is received and noted.

3.0 SUPPORTING INFORMATION

3.1 The attached document provides an update on One Halton

Partnership activities and builds on previous reports which have
been shared with the Health Policy and Performance Board. The
paper also references further programmes of work being undertaken
by NHS Cheshire and Merseyside ICB @ Halton Place which
support the aims and ambitions for the people of Halton.

3.2 One Halton Partnership Board comprises a wide range of members
including NHS bodies, local authority (including children’s, adults,
public health services), and non-NHS/non-statutory bodies. This
Partnership Board is the vehicle for delivery of national priorities,
local priorities and Halton’s Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy.
Achieving One Halton’s ambitions is the responsibility of all partners
working together to achieve a set of shared strategic objectives for
Halton Place.

3.3 The presentation sets out the context and provides the latest
overview of progress.

4.0 POLICY IMPLICATIONS
4.1 The original White Paper, Joining Up Care for People, Places and

Populations, February 2022 set out the future ambition for shared
outcomes with shared accountability and a single person



5.0

5.1

6.0

6.1

6.2

6.3

6.4

6.5

6.6

Page 147

accountable at place level. This means that as One Halton Place-
Based Partnership further evolves and develops there will be a need
to understand the potential impact on policies of all of the partner
organisations, including the Council.

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

One Halton is a partnership arrangement as described above
and therefore a collaborative of statutory and non-statutory
organisations serving residents and patients within Halton. As
One Halton further develops partners will need to understand
more fully the resourcing and financial impacts on a collective
basis at Place. This work is being progressed with partners.

IMPLICATIONS FOR THE COUNCIL’S

Improving Health, Promoting Wellbeing and Supporting Greater
Independence

One Halton supports the Council’s and the Health and Wellbeing
Board priorities for a Healthy Halton

Building a Strong, Sustainable Local Economy
Facilitate sustainable economic prosperity.

Supporting Children, Young People and Families

One Halton supports the Council's Health & Wellbeing
Board’s priority of improving levels of early child development.
One of the system thematic priorities is Start Well.

Tackling Inequality and Helping Those Who Are Most In Need
One Halton is a key stakeholder locally supporting the Council

& Health and Wellbeing Board’s priorities for supporting
improved health outcomes and reducing health inequalities
for Halton’s population.

Working Towards a Greener Future
None at this stage.

Valuing and Appreciating Halton and Our Community

The NHS reforms to Integrated Care Systems and Place
Based Partnerships seek to engender a whole place
collaborative approach.

There will be a One Halton work stream around assets to
understand the public estate that supports delivery (in the
widest sense) in Halton and work towards collaborative
planning of the public estate.

It is also imperative to plan appropriately for healthy
communities utilising Public Health ensuring an evidence-led



Page 148

approach to meeting the future needs of Halton’s population.
One Halton will link into future regeneration schemes and
developments in the Borough to ensure appropriate
planning and system partner involvement. There are recent
examples of joint working with the delivery of a Hospital Hub
in Shopping City and the development of the Town Deal for
Runcorn Old Town.

7.0 Risk Analysis

7.1 This will require further work to be undertaken when One
Halton understands the range of services and activity that will
be delivered at scale (Cheshire & Merseyside footprint) and
those delegated to place (One Halton) provided by the
different partners.

8.0 EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY ISSUES

8.1 In developing One Halton and health delivery moving over to
NHS Cheshire & Merseyside, all services will continue to
require equality impact assessments for any fundamental
changes to service delivery to ensure equality and access to
services is considered.

8.2 The One Halton Partnership Board and its sub-committees
also has membership of Halton’s Third Sector organisations
and will actively work alongside them to consider equality and
diversity issues. Many of Halton’s voluntary sector
organisations exist to support vulnerable, disadvantaged or
disenfranchised cohorts of the community and have a reach
often beyond public service delivery.

9.0 CLIMATE CHANGE IMPLICATIONS

9.1 This report is for information only, therefore there are no
environmental or climate implications as a result of this report.

10.0 LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS UNDER SECTION 100D OF
THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972

10.1 None under the meaning of the Act.



L9 NHS
o) Cheshire and Merseyside

A\ OneHalton

UPDATES
Tuesday 26 November 2024

Anthony Leo
Director — Halton



One Halton Partnership

One Halton Partnership comprises a wide range of members including:

* NHS Primary Care (general practices, dental practices, pharmacies, opticians)
* Bridgewater Community Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust
* Warrington and Halton Teaching Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust
* Mersey and West Lancashire Teaching Hospitals NHS Trust
* Mersey Care NHS Foundation Trust
* Halton Borough Council (including children’s, adults, public health services)
* Voluntary, Community, Faith and Social Enterprise (VCSFE) sector
* Halton Housing T
m
* Halton Healthwatch. Q
-
The One Halton Partnership is the vehicle for delivery of national priorities, local priorities and the vision set out in the Joint Health and S
Wellbeing Strategy within Halton. Achieving One Halton’s ambitions is the shared responsibility of all partners working together to
achieve a set of strategic objectives for Halton’s residents.

Our shared ambition is “to improve the health and wellbeing of the population of Halton by empowering and supporting local people
from the start to the end of their lives by preventing ill health, promoting self-care and independence, arranging local, community-
based support and ensuring high quality services for those who need them.”

To support delivery of this ambition, local health, care, and other services are working together, as equal partners, to support seamless,
person-centred care and tackle health inequalities by improving the lives of the poorest fastest.



One Halton Strategic Priorities

One Halton Strategic Priorities are driven by the vision and ambitions set out in the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy
agreed in October 2022.

These are:

1. Wider Determinants of Health: Improve the employment opportunities for the people of Halton, in particular,
where it affects children and families.

2. Starting Well: Enabling children and families to live healthy independent lives.

3. Living Well: Provide a supportive environment where systems work efficiently and support everyone to live their
best life.

TGT obed

4. Ageing Well: Enabling older adults to live full independent healthy lives.



One Halton Programmes

Through our One Halton programmes and an additional range of “business as usual activities” being progressed by all
partners, we are progressing One Halton’s strategic priorities. However, we recognise that there is much more to do and
we will continue to work together to improve the lives of the people living in Halton.

Our programmes of work include:

1. Starting Well — To enable Children and Families to live Healthy Independent Lives with the goal of more
financially stable, informed and supported families with children who have better health outcomes.

2. Living Well — Cardiovascular Disease; Cancer; Mental Health and Wellbeing Programmes: To support early
diagnosis and timely access to screening programmes and treatment.

ZST obed

3. Ageing Well — Care Homes; Dementia; Falls Reduction; Reducing Loneliness and Isolation; End of Life care: The
various programmes will enable and support older adults to live full and independent lives.

4. Wider Determinants — Economic regeneration; Employment, workforce, and Education, Improving Living
Conditions: The programmes seek to improve the employment opportunities for the people of Halton in
particular where it affects children and families.



One Halton Delivery Plan

Lived experience/Engagement

Marmot principles (inc HEAT tooland CORE20PLUS5)

Integrated team working principles

ONE HALTON DELIVERY PLAN

Starting Well Living Well Ageing Well Wider INTs

* Family Hubs - CVD Falls determinants * Neighbourhood
e C&YPplan « Cancer Loneliness Housing teams
- Mental Health Care Homes Crime

€GT obed

and Wellbeing Dementia Wider
Carers regeneration
EoL Education and
Transport employment
Marmot

Specific work projects are being progressed against the delivery plan.
Future progress updates will be provided against each element.



ICB @ Halton Place
Update

vGT obed

Examples of
ICB @ Halton Place
“Business as Usual”
projects which also support One Halton ambitions



ICB @ Halton Place — Business As Usual Progress

In addition to the One Halton Partnership programmes, NHS Cheshire and Merseyside ICB @ Halton also has a range of “business as usual” work
programmes some of which are highlighted as examples below and which support the ambition and aims of One Halton.

1.

General Practice Services: Halton Place has a Primary Care Capacity and Access Improvement Plan for general practice. This sets out the
ambition to improve access to general practice services in Halton and is aligned to the NHS Cheshire and Merseyside ambition and the national
ambition. General practices in Halton typically deliver more than 55,000+ appointments each month for Halton’s population (c130,000 people).

Dental Services: NHS Cheshire and Merseyside has an ambitious Dental Improvement Plan for 2024/25. This will build upon the current
programmes in place and align to the delivery of the national dental recovery plan - Our plan to recover and reform NHS dentistry published on 4
February 2024. Our Cheshire and Merseyside Dental Improvement Plan 2024-2026, published in May 2024, builds on the national Dental Reform
Plan via a range of additional, local dental improvement actions, backed by a multi-million pound increase in funding this year with a focus on
improving access to urgent and routine care.

Pharmacy Services: Patients in Cheshire and Merseyside (including Halton) are now able to get treatment for seven common conditions through
their high street pharmacy from January 2024, as part of a major transformation in the way the NHS delivers care. The Pharmacy First service is
well-utilised in Halton. Highly trained pharmacists can assess and treat patients for each of the following conditions, without the need for a GP

appointment or prescription first:

GGT obed

sinusitis

sore throat

earache

infected insect bite

impetigo

shingles

uncomplicated urinary tract infections in women

The Pharmacy First service is available to patients on referral by their GP practice, NHS 111, and NHS Walk-in Centres/Urgent Treatment Centres
—as well as by contacting their pharmacy directly.



ICB @ Halton Place — Business As Usual Progress

4. Urgent and Emergency Care: A major programme of work is underway across Halton Place relating to urgent and emergency care improvement.
This work includes all system partners: the hospitals; the community trust; mental health; local authority social care, primary care, and other
partners to help avoid people needing to go to hospital, but when they do care for them in a way that means they do not need to be admitted to
hospital unnecessarily, provide enhanced community responses, improve hospital flow and to enable more timely discharges from hospital.

5. Cancer: A range of projects for Halton are undertaken under the Cheshire and Merseyside Cancer Alliance programme including, for example:
prevention and early detection, faster diagnosis, personalised care for all people with cancer, and access to screening programmes. Across
Cheshire and Merseyside, we have seen improved rates of cancer diagnosis. To the end of March 2024, 76% of people had a cancer diagnosis
confirmed or ruled out within 28 days of referral (better than the national average). In part, this was due to the opening of additional
Community Diagnostic Centres (CDCs) including one in Halton. We have also seen improvements in early detection rates over the last five years.

6. Children’s Services: There is a range of work being undertaken to improve children’s services. For children and young people, we are working to
implement a standardised pathway/model of care for neurodiversity (primarily ADHD and autism) that focuses on need and earlier access to
support. Within Halton, a number of Family Hubs have now been established. The aim of the hubs is to join up and enhance the range of services
delivered through the family hubs across Halton, ensuring all parents and carers can access the support they need when they need it. These hubs
provide support to parents and carers so they are able to nurture their babies and children, improving health and education outcomes for all.

9GT abed

7. Women’s Health Hub: Work is underway in Halton to establish a Women’s Health Hub in Halton working in partnership with local stakeholders
and across the wider Cheshire and Merseyside network to reduce fragmentation and enhance access to services.

8. Living Well Bus: Halton has continued to maximise the use of a roving health service in the borough in 2023-24 and into 2024-2025 working with
Halton Borough Council’s Public Health Team. This is delivered by Cheshire and Wirral Partnership NHS Trust, incorporating flu vaccines into the
services provided.



ICB @ Halton Place — Business As Usual Progress

9. Community Engagement: Local Young People Supporting Health Research: A key part of the One Halton approach is the involvement of local people
and community organisations. An example is the work currently taking place with Power In Partnership (PIP) - a local not-for-profit organisation that
supports young adults with their education and employment. PIP have teamed up with The National Institute of Health Research (NIHR), Halton Public
Health Team and Cheshire & Merseyside NHS, to support local young people to become Community Research Champions. As part of NIHR’s Research
Ready Communities Project, young people have begun to research health topics that interest them such as diabetes and mental health. They’ve also
been out and about on ‘Kitty’ the research bus, engaging with local people and encouraging people to get their blood pressure checks. The Champions
have become Community Connectors, supporting the work of One Halton in a range of ways.

/GT obed



Page 158 Agenda Item 5d

REPORT TO: Health Policy and Performance Board

DATE: 26" November 2024

REPORTING OFFICER: Executive Director — Adult Services and Chief

Executive Halton Carers Centre

PORTFOLIO: Adult Social Care

SUBJECT: Report on Activity to support Carers

WARD(S) Borough wide

1.0 PURPOSE OF THE REPORT

1.1 To provide the Board with information on activities that support
carers in the Borough

1.2 To provide in-depth information on the work of Halton Carers Centre

2.0 RECOMMENDATION: That the report be noted.

3.0 SUPPORTING INFORMATION

3.1 In 2024 a new All Age Carers Strategy has been agreed under the
One Halton governance framework and is attached at Appendix 1.
This strategy arises from a review of the previous strategy,
engagement with carers and the wider partnership and incorporates
changes to national guidance where this has occurred.

3.2 Halton Borough Council works with partners in the independent,
voluntary and statutory sectors to ensure a wide range of factors,
engagement and types of provision can be supported.

3.3 Local Authorities (LA) in the UK have statutory duties to assess
adult carers of adults with eligible social care needs and provide
support where eligible. In England these duties are set out in the
Care Act 2015. This duty is undertaken by the Adult Social Care
Directorate

3.4 This report focuses on the work across the Adult Social Care
Directorate and its partners to fulfil these duties and have a wider
focus on supporting carers

3.5 Carers Assessments

Carers assessments are undertaken by staff in the Adult Social Care
directorate. Assessments are offered when staff identify that
someone has a carer(s). Staff also sign post people to the Carers



3.6

3.7

3.8

3.9

3.10

3.11

Page 159

Centre and other agencies in the borough who may be able to
provide support.

An assessment may lead to the provision of a service directly
commissioned by the LA; the spot purchase of a service; the
provision of a Direct Payment (money) that the carer can use to
support them in undertaking their carers role; information on other
organisations who can support the carer.

Table 1: Carer Assessment and Reviews Completed

Assessments Reviews
2021/22 530 373
2022/23 504 447
2023/24 548 476

Services

Respite is a key type of service that enables carers to have a break
from their caring role. Respite in residential establishments is
organised with the individual, their carer and social work staff. This
can enable an individualised approach. Capacity in residential
establishments is variable depending on type of establishment and
demand.

The council block purchase respite capacity for people with a
Learning Disability and / or Autism at the Bredon Respite Centre in
Runcorn. Some of this capacity had been utilised for people
requiring longer stays but this ceased in 2024 releasing this for
further respite. In 2023/24 this was utilised by 26 people. In 2024/25
27 people have accessed this service to date. This provision is
under review as part of the wider transformation work in respect of
the model of provision for adults with learning disabilities.

The council also block purchase a respite service that can be
delivered in people’s own homes. Typically, this supports carers to
go out knowing the person they care for is being looked after. This
service has capacity to deliver circa 500 hours of support per month.
For the first 6 months of 2023/24 this has delivered 2,187 hours of
support.

The Alzheimer’s society also provides tailored support to people
living with Dementia and their carers

Direct Payments

Direct Payments (DP’s) are offered to carers as a flexible way for
carers to meet their assessed needs. Funding for this comes
through an allocated budget ‘Carers Breaks’ (see 7.0 below)

Table 2: Number of Carer Direct Payments



3.12

3.13

3.14

3.15

3.16

Page 160

No. Carer DP’s
2021/22 436
2022/23 456
2023/24 497

There have been 281 carer DP’s in the first 6 months of 2024/25

Carers Break Fund

This is a budget allocation to support carers. This budget is in
addition to the commissioned services and funding for the voluntary
sector organisations. It is typically used for DP’s, respite and one-off
resources for carers as part of the assessment and support plan. It
should also be noted that some spend that supports carers utilises
the Community Care budget in adult social care and is attributed to
the person being cared for rather than their carer.

Table 3 shows the allocated budget increases year on year and that
spend is recovering from the impact of the pandemic

Table 3: Cares Break Fund Allocation and Spend

Year Budget (£) Spend (£)
2019/20 393,600 312,702
2020/21 404,810 264,774
2021/22 412,410 235,911
2022/23 428,070 268,768
2023/24 450,020 345,128
2024/25 474,100 n/a

Halton Carers Strategy

The Carer’s Trust define a carer as:

“A carer is anyone who cares, unpaid, for a friend or family member
who due to illness, disability, a mental health problem or an
addiction cannot cope without their support.”

Across Halton we know that providing care and support for another
person can be extremely rewarding, but it can also be difficult.
Carers are recognised in their own right within legislation, and in
particular, the Care Act 2014 places a duty on the Council to assess
the needs of carers and the impact of their caring role on their
wellbeing.

Acknowledgement of the contribution carers make to the health and
care system is made through the One Halton Carers Strategy 2024-
2027, and its associated Delivery Plan — attached at Appendix One.

This strategy was devised on a multi-agency basis, and in working in
coproduction with carers to understand their needs and priorities. It
supersedes the strategy which ran from 2020 — 2023. Updates on
progress made in the period are given in a new version.



3.17

3.18

3.19

3.20

3.21

3.22

3.23

Page 161

The multi-agency group that devised the current strategy meet on a
guarterly basis to discuss developments and opportunities for carers
across the borough. They also monitor progress against the Delivery
Plan. The group involves representation from Halton Borough
Council — both Children’s and Adults services, the Integrated Care
Board — Cheshire and Merseyside NHS, Citizen’s Advice Bureau,
Alzheimer’s Society, local Department for Work and Pensions/ Job
Centre Plus representation, and Halton Carers Centre.

Halton Carers Centre

Halton Carers Centre is a hub of support and activity for carers
across the borough. It was opened in 2008, being established
following Council consultation across the borough on what support
was needed for unpaid carers, which resulted in a preference for
provision which was independent from the Council.

As a network partner to The Carers Trust, Halton Carers Centre
adheres to the charity’s national standards. The service works with
adult carers as well as young carers to offer to offer a holistic
assessment of need and deliver against a core support offer that
incorporates:

Information and advice

Carers break funding

Training

Counselling and emotional support
Family support and young carers activities
Support groups and forums

Provides holistic therapies

Day trips and events

Halton Carers Centre has a ‘shop front’ presence in Runcorn at their
base in Church Street, and also has an office in St Marie’s in
Widnes.

The Carers Centre is funded through a variety of sources and holds
a commission through Better Care Fund, which is a joint funding pot
between Halton Borough Council Adults Directorate and NHS
Cheshire and Merseyside Integrated Care Board (ICB). The contract
for this activity sits with the ICB but is jointly monitored by the
Council and the ICB. The work delivered supports the Council’s
duties to adult carers under the Care Act 2014.

Current figures show that Halton Carers Centre have 6,036 carers
registered with them (Adult Carers: 4,961, Young Carers: 1,075).

Overview of services
Recent activity:
Ongoing Activities and groups:
e Dementia Carers Support Group — Fortnightly - Runcorn



3.24

Page 162

(evening to allow working carers to attend)

Dementia Carers Support Group — Monthly - Widnes.

ADHD Carers Group — Monthly - online to enable carers to
attend who may struggle to leave the house

Carers Coffee group — Monthly - Widnes. General Drop in /
Catch up for all Carers. In these groups carers often support
each other and share experiences.

Carers Coffee group — Monthly - Runcorn. General Drop in /
Catch up for all Carers. In these groups carers often support
each other and share experiences.

Parent Carer Support Group — Monthly - Widnes

Parent Carer Support Group — Monthly - Runcorn

Young Carers Me Time Group - Fortnightly -
Widnes/Runcorn

Young Carers R Time Group — Fortnightly - Widnes/Runcorn

Recent additional activities have included:

Sensory Workshops — delivered in partnership with Shine
Therapy. Directed sessions both to professionals and at
parents with children with conditions and difficulties including
(but not limited to) ASD, ADHD, Sensory processing Disorder
and Global Development Delay.

Additional Dementia Support Group at St Maries — this has
been put on following an increased in registrations for carers
looking after a loved one with Alzheimer's / Dementia. The
support offer has been stepped up to recognise this additional
need.

School Holiday Programme for young carers up to age 18 —
Through Children and Families Directorate Holiday Activity
Fund, a large range of trips, groups and activities have been
offered during the summer to reflect that many young carers
lose the support and routine of school over this period and
need additional support

Carers Week — to mark national Carers Week in June 2024
the Centre held a series of events to recognise and celebrate
the work of carers in Halton.

Tourettes Workshop — After listening to carers an unmet local
need was identified around carers who look after a loved one
with Tourettes. To begin the conversation around increasing
awareness of Tourettes in Halton the Centre brought the
national charity ‘Tourettes Action’ in to facilitate workshops
with carers and professionals about how Tourettes is
diagnosed and affects people’s daily lives.

Carers Break Funding

Separate to the Carers Break Fund at 7.0 above, Carers Centre also
receive and distribute Carers Break Funding on behalf of the
Council.



3.25

3.26

3.27

3.28

3.29

3.30

3.31

Page 163

This involves a pot of money being made available for carers to
manage their individual situations and assessed needs, and funding
is usually granted up to a total of £250. During 2023/24 a total of
1,170 grants were issued to carers across the borough totalling the
amount of £185, 650. For this year, 2024/25, to date a total of 676
grants have been issued, totalling £111,510 A breakdown of the
funding allocation is given at Appendix Two.

Examples of how this funding is used includes:

Short Breaks

Pamper days

Garden work

Work for decorating

Cinema trips

Meals and Theatre breaks

Laptop, to enable the carer to access services online

Partnership working

Tourettes Action — as outlined in 3.2.3 we were able to bring
Tourettes action into Halton to support the unmet need around
carers looking after a loved one with Tourettes. Halton Carers
Centre are planning further workshops in partnership with Tourettes
Action and Children and Families services.

Citizen’s Advice Bureau (CAB) — Halton Carers Centre are working
together with the CAB to formulate a new project supporting carers
experiencing debt, poverty and financial difficulties.

Halton Housing — Halton Carers Centre were approached by Halton
Housing to deliver a joint project aimed at carers living in Halton
Housing accommodation. This included a Teddy Bears Picnic for
young carers and creative workshops for adult carers.

Outreach — working with other organisations the Carers Centre
deliver outreach sessions across the community to increase the
visibility of carers and assist other organisations to identify carers in
their own settings. This includes taking the Halton Carers Centre
information stand to schools, colleges, GP surgeries, hospitals and
other third sector organisations.

Halton Carers Centre represent and advocate for young carers at
relevant Halton Borough Council meetings including MAP, Child in
Need and Child Protection conferences.

Future funding challenges

Halton Carers Centre, as a charity sector organisation, operates with
a continuous level of uncertainty in terms of financial stability. This
results primarily from working with short-term and project-based
funding through grant applications.



3.32

3.33

3.34

4.0

4.1

5.0

5.1

6.0

6.1

6.2

6.3

6.4

6.5

6.6

Page 164

The Council and ICB contract offers £341,866, roughly 63% of the
Centre’s current annual budget. This is, however, currently offered
and issued on an annual basis, according to budgetary restraints
across the public sector.

Halton Carers Centre are confident that their funding allows for
current activities to the end of March 2025. From there, a shortfall of
£79,000 is predicted for the following financial year. For this there is
currently a possible £31,000 in pending funding application that are
currently being worked on. The rest needs to be identified from other
sources, many of which will be emergent nearer to the period.

Halton Carers Centre undertake robust financial planning to be
remain aware of their funding position both now and into future
years. They are currently investigating all options and strategies to
deal with this and understand the continuous cycle of need to
ensure the future sustainability of the service.

POLICY IMPLICATIONS

The delivery of service through Halton Carers Centre aligns to the
One Halton Carers Strategy 2024-2027 and associated Delivery
Plan.

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

N/A

IMPLICATIONS FOR THE COUNCIL’S

Improving Health, Promoting Wellbeing and Supporting Greater
Independence

Halton Borough Council has a statutory duty to support the
wellbeing of carers under the requirements of the Care Act 2014.
Building a Strong, Sustainable Local Economy

Carers are often in employment. Providing support to the carer role

can support employment

Supporting Children, Young People and Families
Halton carers centre support all age carers and their families

Tackling Inequality and Helping Those Who Are Most In Need
Unpaid carers are recognised as being disadvantaged in relation to
economic activity and community inclusion.

Working Towards a Greener Future
None identified.

Valuing and Appreciating Halton and Our Community



7.0

7.1

8.0

8.1
9.0

9.1

10.0

10.1

Page 165

Halton Carers Centre strive to provide a wide range of community-
based opportunities to identify and include carers.

Risk Analysis
None identified
EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY ISSUES

None identified

CLIMATE CHANGE IMPLICATIONS
None identified.

LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS UNDER SECTION 100D OF
THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972

None under the meaning of the Act.



Page 166

ifia

O m@Halvton

ONE HALTON CARERS
STRATEGY

2024 - 2027

and
DELIVERY PLAN



Page 167

Contents
0] =110 o R RPTPURRN 3
PSR [ 1Yo [ 1 (o o S 4
The aim Of this Strategy ......ooeeeiiiiii e 4
P B VA o o B TS N =T =Y USSP 4
1.2 National Context ......coooiiiie e 5
PG T o T | I @] o (= USRI 6
P2 © ] 1= 3N o = 11 o U 7
3. Halton Carers CeNre ...ttt 7
4. What do we know about Carers in Halton? ...........ccoooiiiiiiiiiiceee e, 9
5. Progress since our last Carer's strategy ..........cccoeeiiiiiiiiiiie e 13
6. One Halton Carers Deliver Plan 2024-2027 ............ooueeuiiiiiiieeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeenes 16
7. Involving and Listening t0 Carers ... 18
7.1 Carers Consultation EVent ... 18
7.2 Carers WeeK 2023 ... ..ottt e e e e e e e e 23
Carers Strategy — Delivery Partners and acknowledgements .............cccccoeeeiiiiinnnni, 25

2|Page



Page 168

Foreword

Following on from the success of the previous All-Age Carers Strategy in
Halton, this updated 2023-2026 Strategy continues to identify progress towards
more joined-up and holistic approaches to supporting Carers.

Carers are a valued part of our community and Halton Borough Council (HBC),
NHS Cheshire and Merseyside Integrated Care Board (ICB) and partners
working together across One share a commitment to improve the lives and
opportunities for children, young people and adults who are carers in Halton.

Every year, across the country, more and more people take on a caring role.
The enormous contribution of our carers not only makes an invaluable
difference to the people they support, but it is an integral part of our health and
social care system.

This Strategy and the Delivery Plan set out our current position, the areas for
improvement that we need to focus on over the next three years and the
outcomes for individuals that we want to achieve.

The Delivery Plan has been developed in conjunction with children and adult
carers, along with the key providers of services within Halton. We would like to
thank everyone who has been involved with the development of this Strategy
and Delivery Plan.

3|Page



Page 169

1. Introduction

The aim of this strategy

This strategy aims to identify a set of local priorities for those people who have caring
responsibilities in Halton.

It intends to celebrate people’s experiences of caring in Halton, including what's
working well for them. It will also look to pinpoint some areas for improvement, where
there are perhaps some gaps in the system which can be closed. By working in
collaboration across One Halton we aim to improve the lives of people who provide
informal care.

The strategy is set in the context of national legislation, policy and guidance which
sets out the rights of carers and recognises their contribution to the health and social
care system and wider society.

1.1 Whois A Carer?

A carer is someone who provides unpaid support to a family member or friend who,
due to illness, disability, a mental health problem or an addiction, cannot cope without
their support. Each carer’s experience is unique to their own circumstances. Carers
can be any age, from children to older people, and from every community and culture.
Some carers may be disabled or have care needs themselves.

The Care Act ‘s definition of an adult carer is “.... someone who helps another person,
usually a relative or friend, in their day-to-day life. This is not the same as someone
who provides care professionally, or through a voluntary organisation.”

The Carers Trust! definition of a Young Carer is “...someone under 18 who helps look
after someone in their family, or a friend, who is ill, disabled or misuses drugs or
alcohol.”

Many people with caring responsibilities don’t see themselves as carers, but rather as
a parent, spouse, son, daughter, partner, friend or neighbour. They support their family
and do not think of themselves as “carers” or are not recognised as Carers by
professionals and/or the community. Many carers would never use the term carer,
even if they are one, as it's not how they wish to view their role and it positions the
cared-for person in the role of a dependent person, which they might not want to be
viewed as.

1 https://carers.org/about-us/about-young-carers

4|Page



Page 170

1.2 National Context

There are two main pieces of legislation that define how support is provided by carers,
namely The Care Act 20142 and The Children and Families Act 20143.

Carers rights have been embedded into statute and carers have been put on the same
legal footing as those with care and support needs when it comes to their own
wellbeing. This main body for identifying carers support needs is the Local Authority
but this is backed by a wider system-based approach. This means that children’s and
adults’ services must have arrangements in place to assess carers, including young
carers to ensure that no young person’s life is unnecessarily restricted because they
are providing significant care to an adult.

The Children and Families Act ensures that all children, young people and their
families are able to access the right support and provision to meet their needs.

Under The Care Act, any carer can request an assessment, they will however be
subject to eligibility criteria in respect of accessing publicly funded services.

The Care Act places a duty on local authorities to:

Prevent, reduce and delay the need for support, including the needs of carers.
e Provide information and advice to carers in relation to their caring role and their
own needs; and
e Work together with NHS partners and others in delivering the Care Act
functions.

The Department of Health and Social Care’s ‘Next Steps to put People at the Heart of
Care — A plan for adult social care system reform 2023 to 2024 and 2024 to 2025’
acknowledges: “There are key gaps in the evidence base surrounding the
circumstances, experiences and needs of unpaid carers in England. We are taking
steps towards implementing a new survey of unpaid carers which would capture the
data and evidence needed to address these gaps.”

The NHS Long Term Plan (LTP) makes a clear commitment to identify and support
unpaid carers. There are clear metrics associated with supporting young carers and
ensuring professionals can access carer contingency plans when they need to.

While caring is not a protected characteristic under the Equality Act 2010 it is, to some
extent, covered under Section 13 which looks at ‘discrimination by association’. There
are currently campaigns asking for caring to become the 10t protected characteristic
under the law.

2 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/care-act-2014-part-1-factsheets/care-act-
factsheets#factsheet-8-the-law-for-carers
3 http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2014/6/contents/enacted

5|Page



Page 171

National charities set up to support and campaign for the continued rights of carers
across the UK communicate the value of the role and its impact those who
undertake it.

The Carers Trust state that: “Although for many carers, caring can have positive and
rewarding aspects, there are lots of reasons why caring can also leave you needing

support.

“Caring can have an impact on many aspects of your life.”

Carers UK maintain that: “Carers are holding families together, enabling those they
care for to get the most out of life, making an enormous contribution to society and
saving the economy billions of pounds.

“Yet many are stretched to the limit — juggling care with work and family life,
struggling to make ends meet and often battling with poor health themselves. *

1.3 Local Context

Halton has a number of local strategies and policy documents that are key drivers in
areas of priority for health and social care. Public Health evidence and intelligence
reports and data for the borough indicate a wide range of inequalities and impactors
on the local population, including communities with high levels of deprivation and lower
than national average life expectancy, dependant of where people live.

The population of Halton (128,432 in 2018%) is predominantly homogeneous in relation
to protected characteristics such as ethnicity, faith and sexual orientation, though it is
recognised that there are key minority groups within Halton.

Halton is an industrial and logistics hub with a higher proportion of people working in
manufacturing (particularly chemicals and advanced manufacturing), wholesale and
retail, and transport and storage compared to the average for England. Less than 60%
of the working age population of Halton are economically active®.

4 Local Area Profiles and data for Runcorn and Widnes (halton.gov.uk)
5 Local Area Profiles and data for Runcorn and Widnes (halton.gov.uk)

6|Page



Page 172

2.0ne Halton

One Halton is the place-based partnership between the local authority, NHS
organisations and the voluntary and community sector. The aim of One Halton is to
fulfil a commitment to whole ‘system’ working for the benefit of the people of the
borough.

In developing a shared strategy for the carers across Halton we have a mutual
understanding of the needs and ambitions of carers and can work collectively to
achieve common goals.

One Halton Vision

“To improve the health and wellbeing of the population of Halton by empowering and
supporting local people from the start to the end of their lives by preventing ill health,
promoting self-care and independence, arranging local, community-based support and
ensuring high quality services for those who need them.”

Halton Borough Council is responsible, through legislation, for assessing and
supporting the needs of carers, through its social care functions. In Halton it is
recognised that caring responsibilities affect people across all aspects of their lives
and a partnership approach to supporting carers is key to maintaining their wellbeing.
All partners within One Halton have a responsibility to consider the needs and rights
of carers as part of their services and functions.

3. Halton Carers Centre

Halton Carers Centre, as the primary voluntary sector organisation offering support to
carers in the borough, receives pooled funding from Halton Borough Council and
Cheshire and Merseyside Integrated Care Board to maintain services. Halton Carers
Centre is a network partner of the Carers Trust. It also manages other funding streams
for targeted activity.

Halton Carers Centre works alongside a range of other partners to identify carers,
assess their needs and provide support and timely interventions. They work with
unpaid carers of all ages to help them manage their caring role, have some time to
themselves and stay well.

For more information about Halton Carers Centre and its holistic service offer visit:

www.haltoncarers.co.uk

7|Page



Page 173

‘T am thankful that I interacted with the Halton Carers
Centre as I know they will always do their best to help
me.’

‘T really enjoy the holistic treatments I have in the
centre and feel like the hour for myself does benefit me
so much for my week ahead.'

8|Page



Page 174

4.\What do we know about Carers in Halton?

In 2021, 4.6 per cent of Halton residents (aged five years and over) reported providing
up to 19 hours of unpaid care each week. This figure decreased from 6.8 per cent in
2011. However, Halton were in the top five authorities in England of those aged 5
years and over providing unpaid care.

The 2021 Census was undertaken during the coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic. This
may have influenced how people perceived and managed their provision of unpaid
care, and therefore may have affected how people chose to respond. However, Halton
Carers Centre have also been proactive in identifying carers and encouraging them to
identify themselves as a carer. In this sense, the figures may represent invaluable
insight into the extent of caring in Halton.

Indicator Percentage - Halton | Number - Halton
2021 Census 2021 Census

Provides 1 — 19 hours unpaid care a week | 4.6% 5,660

Provides 20-49 hours unpaid care a week | 2.7% 3,322

Provides 50 or more hours unpaid care a | 4.0% 4,747

week

In Halton there are currently 5,566 carers who are registered with Halton Carers
Centre and receive support from them. This shows that there are many more carers
out there who have not identified themselves as a carer or have not registered with
the Carers Centre.

The Carers Centre collate information on a regular basis and the information below is
a snapshot of their data, based on a few different categories, to give an overview of
what we know about Halton’s carers. Below is a breakdown of all carers in Halton
(registered with the Carers Centre) covering gender, ethnicity and age of carers in
Halton as of February 2023. The data shows us that although the majority of carers in
Halton are from a White British background, there are at least 12 other ethnicities of
carers, and cultural differences and intersectionality need to consider when working
with carers.

Gender

Age
Male Carers 1,749
Female Carers | 3,811 0 — 17 years old 899
Non-Binary 1 18 — 64 yearsold | 3,374
Prefer not to |5 65 plus 1,293
say Total 5,566
Total 5,566

9|Page



Page 175

Ethnicity

Asian Bangladeshi |3 |AsianChinese |1 |
BlackAfrican |6 |BlackOther |29 |
NotStated |2 | |

10|Page



Page 176

Myth buster - Is it true that if | register as a carer, | won’t be able to stay employed or
continue studying?

Caring can of course be hard and time-consuming, so often people find it hard to
continue working or studying. But the truth is, registering as a carer means you can
get access to the support you need to enable you to continue working, studying and

caring, if that is something you wish to continue. Carers often tell us they want to stay
in employment or continue their academic or career paths, and the support and advice
we offer can help you achieve this.

iy

Quote from former carers:

Halton Carers Centre continue to support carers for a further 12 months following the
loss of their loved ones, giving them chance to readjust as their caring role end and
their new circumstances develop.

'l enjoy our once-a-month meeting

groups and our days out; we have

food and chat. It really is a lovely
group to be part of.'




Page 177

Case Study from Age UK Mid-Mersey

Female Carer aged 88 lives in Runcorn cares for her husband 92, for many years
her husband as suffered from prostate cancer and was diagnosed with Dementia/
Alzheimer’s 9 months ago.

They have been married for over 66 years, they have two sons, one who lives in
the South of England and one who lives more local but works fulltime, is married
and has his own family.

The couple both worked all their lives and lived a comfortable lifestyle which
included being part of many local social groups and being members of the golf
club.

A couple of years ago her husband’s health started to deteriorate due to memory
issues, he started requiring support with everyday activities and needed to be
prompted to complete simple personal tasks or to go out socially.

Caring for her husband had a detrimental effect on her health she started to suffer
from severe anxiety, she stopped attending her social groups, playing golf, and
meeting up with friends. Over time she became isolated.

She was referred to us via her GP. Within 5 days of referral, she was contacted
by an adult carer support worker who completed the registration process over the

phone. In this conversation we discussed how she was coping, her feelings and
anxieties and what support she needed.

The Carer said she would feel very nervous about attending the centre to access
services as she was nervous going somewhere new and joining an established
group. We instead invited her to pop into the centre when she was next in the Old
Town to meet the staff and have a look around the centre without any expectation
of joining an activity. She subsequently did this and just asked if she could
introduce herself to the worker she had talked to on the phoned. We gradually
encouraged her to join in other activities and since then, she has felt confident to
attend therapies, podiatry, had a full health check, attend carers forums and has
applied for Carers Break Funding to help pay for a gardener. She also attends
our dementia carers group and often calls in with her husband for a coffee and
chat telling us she feels very welcome.

As well as accessing the therapies, podiatry and funding, since registering with
the centre, carer has also been referred to Welfare Rights for support with
applying for Attendance Allowance which was awarded. She recently told us she
feels she has enough confidence to return to the golf club not to play but to visit
the ladies there. Carer was offered a Carers Assessment to discuss any additional
support available but declined, at present she feels confident in caring role and
able to continue.

12|Page



Page 178

"Spaau sialeo Jo uouboosl
pue saoIAIes Jo abpajmouy oljgnd paseaiou|

"90IAIBS IXe] dady ypm

s}a|jes| aABY OS|e 243U JaJed uojeH ‘weibeisu| pue
Japimy ‘Yoogaoe4 Buipnjoul ‘swioe|d eipasw |e1o0s poob
aAeY [10UNo0) ybnolog uojeH pue ajua) siale) uoyeH

yodsuels] Ajunwiwon

s Ixe|

olpey] [ed07

BIPSN [E100S

sdoig sng

'seale Buimojjoy sy}
Buipnjoul -peaidsapim aiow
2q 0} sJaJed punole Ayolqngd

"'Spaau UMo Jiay} asiubooal

0} sJaJed Jo sdnoub oyoads djay suoissas pajabie |
'Jo aleme Ajsnoinalid j,uaiam Asy) 82IA18S 0] SS820E
wiay} Buinib ‘siaied Jo uoleoluSpI 19)}eg Sa|qeus
salabins 4o uiyym aosuasaid einbai e Buiney

‘syjuow Jayuim ay} buninp pajs|dwod uoisses

nj} pue saLebins ul pjay aJe suoissas yoeauno Jeinbay
"a1ud)) By} JO YIOM By}

ajowold op Asy} ‘1onamoy ‘uojeH ssoloe salabins 4o
BUO INg || Ul JBYIOAA YUIT 45 aAeY aJ4jua) Jale) uojeH

sauabing 4o uiyim
sJaled Jo ssauaieme Buisiel
pue Buueys uonewlou|

‘uole|osl
Buionpal 0} Aay sI JJosInoA 0} saoue}SWNAIID

Jejiwis ul ale gidoad Jayo ey Buisijeal

se sJaled BunoA Jayjo 198w 0} pue unj aney o}
sJaied BunoA uoy aoeds e apinoid 0y si Ajuoud Asy v
'/ 1L-G pabe siaied BunoA

Jo} sa01MSS Jo abuel e Jayo anua) sialed uojeH

‘sJa1ed BunoA uoddns pue Ajjuapi 0} ‘sjooyos
Ul YyoBasno ul paAjoAul AjaAljoe ale oym siayiom Joddns
Ja1ed BunoA aauy} Aojdwa mou aljua) Jaied uojeH

sJaled BunoA jo ssaualeme
ajowo.d 0} s|ooyds ul BuiIopp

"s|enpliAipul Joj awi} Jybu
2y} 1e paulwlialep Jayeq ag ueo diay ybu ay) pue
payiuapl ale saynol sjeliaal pue shkemyied adines

"SJ9JEed JO Spaau 8y} SsaIppe pue
uonewlojul aleys 0} pjay ale yjjesH pue [1ouno) ybnolog

"SPaaUu SJSIBD }99W 0} SBOINISS 0] SSa20. uojjeH ‘asjua) siale) uojeH ‘suonesiuebiQ 10}09g sJouped
ojeldosdde pue Ajpwy spoddns Bunpom uiop | Asejunjop yum sbunnesw dnois) Abajens s.Jaie) Jeinbay | ssoioe Buiyiom juiol panoidu)
¢S121B0 10} SOWIODIN0 Y} aIe JeYAA EN ples noA

"UO}|eH SSOJOE SJaJeD JO SBAI| 8Y} J8)}8q O} PaA3IYOe Usa(g aABY SBWOIIN0
a|qenjeA awos AuAnoe juswdojaaap pauueld pue yJom diysisuped ybnoly) ‘€20zZ-020Z polad ay) palanod Abajens sialed ise| oy

A3e1811S S J8]eD) 1Sk] JN0 82UIS SS8I180.4d °S



Page 179

ebedl|yl

‘wiayj poddns
0] 9|ge|lene Sa2IAIaS 3y} pue ‘Slaled Jo spasu
pue Ss|aAg] 8y} JO B1eMe aloW ale sjeuoissajold SHN

‘une|ing a1en Alewlid ay) uil sjuodal pue sdo) 10} awi}
Buiuies| pajosjoud Buiuueld aie am piemio) Bulos ‘yels
SHN Jo} suoissas Buialug ‘spodal pue ainjels)l] a4ua)
slalen uojeH Jo uonenod apim Yybnoiy) suop sem siy|

"J9J0 a)ua) sIsIe) ay}
pue siaied [eo0] JO Jjyoid 8y} asealoul 0} a)uad) siale)
uojjeH Ypm paylom aney apisAssialy pue allysayd SHN

‘uoljenyis uo ajep o} dn
AjIny Buiaq Jou s82IA18S SHN

‘paie|osi ss9| |99} pue Joddns
pue S92IN0SaJ 0} SSO00R dARY SJaJED BljuUsWa(

‘ue|d uoljoe uoyeH Ajpuali4 enuawag

apm-|1ouno?) e pajdope sey [1ounod) ybnolog uojjeH
"SS900€ 0} 10} paled ay} pue siaied yjoq Joy dn }os ussq
aney saje) enuawa paseq-Ajunwwod Jo Jaquinu
'A121008 s Jawisyzly

ybnolyj ‘siaied 0} 9|qejiene adInIeS AIOSIAPY eljuawa(
'sdnolg) siaie) eluawaq pue Buluiely ‘aaInpe

pue uoneuwoju| Buipnjoul ‘sisied BljUSWSP IO} PasIAap
sSuoluUaAIS)UI Jo 3buel e sey a.jua)) siaie) uojeH

sJaleo
eluawap Joj poddns a0

'9j04 Bules

J18y}) wouy Buynsal spasu Buliagjam umo aisyj 0}
uoljejal Ul saoinosal pue pyoddns 0} ssaooe aAey pue
sJaled se Ajipuapl ajdoad Jap|o JO slaquinu pasealdu|

"8J1udd SJaJed
ay} yum uonensibal abeinosus pue salyjiqisuodsal Buled
Ajjuapi 01 ajdoad usap|o yum yiom AssIs|N-pIN MN o8By
"2IUdD) s Jaie) ay}

ybnouy} poddns Jo 10adse ||e 0] SSa20e aABY SIaJed I1ap|0

slaleo
J13p|0 1o} Joddns pasealou|

‘uoljewliojul @sIou0d pue Jea|d 0} SSa0Jk pasealou|

"a0e|d auo ojul ‘way} ssadoe 0} Moy pue ‘saniunuoddo
ajdsal Jjle sbuug yoiym Aojjod aydsay sielojoang
S)NpY Mau B pasinap pey [louno?d ybnolog uo)eH

Buioog-aid Jo swia}
ul Ajleoadsa ale) ajdsay
1o abuel pue Ajjigejieny

"aAIjoe Ajjeoiwouods ay) deay 0} loddns pue siaied
10 spaau Bulaq|iam ay} Jo uoiyubooal panoiduw

1o ssao01d mainal ay} ybnouyy pasiel si pasu Siy} ‘siaied
Bupjiom Joy Aoeoonpe sapinoid ajua) siaie) uojeH

‘pebeuew pue }jaw pue spasu buiagjjem umo "paaU JO JUBWISSASSY Slale) e Buimoj|oy sjuswAed
JIdY} Moy 9S00y 0} Sialed Joy Awouolne Jgjealn) 91q1B12 ale Aay} JI sjuswAed J0aliq SS920. URD Siaie) 10241 yum poddns alopy
ui dosp @ouepinb pue adiape ‘ojul uno ybnouy) uojeH

ulyum suolnesiuebio ui sisie)
Bunjiopp Joy poddns ushojdwig




Page 180

ebed]|gl

‘sJ9ad yum asijeloos
pue yeaiq e aney ued ‘spouad Buoj Joy jusied
J18y}) 8Aes| 0] 9|ge aq Jou Aew oym siaied Buno

‘papinold si [eaw B pue 9|qISSa09. ‘9al) ale SaIAIOY
'sJajed BunoA se yons “Heaiq e }o6 Jou asIMIBYI0 pjnom
oym ajdoad BunoA je pawie si pun4 AjAiOYy AepijoH 8yl
"syealq jooyos Buunp uojeH sso.oe aoe|d aye} 0} SaljiAloe
Jo abues e uoISSILWOD aAey [1DunNo) ybnoiog uoyeH

yoddns ybnous
10U ‘sassau||l [eaisAyd aney
oym ajdoad ‘synpe Buno A

'SJ2Jed 0} [e1olauaq a4 [|IM 92IAISS 9|qISSadoe
alow e pue sjuswjuiodde 0} SS800E pasealou|

"'GZ/¥720Z 10} ue|d Juswanoidw] uswdojaasg
90IAISS S)SNJI| BY} uo salnjes) Aneipod pue s|gejiene
opew Buleq mou ase sjuswjuiodde jeuonippy ‘pesu
Ul }SOW 9SOy} 10} SS900B AjoWI} 2INSUS 0} SI M3IASI By}
Jo siseydwa a8y "92IAIaS By} MaIABI 0} ‘ISni] Uolepuno
SHN 2J1eoyyeaH Alunwwo? Jayemabplg ‘1spinoid ao1AI9s
8y} yum payiom aney apishasialy pue aiysayd SHN

pPagLIosSgns JaA0
ale syjuswjuiodde Aneipod

‘'s1auped 3S4DA Jo Buiquosaud
[e100s se yons Joddns jeuonippe 0} pajoalip
aq uay} ued pue aonoeld sy} Ag pauiuapl ale siaie)

‘uoddns
Jeuonippe 0} ssadoe ypm dipy Aew pue ‘waisAs ay) uo
pabbo| aq 0} |[nyjosn si )i se Jaie) e ale Aay} jey} ao1joeud
JI3Y} Wioul ‘Janemoy ‘ued sialed ‘pasu |edluljd uo paseq
aq 0} aAey sjuswiuiodde ‘siaseo 1oy sjuswjulodde aspoud
0] 9|qissod jou SI ) Jey} punoy sem ) ‘Aj@leunyuoiun

sjuswiulodde Ayond
Jo} seuabing 4o 1e sisi| Jaied

‘Buiaqom
UMO 118y} Ja)e yoo| 0} Ayunyuoddo ue Buipinoad
‘S9OINIBS aInsIg] DgH 0] SS820e aAeY SIaie)

"SpJed aInsig)
00} O unJ [eniul ue yum papinoid usaq sey asua) siaie)

ple) ainsia
uojjeH Sse yons — salyjioey}
alnsia| 0} ssa20e 8sIdlgnd




Page 181

ebed]|al

'S|ooyos ||e Joj Juswabebus ul 'sJa1ed BunoA uoddns pue Ajiuspl 0}
(uoneonp3) 1ouno) | syuswanocidwl Je Y0O| 0} ‘uoisIncid pue uoISN|oUl ‘UOIBONPD | SUOISSAS YIBallno Ja)IoM Jaied BunoA
ybnolog uoyeH / anuad siale) uoyeH 10} QO ‘lIBMed [IIf Yum jesw 0} aanua) Jaie)d uojeH yum Buibebus ale sjooyos |le JON
‘Buinl] o 1s09 ay} Loddns 0} o51gnd ay}
0} 9|qISSa20E Spuny [euolippE Joy uonjowold sialed pajebie |
‘suoiesiuebio 10j0as Aiejunjoa uolnewoul
- swloy wiep syeuag yum poddns o} Ayoeded ulejuiely  jeloueul 0} SS900e  ypm  Joddng
‘'salousbe Jauped |le ybnouyl apew swes)
sljouag aJej|opN O} Spew S|eliajal — uoljesiwixew s}iauag

[\

‘passalboid aq ued asayj moy

a]elojoallq saljiwe pue | pue s|eLlayal YIM Sanss| Ssnosip 0} JeD-1 Yjim yiom pajabie |

ualpjiyD pue ajelojoalid SHnpy — [IouUno) "sabueyo Buiyess Jo
ybnolog uojeH / alua) siale) uojeH | uoieIapIsuod ul Buiobuo — paseys UoEWLIoUl PUE SI9)JOM 0}
paJlanijap aq 0} suonejuasald Joy saniunuoddo jo uoubooay

"siale)
predun o} s|gejieAe poddns pue aiua)
sJaied uojeH Jo 8joJ ay} O} se swes |
ale) |elo0S WOl SSaualemMe JO yoeT

'sialed asiubooal 0}
subiedwed pue AlAIOE 89npoJdod 0] S19JeD UMOUY YJIM MJOAA "S9OINISS 0]} UMOUY
‘papoddns spasu Bulag|em UMO JIay} dABY O}  Jou ale 9SOy} JO 000‘g J9A0 punoie
Ja)s1bal pue uoinquUuod J1vy} asiubooal 0] siaied abeinodous  ‘UojeH Ul S181ed 000‘C | JOAO ale aIsy}
Iy 01 saouabe Jsuped ||e ssoioe salialoe jeuonjowold Jsayung  Mouy am :siaied uapply, BulAmuspi

(2 uonoag aas) sanjesWBY)
sJajed wouy pauleb yoeqpas) sjuasaldal pue uojeH auQ ssoJoe diysiauped ul pasinap usaq sey Abajesis siyy Joy ueid Aiaalsp ay

/20Z-7720T Ueld JonlaQ sialed uoljeH auQ ‘9



Page 182

ebedl] .l

IV / ®u8) siale) uojeH

[V / ®4ud) siaie)d uojeH

[V / 81U siaie)d uojeH

g0| opishasia
pue aaysay) / |1ounod) ybnoiog uoyeH

SyJIomjau
dO / 901 opishasiay pue aiysay)

‘suonesiueblo
pue saoe|dyiom Jo abuel e yum spybl pue spsau
sJaled Jo ssauaieme asiel 0} sdiysiauped SSoIoe YIOAN

sAep ssauaieMe slaled Pa)eIDOSSE JBYJ0 pue Yas)\) slaie)
[BUOIIEN JO} SJUSAS puE SBI)IAIJOE Pa)JeulpIo0d pue pauueld

‘Buieg-|jam Jaieo buinoidwi je pawie saljiAoe jo swwelboid
PaLEA B J9JJ0 0} SNUIUOD 0} BJjUd) SIale) uojeH

"Sp@au JIay} 0} ualsi|
0} sialed yym uoipnpoldoo ul Bupjiom ‘sjepow aydsal Joy
saiunuoddo BuluoissIWWOoD pue uoisiAcid Jusino ajenjen]

‘paJsaisibal
pue payjuapl aJe sI9Jed aInsud 0]} saibsjesis asinap
0] SHIOM]BU S YIM YIom 0} g9)| apisAasialy pue aliyssyd

sybu pue spasu
sialed Jo DBuipuejsispun sgakoldwg

SJaJed Jo spaau
ay} Bunowoud pue ssaualeme Buisiey

‘Buieg-|jlom anoidwi 0} pue siaied
10} SSauIjduo| adnpal 0} saiunuoddO

‘eale ay)
ul ajgejieAe aydsal a|ge)00g-ald ou si
alay| ‘sJaled o) sanunuoddo sydsay

‘'saliebins
dO yum siaied piedun Buusisibal
o} ainpaooud pasiplepue)s ou si a1ay |



'$salls JO s|oA9| Yybiy pue Bulaq|om [euoiows 100d Y)Im ‘SaAjasway)
0] awn 9y bBuiney pue painy ‘Asng Buidsy 0} pauodes siale)

"SOA|
Aep-01-Aep Jiay) pajosyje Jaied e Bulaq moy ssaldxa 0} a|qe aiam Aay)
Alng 10 ay1 ayy ul Aep e, Buisn "uoyeH ui Jaied e Buiaq Jo seousladxe
J1ay} Jnoge e} 0} Ajunuoddo ay) usAlb alam Aay) 38} sialed "uojeH
¥ Ul Jou Jo Bupiom S| [98) SJaied Jeyp\, :SEM JUBAS SIU) JO Wy} ay|
: =

Page 183

"apew a(q 0} paau |1} Sjuswaroldwi Jeym pue sialed 1o} buppom
SEM JeUyM UO Snooj e sem alay) Abajels snoinaud ayj woly uo Buimojjo4

"‘@ouBpUB)IE Ul JOABI\ BY} Yum ‘Aep ay} uo }no uiny poob e
MES U2IUM ‘JUSAS 8U} 0} Pa}IAUL BJam a1jua) s Jale) ay} 0} UMoUy Siaie)
"SBUPIAA Ul Aupuno4 ay} Je adejd Y00} Ydiym wnio4 sJate) e pasiueblio
llouno) ybnosog uojeH pue anua) sJtated oy €202 AeN n€Z uo

JUSAJ UOnEBNSU0) slaleDL'L
‘ABajes)s sIy) Ojul pasy 0} SIaJed Jo SMaIA 8y} ainjded 0} £Z0z Buunp aoe(d usye) 8ABY SJUBAS JUSIBYIP JO Jaquinu v

slalen 01 3uluaisi] pue SUIAJOAU| “/



Page 184

eabedl|el

‘Buissaooud
JaxoInb wouy Jeuaq pjnom ‘Ayjbus|
9Q ueo ssao0.d a8y} LedH-1 0} 488l DOH
uaym jsed ay} u| ‘siaied 0} aAIb ued
} yoddns ay} pue aJjua) siaie) uojeH
JO 9j0J 8y} buipiebal swes) Aioinieys
1sbuowe papasu ssausleme aI0|\

‘suonesiueblio
diyssauped e
ssouoe sialed Joj yoddns
0} SS820E U0 papirold
9Q UBD Uoljew.oul Jdyun4

‘o|qe|ieAe
aq Buipuny pjnoys
‘Buisienpe jJo uonesijin
"Spaau sJaied aJ0W 98q p|noo 818y
BunoA yum pabebus
aJe S|ooyos ||e JON

‘diysisuped
3y} Ul paA|OAUl salouabe
[IB yum sialed piedun
Bulieysibau 10} ainpaso.d
pasipiepuels ON Yim
pabebus aie sjooyos ||e 10N

‘poo]siapun

aJe sjybu sisied ainsus
0} UojjeH ui siekojdwg
YlIM ssaualeme asiey

¢sdeb Buiuiewal ay) ale aleym ‘ABajel)s 1se| oy} 9ouIS YIOM WolH



Page 185

sbedl|og

gulagnem anoldwi pue uny aaey o3l saniunuoddQ - Y19

saniunuoddo ajldsal aloj - U1S

Ssaulau0)] 8onpal 01 saniunuoddQ - Yyiy

S9oUBUIJ 01 SS800E puB 1N0ge UonBWIOoU| - PIS

92IAPE pUB UOIBWIOJUI 0] SS820Y - pUZ

90I0A Si8leo/siaied 01 uluL1SIT -1S|

"aAnoJdwi 0} pajuem Aay) Jeym asijlioud 0} payse alam siale)

ZUojJeH ul sialed Joj anoidwi 0} spaau Jeypn




Page 186

so10uady Alo1ne1s 1oddns 1884 paseqJaded /1aui0 aunuo al11ua) siaied uoneH Alwe4 / spuali4 101095 10A / S8neyD

c1oddng 1o) 08 Aig saop a1aypn

vl LL 14 LL L 14 9 € S 14 Sl jejolm
all 9ssal gwainoud mmw_mw_m_c 19 mco_wwm_ﬂm@o gunejos In Sunensn. sl Asn
paJiL p 1S yNesH UMo 1 nows 1o Yl 11e108] nny ensniq Jeloueul4 d

Y1IM Sanss|

umQ

$198) Alig pip moH




Page 187

sbedlze

sanssieloueul) Anenb3
a1dsay uIpNIoUI ‘S10108) JBUOIINIIASU| 92IAPY PUB UoleuIoU| SHN Sulpn)oul ‘s8921AI9S 01 SS800Y / Sulisiel Ssaualeme pue aoue1dedoy
d 3 ‘ 3 ‘ 3 d

2 A1g J0] 818810 NOA p1nom sadueyd 1eYym P1IOM 8l pajnJt NoA J|

‘ueBbaq ,sIslIO BuIAl| Jo 1809, By} SoUIS
0s aJow pue olwapued ayy aouls AjJejnoiled ‘@sayl UO UOHEBULIOJUI OU IO 33} SBM 818y} Jey) SUISOU0D a1am alay] "siaied Bujiom Bunosye
SjeuUSa( JBYlo pue 80UBMO||Y SJaJe) punole sanssi Jejnoiled ul ‘Bulied 0} SWEeD Ul USYM UJSOUOD B 819M SSOUBUL JeU) [[e WOJ) Jeajo Sem }|

‘'suolesiueblio asay} Jo swWos Y)m sanssi aney Aay) ey |98} pue poddns Joy suonesiuebio Alojniels joejuod oy AjeyI ss9|
ale sialen ‘suonesiueblio 10}0as AlBjun|oA pue anua) siale) uoyeH AQq pamojjo) ‘spually pue Ajiue) wody ulew ay} ul 3ybnos sem uoddng



Page 188

ebedl|ez

‘Aneroueuly sgeuew
0} 91ge aq pue 3upjJOM BNUIU0D
‘wayl paau Aayl uaym syealq
198 ‘sdiysuoinejas yoddns ‘Suiaqgnam

‘op Aay1 1eym uinjea A;unood Jisyl
JO JuUBWuUIBA03 8yl pue AJlunww oo
‘slaquiaw Ajlwie) 1aylo ‘sadIAIeSs
‘angnd ayl sueaw sy} ‘sialed o]

"1918D B SE paljlluapl pue pasiugooal
8uleg pue gulieo ynoge guipueisiapun
211gnd ay3 sueaw siy3 ‘siaied 0|

:91qISIA

pue yneay Jiayy109104d 01 uo
pue uoddns ‘@alApe ‘uollewojul
31193 Aay1 1ey) sueaw siy} ‘sisied o| ‘panjep

:payioddng
:papoddng pue panjeA ‘9|qISIA SI Buled jeyy ains Bujew ul Aejd 0} 8|01 e sey auoAians jey) jey) analjeq saljiuey 39ap\ siaie) ayl

"sJaJed 1o} JapJley oyl Bunjew s BuiAll Jo S}S00 pasealoul Jo ainssald pappe ay] "sabus|ieyo
weoyiubis 8ok} 0} anunuod Asyy |98) Aayy pue ‘punojold si olwspued ay) jo Aoebs| ayy ‘sialed o) . QINOD Yum Bulal, ale Asy) jey)
pue dn pauado, sey pliom ay} ey} [98) Aew sjdoad Auew a|IyAA “ases 10} a1eo Aayy uosiad ay) buidesy pue QIAQD 10O Ysu pue Allom pappe
ay} pue buoje uayo adod 0} yo| Buleq siaied ‘umop BuNys saoIAIas Yum ‘sialed piedun Joj ybnoy Ajjeroadse sem ) oiwspued ayy BuunQg

"papoddns
pue panje) o|qISIA bule)) a3ey\ ‘wodad Z0zz Y9N Slaied ay) 0} Buipiodoe ‘aled apinoid 0} aAey Jybiw am uaym Jo1pald 03 a|qissodwl
S}l pue }I Joj paledaid aie sn JO Ma} JoABMOY ‘SBAI| Jno Ul Julod Bwos je aduauadxa ||IM Sn JO Jsow Jey) Bulylewos si )| "sedueul) pue
sawooul ‘sdiysuonejas ‘yiom pied ul 8q o} Ayjige ‘Bulagem pue yyeay joaye ued }| ‘Jueoiiubis pue punojoid aq ued Buueo jo syedwn ay |

€C0C PN\ SIBIEeD CT'L

‘uoissajoud Bulieo ayy ul Jsuped jenba ue se pajdesoe aq 0} — pieay 92I0A 418y} dABY pue
uosJad ey Jnoge uonewlojul pue abpajmouy ay) aAey Aay) ey paydasoe aq 0} ‘10} aled Aayy uosiad ay) yum syjuswuiodde Buipuape uaym
pue ‘aouasge Jiayy ul papirosd Buiaq si yoddns ejeudosdde aoueinsseas ay) aAey Aayj ‘awl Jo pouad Jabuoj e 1oj Aeme aq 0} paau Aay)
pINOYs jey) os uosiad 1o} paied J1ay) Jo) 8)dsal 0] $S829. Sy} apIsbuoly “seAjasway) 40} sjuswuiodde 0} Buiob uaym awiy pajiwi| sey Jaied
ay} 1ey} uonubooal 9| Sem aiay) 1By} pajou sem ]| “sisij/sawiy Buniem Buoj InoYylm Sa2IAISS 0]} SS820E dABY 0} 9|ge 8q 0} Juem siale)



Page 189

eabed|ye

sjuswiuloddy uonexejay
uoissag gunelooaq aye) siaied
(z1-6 u10oUNyY epsy) yoeannQ
€20¢ aunr uis Aepli

sJale) 1o} syuswnuioddy Aneipod

(¢-1181nua)
laie) uoljeH) ea] uooulayy siale)

(Z1-01 1eudsoH uoneH) yoeannQ
)09y YleaH siaied
€20c aunr yi£ Aepsaupap

sjuswiuloddy Aneipod pue A30j0xa)jaYy
dnoig awi]-Y siaied Sunop
(1 1-61ed UneaH usal9 ysnoH) yoeanno
£20¢ aunr Y18 Aepsiny

uioouny dnolus uoddng 11U SIBIBD

€¢0c aunr yig Aepsan]

‘sl1aled 10} Sal)AIIOE JO Jaquinu e pajel|ioe) aijua) siaie) Uo)eH ‘€Z0Z Yoo siaie) Buung



Page 190

ebedl|gz

SuoISUad
9 MIOM\ JO} UOl|eH. é
Juswipeda( 191905
¥ smbe vy | SADWIBYZ]Y
ay3 buipoa
SS0IQPaHUSIUg + o
e sinabo ,
UOYDY AHUNWILIOTD PUD AJDJUNIOA % ~ bl suazip Rasiap piw -
Sus|aH {S '® UO}|DH

1snyl
SHIAUVYI

40 JBULIEY HIOMIEN ¥

meuww apishasiap _o:m 2A1Ysayd ._.I.._...lﬂ
NOL1VH ;_-

TINN02 HONCYOd egpdssabaggs | Ve
NOLIVH UHOHEH--C)

i

SjusWwagpa)moud|oe pue siauled Aaanaq — ASe1ens siaie)




Total No of

Monthly amount More than No of adult No of young

24-25 £250 £200 £150 £110 £100 £50 Total carers carers carers
awarded £250 awarded
awarded awarded .
break funding
April 21,960 60 13 5 1 23 24 126 79 47 126
May 21,750 53 12 6 39 26 136 71 65 136
June 20,300.00 47 15 4 27 46 139 66 73 139
July 11,050.00 29 7 4 14 8 62 40 22 62
August 19,750.00 46 23 5 26 6 106 74 32 106
September 16,700.00 40 14 25 28 107 54 53 107
October
November
December
January
February
March
Total 111,510 - 275 84 24 1 154 138 676 384 292 676

T6T abed



Page 192 Agenda Item 5e

REPORT TO: Health Policy and Performance Board

DATE: 26" November 2024

REPORTING OFFICER: Executive Director Adult Services

PORTFOLIO: Adult Social Care

SUBJECT: HSAB Annual Report 2023-24

WARD(S) Borough wide

1.0 PURPOSE OF THE REPORT

1.1 To provide the Board with a copy of the Halton Safeguarding Adults
Board Annual Report 2023-24.

2.0 RECOMMENDATION: That
1) thereport be noted; and
2) the Board approves the Annual Report for publication

3.0 SUPPORTING INFORMATION

3.1 Under the Care Act 2014, Safeguarding Adults Boards are
responsible for producing an Annual Report setting out their
achievements of the SAB and highlighting priorities for the following
year.

3.2 The HSAB Annual Report has been developed in conjunction with
HSAB partners to ensure the report encompasses a multi-agency
approach. The Annual Report includes performance data and
comparisons between years, achievements in the year and
highlights areas of good practice regarding safeguarding in the
borough.

3.3 Once approved, the Annual Report will be published widely and
shared with HSAB member organisations through the SAB Board
meetings.

4.0 POLICY IMPLICATIONS

4.1 The HSAB Annual Report is in line with current regulations and
guidance from the Care Act 2014.

5.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

5.1

None identified.



6.0

6.1

6.2

6.3

6.4

6.5

6.6

7.0

7.1

8.0

8.1
9.0

9.1

10.0

10.1

Page 193

IMPLICATIONS FOR THE COUNCIL’S

Improving Health, Promoting Wellbeing and Supporting Greater
Independence

This document is an important part of the safeguarding policy
framework ensuring that the Council fulfils its statutory obligations, in
line with the Care Act 2014.

Building a Strong, Sustainable Local Economy
None.

Supporting Children, Young People and Families
None.

Tackling Inequality and Helping Those Who Are Most In Need
This document is an important part of the safeguarding policy

framework ensuring that the Council fulfils its statutory obligations, in
line with the Care Act 2014.

Working Towards a Greener Future
None.

Valuing and Appreciating Halton and Our Community
None.

Risk Analysis

Halton Safeguarding Adults Board strives to show improvement in
fulfilling its statutory duties and a dedication to seeking and
providing the best possible care and support to protect those
members of our community that need it.

EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY ISSUES

None identified.

CLIMATE CHANGE IMPLICATIONS
None identified.

LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS UNDER SECTION 100D OF
THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972

None under the meaning of the Act.



Halton Safeguardin

~ Report April 202

-

u

=

—

3
= 4

B

s

du oard Annual
3 - March 2024_

- —




Contents Page

Page Page
Number Number

Message from the Chair

Key Safeguarding Facts 2023/24

Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards

Overview of the Board

Priorities for 2023/24

HSAB Achievements 2023/24

Partner Achievements

Policy, Procedure & Practice Sub Group Update

Safeguarding Adult Review Sub Group Update

10

14

30

31

HALTON
SAFEGUARDING
ADULTS

Performance, Quality Assurance & Audit Sub Group Update

Partnership Forum Update

HSAB Strategic Planning Event

National Safeguarding Week 2023

Multi Agency Audits

Right Care Right Person

Case Study

33

34

35

37

38

40

G6T abed



HALTON
SAFEGUARDING

Message from the Chair

BOAF

| am very pleased to present the annual report of  Adults in Halton. By working together, we can
Halton Safeguarding Adult Board for 2023/24. The continue to improve the lives and outcomes of many
report is an opportunity to share the work of the of our vulnerable residents.

Board more widely and it provides an overview of the
progress and achievements made during this 12
month period which | hope you will find informative
and useful.

| look forward to working with you all again this year.

During this year we have embedded the new i)
: @

structure of our Board and sub groups and it has Q

worked well. We remain committed to ensuring that =

safeguarding is “Everyone’s Business” across Halton. Sue Wallace-Bonner o

The context of our work over the next year will be to Executive Director, Adults

focus on our strategic priorities for 2024/25 as agreed Directorate Halton Borough Council

at the Strategic Planning Event, with all sub groups
playing a critical role in achieving our outcomes.

Finally | would like to extend my thanks to all those
who continue to work hard to support the Board and
their continued commitment and focus on
safeguarding



HALTON

Key Safeguarding Facts 2023-24 sarcouarsaes

BOARD

809 Safeguarding Concerns raised during the year 5
26 /0 Decrease in the number of concerns

raised, down from 1096 last year

327 became S42 enquiries
&

25% Decrease in the number which

progressed to S42 enquiries, down from 436
last year

More women than men were alleged victims

Q

[
H
©
\l

a

18-64 65-84 85+ 179 167
The age groups of people who had Concluded S42 enquiries Concluded S42 enquiries involved Concluded S42 enquiry allegations
safeguarding concerns raised on their behalf involved allegations of neglect allegations of physical abuse occurred in victim’s own home

455 White Britich In Halton, an adult at risk is most likely to be a female aged 65 or over

12 Black & Minority Ethnic

living in their own home and will suffer from neglect or acts of omission

Ethnicity of those who had safeguarding concerns perpetratEd by a service prowder
raised on their behalf 4




HALTON

Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards R EGTARDRG
(DolLS) i

1080 applications received

21% increase in the number of DolLS applications received last year,
up from 894 in 2022/23

@ L
57% of applications 43% of applications
received for females received for males

Applications for 65-74 Applications for 75-84 Applications for 85+ age
age group age group group
5

86T abed

Applications for 18-64

age group



Overview of the Board

What is Halton Safeguarding Adults Board?

Halton Safeguarding Adults Board (HSAB) is a statutory partnership
between the Local Authority, Cheshire Police, NHS, Fire Service and
other organisations who work with adults with care and support needs
in our Borough.

The role of the Board is to make sure that there are arrangements in
Halton that work well to help protect adults with care and support
needs from abuse and neglect.

The Board and its Duties

Main SAB Objective To assure itself that local
safeguarding arrangements and
partners act to help and protect
adults in its area who meet the
safeguarding adult criteria

3 Core Duties 1. Publish an Annual Report
2. Publish a Strategic Plan

3. Conduct Safeguarding Adult
Reviews

HALTON
SAFEGUARDING

ADULTS
BOARD

What is our vision?

“Our vision is that people with care and support needs in
Halton are able to live their lives free from abuse and

harm”
Halton Safeguarding Adults Board

Halton Safeguarding Adults Board strives to show improvement in
fulfilling its statutory duties and a dedication to seeking and providimg
the best possible care and support to protect those members or gir

community that need it. ®
H
What does Safeguarding Adults mean? S

Safeguarding adults means stopping or preventing abuse or neglect of
adults with care and support needs.

Adults with care and support needs are aged 18 and over and may:
+** Have a learning disability

¢ Have a mental health need or dementia disorder

+** Have a long or short term illness

¢ Have an addiction to a substance or alcohol

+* And/or are elderly or frail due to ill health, disability or a mental
illness
6



Overview of the Board

Halton Safeguarding Adults Board Structure

Health & Wellbeing
Board and Health

PPB

Health Group

(joint with LSCB
and Warrington)

HALTON
SAFEGUARDING
ADULTS

BOARD

Halton
Safeguarding J

Executive Board,
Management Team
and ASC SMT

Adults Board

Executive
Group

Partnership
Forum

Policy, Practice
& Procedure
Group

Safeguarding Task and

A(g::)R;:':: Finish Groups

Performance,
QA & Audits

Service User
groups

Provider

Faith Sector

and Carers groups

Engagement

Reflective practice
& improvements,
policies, Annual
Report, Strategic
plan

Analysis of KPls,
programme of
audits, QA
services,

SARs and As and when
learning from required

local &

national SARs

training plan

00z abed



Overview of the Board

Who are HSAB'’s partner organisations?

NHS

Bridgewater

Community Healthcare
NHS Foundation Trust

o
HALTON

BOROUGH COUNCIL

NHS

Cheshire and Merseyside

J“) Mid Mersey
ageuk

healthwatch

Halton

NHS

Mersey Care
NHS Foundation Trust

.. Cheshire
y i Constabulary

"t

@ CHESHIRE
&L FIRE & RESCUE SERYICE

NHS

Warrington and Halton
Teaching Hospitals

MNHS Foundation Trust

HALTON
SAFEGUARDING

SAFEGUARDING
PARTNERSHIP

HM Prison &
Probation Service

NHS

Mersey and West Lancashire

Teaching Hospitals
MHS Trust

TOg abed



Priorities for 2023-24

HALTON

e e
' B k)

Quality Assurance

Ensuring internal quality
assurance frameworks are in
place

Ensuring any identified
learning is shared

Review of the safeguarding
adults audit processes within
Halton

Sharing of information across
HSAB members and provider
services

Ensure all agencies promote a
Making Safeguarding
Personal approach

Ensure that there is effective
communication of training

Co-production & Engagement

Ensuring HSAB partner
agencies have learning and
professional development
opportunities in place for their
individual workforce

Ensure there is a consistency
and standardisation of
safeguarding practice across
Halton

Learning & Professional
development

skills studum
office =111 Management knowledge

e | RAINING
I]E\IIEl[lPMtNT

shralgy professional drecticn
EHiEHEI‘II[;lps 00 )

soliion

4

Reassurance that
safeguarding approaches are
developed actively includingg
representation from all key&
areas 2)
Ensure that the voice of
people who use services are
heard, are involved in
developing policy and are at
the centre of any health and
social care intervention
ensuring their rights, wishes
and feelings are at the heart
of the decision making

process




HALTON
SAFEGUARDING
ADULTS

HSAB Achievements 2023/24

Quality Assurance Ensuring internal quality assurance frameworks are in  Following a restructure of HSAB and its sub groups, the

place Board now has a clear reporting structure in place which
ensures that work programmes are closely monitored
and any issues are identified and resolved quickly.

Share identified learning The Safeguarding Policy, Procedure & Practice Sub
Group ensures that any lessons learned or areas of good
practice are shared and adopted where possible. ;?

Q

Review of the safeguarding adults audit processes The Safeguarding Adult Case File Audit policy was 2,

within Halton reviewed and updated in July 2022. There have been

multi-agency audits held during the year. The themes for
the audits were: Self-Neglect; Neglect and Acts of
Omission and Emergency Duty Team

Sharing of information across HSAB members and The Chairs of each sub group are asked to share
provider services information within their groups on a regular basis, with
quarterly reports presented to the main Board.

10



HSAB Achievements 2023/24

HALTON
SAFEGUARDING
ADULTS

What we said we’d do What we did

Co Production & Engagement

HSAB partner agencies to have learning and
professional development opportunities in place for
their individual workforce

Consistency and standardisation of safeguarding
practice across Halton

All agencies to promote a Making Safeguarding
Personal approach

An annual training programme is developed and
delivered on behalf of the board, which is available to all
partner agencies. A HSAB Members Induction Pack has
also been developed so all members are clear about
their role and responsibilities.

All policy and procedure documents, toolkits and
strategies developed in relation to adult safeguarding g-?
are agreed by HSAB and the relevant sub groups. All S
policies are reviewed on a 3 yearly basis ,, or earlier if ¥
required, to ensure they are reflective of current =
processes and legislation

Making Safeguarding Personal is at the centre of all
safeguarding practice in Halton, with a survey completed
at the end of each S42 enquiry. Our multi-agency audits
have found good evidence of Making Safeguarding
Personal embedded in safeguarding working practices.

11



HSAB Achievements 2023/24

Co Production & Engagement

Implement effective communication of training
opportunities within HSAB members and partner
agencies

Support the development of good multi-agency
practice, sharing best practice, lessons learned and
have the confidence to challenge decision making

Support adults at risk, informal carers and families
with safeguarding and ensuring that they feel support
within the safeguarding process

HALTON
SAFEGUARDING
ADULTS

m P
=gt o | ;v-"'lb
-

s L B

What we said we’d do What we did

An annual training programme is developed and
delivered on behalf of the board, which is available to all
partner agencies.

The Safeguarding Policy, Procedure & Practice Sub
Group ensures that any lessons learned or areas of good
practice are shared and adopted where possible.
&
HSAB Partnership Forum have developed a ®
Communications & Engagement Strategy for 2022-24 S
) : : a1
and action plan for delivery with partners.

By adopting the Making Safeguarding Personal approach
to safeguarding practice in Halton, to ensures the adult
at risk is at the centre of all decisions and are supported
to ensure their desired outcomes are met.

HSAB Partnership Forum led on the compilation,
distribution and evaluation of an adult safeguarding
awareness survey to support engagement with service
users, family members/carers and the public regarding
feedback on safeguarding services, to help shape
services in the future. 12



HSAB Achievements 2023/24

HALTON
SAFEGUARDING

ADULTS

What we said we'd do What we did
Reassurances that safeguarding approaches are Development of New Safeguarding Case File Audit
[ process was shared and tested with practitioners and
managers including the Partnership Forum members in

Learning & Professional
developed actively including representation from all

Development
key areas

skills studu =
ill anagement knowledge

office
- mulrﬁa‘llun B2
nu:mlmn _ leadership
Emmse _’u EV[ ln PM tN.I.
direction

- Strategy profess
E,Hﬂﬂﬂrﬂﬂﬁlessun g
rent &

E .
B ZICCess

snlnimn

Ensure that the voice of people who use services are
heard, are involved in developing policy and are at
the centre of any health and social care intervention
ensuring their rights, wishes and feelings are at the

hear of the decision making process

advance of implementation in July 2022. Partner
representatives also invited to participate in mult-
agency audits, with representatives from partner

agencies given the opportunity to act as Lead Auditorsm
g

N
o
(0))

Engagement survey /questionnaire was created and
distributed in September 2022 through the SAB
Partnership Forum for people who use services linked to
safeguarding. Feedback was used to inform the

Communication & Engagement Strategy

13



Partner Achievements 2023/24 EE—

| |
p— 0,

Quality Assurance

Halton Borough Council has continued to support the work of Halton
Safeguarding adults Board and it’s sub groups this year. The Board and
all of it’s sub groups include at least two members of Halton Borough
staff on each group.

The multi-agency safeguarding file audits continued this year with 3
audits completed as follows:

April 2023 — Self-Neglect
September 2023 — Neglect and Acts of Omission in a person’s home
March 2024 — Emergency Duty Team

The audits have been well attended and have received positive
feedback from Auditors and practitioners involved. As a result of the
audit on Self-Neglect, the Multi Agency Risk Assessment Management
Policy (MARAM) was developed in Halton and is in the process of being
implemented in the borough.

As a result of the work plans undertaken by the HSAB sub groups, the
Multi Agency Public Protection Arrangements policy (MAPPA) was
updated and agreed by the Board. The Safeguarding Adult Review

HALTON

Sub Group have agreed and implemented a new Safeguarding Adult
Review Policy which has been endorsed by Board members.

The Safeguarding Thresholds document was also revised and updated
to ensure that all partners wishing to raise a safeguarding concern are
clear about what action will be taken and by which team.

Co-Production & Engagement -
The work that has been led by Halton Borough Council this year =
includes the planning and hosting of the HSAB Strategic Planning EVGI&.
This is an annual planning event that takes places every December an®
provides an opportunity for the Board members to contribute to
priority setting for the Board and it’s sub groups for the forthcoming
year.

National Safeguarding Week was supported once again this year, with a
series of Lunch & Learn events on various aspects of safeguarding
hosted online. A pop up event was held in Widnes Market to raise
awareness of safeguarding and was supported by several HSAB partner
agencies. A radio broadcast was also recorded and played on hospital



Partner Achievements 2023/24

Halton Borough Council continued:

radio throughout the week to raise awareness of how people can
identify possible signs of abuse and who to contact if they are
concerned.

Learning & Professional Development
Halton Safeguarding Adults Board subsidises a small programme of
training to enhance opportunity and access to learning across Halton.

All training is now face-to-face and this training is offered free of charge
to those living and working in Halton and who have a direct
involvement in the care and support of adults with additional needs.
This includes volunteers, carers, those employed through a personal
budget and those who use services. Courses cover local process, policy
and protocol and are not relevant to those out of area.

The courses that are provided throughout the year are as follows:
» Safeguarding Adults — Awareness and Responsibilities

> Provider-led concerns and enquiries

» Mental Capacity Act — working with capacity assessments

> Self-Neglect Awareness

» Financial Abuse

HALTON
SAFEGUARDING
ADULTS

s -
HALTON

BOROUGH COUNCIL

80¢ abed

15



Partner Achievements 2023/24

Quality Assurance

NHS Cheshire & Merseyside Integrated Care Board (C&M ICB) Halton
Place has received regular safeguarding assurance from NHS
commissioned health providers. Safeguarding activity across Halton’s
large NHS Trusts has remained at a raised level throughout the year.
NHS internal Trust Safeguarding Teams support and guide NHS staff
with complex concerns ensuring appropriate actions are taken. Activity
to NHS internal Trust Safeguarding Teams is consistently high,
demonstrating that patient facing staff are identifying and acting on
concerns. Trust staff follow internal safeguarding pathways to access
expert safeguarding advice within the organisations. This has led to a
high percentage of referrals from health converting into section 42
safeguarding enquiries.

The large NHS Trusts complete an annual safeguarding audit and
assurance programme, there is a continuous cycle of improvement and
strengthening of processes. This is supported by Specialist
Safeguarding Teams, policy updates, mandatory and additional training
around themes and emerging topics. During 2023/24, Bridgewater
Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust conducted a safeguarding conference,
topics included Trauma Informed Practice, All Age Exploitation and

HALTON
SAFEGUARDING

Organisational Safety.

NHS Cheshire & Merseyside ICB (Halton) and Provider Trusts have
engaged in all multi-agency audit workstreams during 2023/24, this has
led to learning being cascaded across Halton and the local health
economy.

=
A safeguarding health data stream was developed during 2023/24, thiss
illustrates safeguarding training levels and safeguarding activity at tryss
level, for the three large trusts that serve Halton residents. This =
provides a level of assurance regarding safeguarding knowledge and

practices at the trusts.

NHS C&M ICB staff continue to support the health function across the
region. There are several workstreams developing and strengthening
practice, and areas include Mental Capacity, Prevent, LeDeR and
information sharing pathways.

There has been a focus on Primary Care support with a programme of
education in the form of training sessions, online platform and local



Partner Achievements 2023/24 S

updates being provided. A Named GP was appointed to cover Halton
earlier this year and this has strengthened the system.

Health continues to support the provision to Daresbury Initial
Accommodation Centre. The system has flexed to accommodate the
changing nature of the centre. From the changes to population and
demographic now present at the centre to issues such as management,
treatment and containment of a TB outbreak during 2023. The health
system alongside partners adapted to effectively deal with the
situation.

Learning from Lives and Deaths (LeDeR)

The LeDeR programme is subject to robust quality assurance. All
reviews are quality assured by the senior reviewer and Local Area
Contact. Focus reviews are all taken for discussion and approval via the
C&M LeDeR Review Panel. In addition, a random sample is reviewed
each quarter by NHS England and a North West Quality Panel.

Co-Production & Engagement
NHS C&M ICB and health providers have worked in partnership with

other key partners to support Daresbury Initial Accommodation Centre.

HALTON

The system has flexed to accommodate the changing nature of the
centre. From the changes to population and demographic now present
at the centre to issues such as management, treatment and
containment of outbreaks during 2023. The health system alongside
partners adapted to effectively deal with the situation. Monthly health
meetings are ongoing in addition health joining partners at quarterly
and reactive meetings as required.

NHS C&M ICB and health providers have worked collaboratively with
Halton Borough Council safeguarding colleagues and the HSAB
partnership on all subgroup areas. This includes participated in task
and finish groups, audit workstreams and National Safeguarding Adults
Week.

o
jab)

Q
D
N
=
o

Health have supported all multi-agency audit workstreams during
2023/24, with health representatives acting as lead auditors on several
audits.

Learning from Lives and Deaths (LeDeR)
The NHS C&M LeDeR programme works closely with experts by




Partner Achievements 2023/24

experience, parents and carers. The C&M LeDeR Review Panel is
supported by experts by experience and a parent representative. C&M
undertook a conference in 2023 with NW Pathways to share LeDeR
learning and undertook a morning of group work with people with a
learning disability on keeping healthy and looking after your health.
C&M LeDeR programme is working with People First Merseyside to plan
several lunch and learn sessions for Quarter 3 and a face to face
awareness raising session all related to End of Life/Advanced Care
Planning and supporting their work on Dignity and Voices in Dying.

Learning & Professional Development

C&M ICB continue to support Primary Care colleagues via safeguarding
themed webinars, NHS Futures Platform, monthly safeguarding
newsletters and a Quarterly Primary Care Forum. The forum has been
delivered by the Halton Safeguarding Named GP with support from the
Halton Designated Nurses.

Prevent training with Halton Primary Care has been a focus during the
later part of 2023, and this has led to additional sessions being offered
to Primary Care Staff.

HALTON
SAFEGUARDING

C&M NHS Trusts have continued to prioritise Mental Capacity Act
adherence and strive to support and educate staff around the Act. The
C&M Mental Capacity Act Forum meets bi-monthly. The group is
attended by NHS Trust providers and Designated Safeguarding Adult
representatives. The group acts as a network, sharing national and
local resources and devising strategies to strengthen practice across
the region. T

@
C&M Designated Professional and Named GP’s have formed a netwo%
The group meet bi-monthly reports and information are shared, NHSE
safeguarding regional team attend and take relevant information back
to the National Team.

Learning from Lives and Deaths (LeDeR)

The C&M LeDeR specialist service has now been in operation for over
12 months. Analysis of information/learning gained, has led to the
production of a workplan for 2024/25. There are several improvement
areas for action.

A C&M LeDeR forum has been in operation with meetings taking place



Partner Achievements 2023/24

quarterly. The meeting is well attended and open to all.

A North West workstream has been set up which will focus on obesity
and weight management and dysphagia — in particular choking deaths.

Organisational Activity

Since the transition from Clinical Commissioning Groups to Cheshire
and Merseyside Integrated Care Board the organisations safeguarding
provision across the region has commenced a process of alignment.
Processes and practices are being reviewed with the aim of finding best
practice and sharing and standardising this across the region.

During 2023/24, the large provider Key Performance indicator tool was
implemented, which allows organisations to be mapped across the
region, trends and patterns and risks can be drawn from the data. The
intelligence gained will assist in future planning around risks, training
and work streams.

Following completion of a comprehensive Domestic Abuse mapping
application, C&M ICB were successful in gaining 12 months funding to
pilot the IRIS (Identification and Referral to Improve Safety) scheme

HALTON
SAFEGUARDING

Cipperae s

across Halton Primary Care services. IRIS is a specialist domestic
violence and abuse (DVA) training, support and referral programme for
General Practices. It is a partnership between health and the specialist
DVA sector. C&M ICB Halton Primary Care services and Halton
Domestic Abuse service are working in partnership to implement this
programme.

ZT¢ abed

NHS

Cheshire and Merseyside



Partner Achievements 2023/24 o

NHS |

Quality Assurance

During 2023/24, the Trust has been able to provide significant
assurance around safeguarding governance, policies and procedures,
supervision and multi-agency engagement.

Feedback received from C&M ICB, indicated that our commissioners
recognise and value the contribution the Trust makes to local multi-
agency safeguarding arrangements and the support from the
safeguarding team in providing support and supervision to staff to
manage or prevent safeguarding situations from occurring by gaining
support and decreasing risk at an early stage.

Good safeguarding practice identified throughout the year included:

* Examples of professional curiosity

e Multi-disciplinary team (MDT) working across teams and agencies
Relationship building and maintaining contact with service user over
a prolonged period of time

* Person-centered working and building up a trusting relationship

* Evidence of innovative working to try and build upon engagement
with service user

HALTON
SAFEGUARDING

Audits

The Trust has also contributed to all of the HSAB multi-agency audits
during 2023/24 on Self-neglect; Neglect and acts of omission in a
person’s home and the Emergency Duty Team.

Internally a Mental Capacity Act Compliance (re)Audit showed a
significant improvement in the quality of assessments

Z obed

HSAB Engagement
The Trust actively contributes to HSAB and Board Level and within theéo
Partnership Forum, Performance, Quality Assurance and Audit and SAR
sub-groups alongside working with Halton Domestic Abuse Partnership
Board

Learning & Professional Development

The Trust achieved over 90% compliance in all adult safeguarding
training at the end of Quarter 2 and have maintained that level of
compliance since. In addition to delivering Level 3 safeguarding
training, our Safeguarding Teams have delivered a variety of bespoke
training sessions responsive to service needs as well as supporting the
delivery of multi-agency safeguarding training.



Partner Achievements 2023/24

NHS |

Bridgewvater

Community Healthcar
MNHS Foundation Tru

Safeguarding Conference

The first annual Trust Safeguarding Conference took place on Thursday

239 November 2023 with the theme of “Trauma Informed Practice”
with presentations from Trust staff followed by an afternoon talk by

‘Lads Like Us’. There were 50 attendees in the room and over 70 online

tickets booked. Comments included:

“Mike from Lads Like Us was totally inspirational and made it so clear

to understand the impact of trauma in really tangible terms and the
way that we, as practitioners, can work to create positive impact
within that context”

“| definitely feel more capable of considering the impact trauma can
have on people when | am having conversations with them”

Organisational Activity

* The Trust’s Safeguarding Adults Team were winners in the
Bridgewater Annual Staff Awards. The awards panel: “A critical
function, the Safeguarding Adults Team have made safeguarding
a core business across the Trust”

» Safeguarding oversight of all patient safety incidents and
investigations within the Trust

HALTON

Building on the success of the HiCaFS service, the Trust has worked
with partners to introduce a Halton virtual ward model. This will
allow people to get the care they need at home, safely and
conveniently, rather than being in hospital

The Quality Review Visits have started to take place across the Trust.
The Bridgewater Quality Review tool includes 12 standards basedg‘?
on the CQC new single assessment framework including
safeguarding.

The Trust has started work with the Advancing Quality Alliance tom
develop “Lived Experience Panels” across our services including the
internal Trust LD Improvement Group and Think Local Act Personal
The Safeguarding Adults Team are engaged with groups set up to
improve the care of people with a learning disability

The Trust’s Safeguarding twitter account @BWSafeguarding is used
to engage with patients, staff and the wider public.

The Trust developed and launched a Care and Support Assessment
Tool — Supporting Patients in Developing Treatment Plans
Procedure. This compliments safeguarding activity relating to self-
neglect and Making Safeguarding Personal.

Q
D
N



Partner Achievements 2023/24 S

healthhwatch

Halton

Quality Assurance

* All public feedback we receive on health and social care services is
reviewed to highlight and report any safeguarding concerns

* This year we carried out a series of ‘Listening Events’ at local
hospital sites to gather people’s experiences of care at these
services and monitor the quality of care and services, which
includes assessing safeguarding practices. During these events we
heard from over 320 people

* We carried out four ‘Enter and View’ visits to local care homes to
view the quality of care provided to residents. Reports and
recommendations from these visits are sent to service providers
and commissioners to highlight good practice and areas for
improvement

* We hold weekly outreach sessions at community venues across
Halton which we also use to raise awareness of the role the public
can play in safeguarding

* We continue to have representation at a wide range of stakeholder
meetings which allows for regular sharing of information

HALTON

Co-Production & Engagement

We engaged with Halton Safeguarding Adults Board in the
promotion of Safeguarding Adults Week with our e-bulletin, website
and social media. We joined with other organisations to support
the safeguarding week pop-up event at Widnes Market

Working with Healthwatch Warrington we have carried out a
project to look at the experiences of people being discharged fromg
inpatient stays at Warrington & Halton Hospitals. The report a
includes a number of recommendations to improve the dischargec,f,
experience of patients =
We have represented Healthwatch across Cheshire & Merseyside at
meetings to review NHS Trusts Equality Delivery System (EDS)
reports. The main purpose of the EDS is to help local people with
characteristics protected by the Equality Act 2010

Access to NHS dental services continues to be a concern for many
vulnerable local residents. Through our sessions with local asylum
support groups we’ve helped support people suffering serious
dental issues to obtain NHS dental treatment

Our Advocacy Hub Team Lead attends monthly safeguarding
meetings at Gateway Recovery Hospital with external parties such

as the Safeguarding Team and the Police. From this we now



HALTON

Partner Achievements 2023/24 e

receive updates from the Safeguarding Team to advise of safeguarding  Learning & Professional Development

enquiries and to support any enquiries not received from the hospital All Healthwatch Halton staff and advisory board members take partin a
to be supported. The Halton advocacy service also receives range of online e-learning sessions in subjects such as Diversity,
notifications of seclusion notices and Long Term Segregation (LTS) from Inclusion & Belonging and Adult and Child Safeguarding Levels 1 and 2.
both hospitals (Gateway Recovery Hospital and the Brooker Centre) In addition, our Advocacy Hub Team regularly undertake advocacy

and this allows for IMHA (Independent Mental Health Act) support to qualifications across different elements of the statutory services

be offered in a timely manner. We also attend the Mental Health Law Healthwatch Halton provides.
Governance Group from Merseycare due to providing IMHA support at
the Brooker Centre.
* Halton Advocacy provide IMHA support at the Gateway Recovery
Hospital in Widnes covering 6 units (3 female and 3 male) and at the
Brooker Centre in Runcorn covering 2 wards (1 female 1 male).
Halton Advocacy have a presence on each ward or unit each week. h lt h t h
In the last reporting year 266 referrals were received between the 2 !a w c
hospitals and this excludes the seclusion alerts and LTS notifications Halton
* As well as supporting safeguarding concerns or alerts within secure
settings the advocacy service supports Care Act referrals for
safeguarding enquiries and reviews. These can be in a variety of
locations such as the community, care homes and hospital settings

9T¢ abed



Partner Achievements 2023/24

Quality Assurance

Mersey Care Fountation Trust (MCFT) has supported HSAB with the
multi-agency audits, acting as lead auditors. The audits have resulted in
learning such as implementation of the Multi Agency Risk Assessment
Management (MARAM) procedure and learning around Making
Safeguarding Personal.

MCFT is represented on the Quality Assurance Sub Group.

MCFT undertake audits of practice within the footprint of the Trust,
including Halton, which results in action plans to further strengthen
safeguarding practice. During 2023/24 we have completed audits on:
Domestic Abuse, Appropriateness of safeguarding referrals to the Local
Authorities (which included a review of the effectiveness of
Safeguarding Duty Hub), self-neglect and Making Safeguarding
Personal. Each audit has highlighted good practice, but areas for
improvement and learning which has been set out within action plans.
Learning has included: development and launching Domestic Abuse
Practice Guidance, development of training & supervision sessions,
updating safeguarding recording documents, update Safeguarding Duty

HALTON
SAFEGUARDING

Hub practice etc.

Learning from each audit has been added to the agenda for team
specific safeguarding adults supervision as a briefing to ensure learning
is shared with frontline practitioners.

Co-Production & Engagement
MCFT has support the Task and Finish Group for Domestic Abuse an
Older Adults.

)T abed

MCFT delivers an internal training package on Making Safeguarding
Personal (MSP), and we completed an audit on MSP during Quarter 2
2023/24, reviewing how MCFT practitioners applies MSP in practice
which resulted in the MSP training package being further developed.

Learning & Professional Development

MCFT supported HSAB during Safeguarding Adults Week, delivering
Trauma Informed Safeguarding Practice training. MCFT was part of the
HSAB National Safeguarding Adults Week Task and Finish Group.



HALTON

Partner Achievements 2023/24 oreemE

m P
=gt o | ;v-"'lb
-

s L B

MCEFT has been part of the HSAB MARAM Task and Finish Group. MCFT ¢ Self-neglect

have delivered training internally to promote the newly created HSAB * (Care Act 2014 and making good safeguarding referrals
MARAM process within Halton and supported the development of a 7 * Coercive and controlling behaviour

minute briefing as well as a HSAB training package. * Exploitation

MCFT has a modular training offer each year, which is accessible for The sessions have been very well attended.
MCEFT Halton practitioners. During National Safeguarding Week, MCFT

delivered a number of sessions covering aspects of safeguarding

highlighted as concerns raised by our practitioners.

8T¢ abed

All our teams in Halton have 3 monthly Safeguarding Adults Supervision

where further professional development is provided on safeguarding

matters. MCFT has put significant work in to put this into place this m
year after writing our Safeguarding Adults Supervision Standard MEFSE}" Care

Operating Procedure. NHS Foundation Trust

MCEFT Safeguarding Adults Service provide Thematic Group Supervision
which is available to all adult practitioners across the Trust footprint.
Sessions have included:

25



Partner Achievements 2023/24

HM Prison &
Probation Service

Quality Assurance
We continue to undertake monthly quality assurance activity across the
service, this is internal activity alongside regular audits and inspection.

Across the Probation Delivery Unit, our quality is good in comparison to
other delivery units across the North West.

Regionally we are prioritizing quality improvement over the next 12
months and have developed a quality improvement plan which is
currently being implemented.

Co-Production & Engagement

We have a defined engaging people on probation strategy and have
identified leads in Halton. The co-production activity is undertaken
both nationally and regionally, via focused groups and forums.

We are holding our inaugural people on probation awards ceremony in
April 2024 in Halton and are seeking nominations from all probation
practitioners.

HALTON
SAFEGUARDING

Learning & Professional Development

As part of our quality improvement focus, internally we have developed
a Learning & Development plan to support the improvements needed.
Probation practitioners also attend the CPD and training events
delivered by the partnership.

Organisational Activity

We continue to have strong MAPPA partnerships across Halton whic
enables us to manage the most complex and risky individuals
effectively.

6Tz abed

Integrated Offender Management works well across Halton with
excellent partnership working across key stakeholders. In particular
police, probation and CGL.

We have developed stronger processes to improve the management of
people convicted of sexual offences across Halton. We now meet
weekly with the Management of Sexual Offenders and Violent
Offenders (MOSOVOS) team to review and ensure all risks are being
managed effectively.



HALTON
SAFEGUARDING
ADULTS

Partner Achievements 2023/24
Probaion Servoominues: |

Our commissioned services continue to support individuals across our
caseloads focusing on the following areas:

* Finance benefit and debt

* Education training and employment

P e
* Personal wellbeing @

* Accommodation H M Prisgn &
We also commission a specific service for women which is delivered in : :
collaboration with Halton’s Women’s Centre. Prﬂbatan Servlce

0¢z abed

27



Partner Achievements 2023/24 S

NHS

Mersey and West Lancashire
Teaching Hospitals

NHS Trust

Quality Assurance

Mersey and West Lancashire Teaching Hospitals NHS Trust (MWL) have
an annual audit plan covering all aspects of safeguarding. 2023-24
captured safeguarding adult contacts into the safeguarding team, DolLS
and MCA Policy compliance and management for domestic abuse.

Learning and good practice is identified and shared within the
Safeguarding Assurance Group, training and supervision.

Co-Production & Engagement

During 2023-24, MWL safeguarding team have increased the
engagement of vulnerable adults, particularly patients with a learning
disability and/or autism, carers and families.

A guarterly patient experience meeting is now held, attended by
patients and carers, local support groups, safeguarding and learning
disability staff and patient experience teams.

This provided the opportunity for patients to share their experience,
both positive and negative. Action is taken, where possible, to improve

HALTON

Practice.

This forum is also used to share key information and updates from
guest speakers such as the local community Police Officers.

Learning & Professional Development g‘?
MWL has a specific training needs analysis which identifies competer@y
requirements for all staff within the Trust. In order to supportthe o
safeguarding adult agenda, staff are allocated training in the following'\a)
areas:

e Safeguarding Adults levels 1-4 (dependent on role)

* Mental Capacity

* Learning Disability

* Prevent

In addition, staff are provided ad hoc training in key area such as
domestic abuse, as well as the opportunity to attend any additional
training provided by the local safeguarding adult boards.



HALTON
SAFEGUARDING
ADULTS

Partner Achievements 2023/24

Mersey and West Lancashire Teaching Hospitals

NHS Trust continued:
Training compliance is monitored by the safeguarding team and * Strategy
reported monthly to Trust Board, as well as quarterly via the Key * Policies and Procedures
Performance Indicators to the Integrated Care Board, quality assured by ¢ Governance arrangements
local place Designated Nurses. * Staff role and responsibilities

* Training and multi-agency working ;?
Organisational Activity e
In July 2023, the legacy St Helens and Knowsley organization merged An overall rating of substantial assurance, with areas of high was IS
with Southport and Ormskirk. The safeguarding teams remain visible received. N

across all sites, all policies have been reviewed and harmonised and
opportunity taken to review process in order to streamline and improve
practice. MWL now supports five local Safeguarding Adults Board. m

Mersey and West Lancashire
Teaching Hospitals

MNHS Trust

During this reporting period an external safeguarding compliance audit
has been completed by MIAA (specialist provider of assurance and
solutions services to the NHS), this was a review of safeguarding
agenda across all sites. The key lines of enquiry focused on the
following areas:

29



HALTON

Policy, Practice & Procedure Sub Group s

Update

Chair: Marie Lynch — Operational Director, Care Management,
Safeguarding & Quality, Halton Borough Council

The Policy, Practice and Procedure Sub Group meets on a
guarterly basis.

This Sub Group has overseen the development and
implementation of the new MARAM policy (as a result of the
self-neglect multi-agency audit). The Financial Abuse Toolkit
(as a result of the multi-agency audit on financial abuse in
2022/23) and Modern Slavery Toolkit were also developed and
endorsed by the sub group.

Harmful Sexual Behaviour has been a key topic discussed by
this sub group during the year. There is a cohort of individuals
open to adult social care that may have a learning
disability/autism, that are engaging in potentially harmful
sexual behaviour, causing risk to themselves and/or others as
they are as risk of being enticed into engaging with vigilantes,
leading to threats of violence or criminal activity/behaviour.
Information on this topic will be included in updated
Safeguarding Policy and Procedures, a task and finish group

ADULTS

is also being set up to look at the development of a local
protocol on this subject.

This group also oversee the preparations for National
Safeguarding Week, which took place during 20th — 24th
November 2023. The theme for this year was Safeguarding
Yourself and Others. A series of lunch and learn events were
held during the week, a pop up event to raise awareness of
safeguarding and a radio broadcast was played throughout th
week on local hospital radio.

czz obed

30



HALTON

Safeguarding Adult Review Sub SAFEGUARDING

Group Update

Chair: Helen Moir - Divisional Manager Independent Living,
Halton Borough Council

Following the restructure of the sub groups the first meeting
took place on 2" February 2023 via MS Teams.

The HSAB Safeguarding Adult Review (SAR) Sub Group meets
on a quarterly basis.

Although the SAR Policy was not due for renewal until 2024, it
was felt that it needed to be reviewed due to the formation of
the new SAR Sub Group. The policy was subsequently
reviewed and updated and endorsed by Board members.

The standing items on the agenda for this sub group include:
e Update from Task & Finish Group re: Mervyn SAR

* Whorlton Hall SAR

* Published SARs

The group has also considered two SAR referrals made in
November 2022 and December 2023.

— e B - Ty r
|_-1;" =40
| 3 L "

| -

A 7 minute briefing has also been developed to help raise
awareness of what a Safeguarding Adult Review is and how to
make a referral.

This briefing has been shared with partners and has been added
to the HSAB website.

yze abed

31



Performance, Quality Assurance &

Audit Sub Group Update

Chair: Kersten Southcott - Detective Chief Inspector, Cheshire
Constabulary

HSAB Dashboard reviewed quarterly by group. Trends and
themes are identified. The data influences audit workstreames,
HSAB training provision and recommendations for policy
strengthening or development.

HSAB training offer was developed this year to increase skills,
knowledge and capability of the Halton workforce. Following
audit findings training was updated to strengthen self-neglect
awareness for staff.

The group has progressed and further developed data streams
to strengthen the HSAB Dashboard. A health data stream was
implemented from January 2024. This provides added
assurance regarding safeguarding assurance.

Safeguarding Multi-Agency audits have been completed for
the following areas:

* Emergency Duty Team
* Self-Neglect

* Neglect and Acts of Omission (in person’s own home)

HALTON
SAFEGUARDING

— e B - Ty r
|_-1;" =40
JoNa

.
e

Following the self-neglect multi-agency audit, the needs for a
MARAM process was identified. A Task and Finish Group has

taken this forward.

Gee abed

32



Partnership Forum Update

Chair: Mark Weights — CEO, Sustainable Housing Action
Partnership

The Partnership Forum meets on a quarterly basis and
includes membership from several partner agencies, voluntary
and third sector organisations and the faith sector. The
meetings are well attended.

A Prevention Strategy was developed on behalf of the
Partnership Forum. The action plan from this strategy is
included in the work plans for all sub groups to ensure that key
themes are embedded throughout our work.

The Communications and Engagement Strategy was updated
for 2023. The Partnership Forum are looking to hold an event
on awareness raising and a Task and Finish Group has also
been set up to look at awareness raising for domestic violence
in older people.

A newsletter is produced on behalf of the Partnership Forum
on a quarterly basis and is distributed to all HSAB Board
members and sub group members and published on the HSAB
website

HALTON
SAFEGUARDING

BOAF

The Partnership Forum supports National Safeguarding Week
on an annual basis.

The forum receives regular information updates from partner
agencies about the work they are involved in within the
borough relating to adult safeguarding and highlight any issues
to be escalated to the main board.

9¢e¢ abed

33



HALTON
SAFEGUARDING

HSAB Strategic Planning Event apuLTs.

The Strategic Planning Event was held on Thursday 18t January 2023 Steve Tingle — Care and Improvement Advisor for London, Local
at the Karalius Suite, DCBL Stadium Widnes. The event was attended Government Association facilitated the event on behalf of Halton

by representatives from the following organisations: Safeguarding Adults Board. The current issues and priorities for the
Board were discussed with the three main areas of focus highlighted
an as:
NHS| 3#% Cheshire . L . .
r\ ) .tB’ILdg‘ft‘ﬁate' Em“\ Constabulary . Ell"nsurmg that organisations have a quality assurance process in
HALTON o i roundation st~ . place

BOROUGH COUNCIL .
* Co-production and engagement

m w/# Mid Mers INHS | * Learning and professional development

Cheshire and Merseyside Jage UK oo Attendees were split into small working working groups to discuss
these main areas of focus. The feedback from these working groups
was used in order to develop a “Plan on a Page” to summarise the
main priorities for HSAB for 2024/25.

Bed

LCC®

NHS healthwatch
Mersey and West Lancashire b ot e A e
Halton N
Teaching Hospitals STR TEGIl mﬁwgsm

NHS Trust : PLANN'NG
!'é!%ﬂ STATEMENT

Local s S S EE;; IrIERNHL'\vaJ
DT GOAL
Government DHGANE#TIDN GIO N o )
[A)cellti_a_ Sing Association Rl L

34



HALTON
SAFEGUARDING

National Safeguarding Week apULTS

HSAB supports the National Safeguarding Adults Week on an annual The aim of the campaign this year was “Safeguarding Yourself and
basis, it took place this year during 20t" — 24th November 2023. The Others”. Each day during National Safeguarding Week focuses on a key
campaign came about through a national collaboration with Ann Craft theme, the daily themes for this year were as follows

Trust and the Safeguarding Adults Board Managers Network,

supported by University of Nottingham. Locally, HSAB collaborated

with the following statutory, private and voluntary services to help LEY)

raise awareness of National Safeguarding Week across Halton: Monday What is my role in
safeguarding adults?
r\ Tuesday Let’s start talking — Taking the D
mON_ " E!ZEB lead on safeguarding in your €
ersey Lare 0 .
BOROUGH COUNCIL NHS Foundation Trust Orga n |Sat|0n B
Mid M Wednesday Who cares for the carers? @
.J L erse R
J y healthwatch Secondary and Vicarious
age UK Halton Trauma
Thursday Adopting a Trauma Informed

Approach to Safeguarding

m m Adults

Bridgewater

Cheshire and Merseyside Community Healthcare Friday Listen, Learn, Lead — Co-
NHS Foundation Trust production with Experts by
Experience

35



HALTON
SAFEGUARDING

National Safeguarding Week abuLTs

The campaign consisted of:

] I
T |
ARE YO '|'\.'f'llHIHI AT P 4]

HSAB Website fully updated and has a dedicated National
Safeguarding Week tab with all information easily accessibIg

A pop up event held at Widnes Market to raise awareness of adult safeguarding

o
jabl
Q
D

A series of Lunch & Learn events were held online for
each of the daily themes for all HSAB Partner organisations to
attend

Mersey Gateway Bridge lit up in
HSAB colours to mark the start of

Lo . . il TN
n a (aj Daily social media messages published s ﬁﬁlmﬁ_‘l"‘fﬁl i {14 “‘tfﬁ_-._.‘_. B National Safeguarding Week
u on all HBC Social Media Platforms :

36



Multi-Agency Audits

HSAB implemented a new Safeguarding Case File Audit Policy
in July 2022. The aim of the policy is to provide a robust audit
process which is central to HSAB quality assurance system and
offers front line staff an opportunity to reflect in a safe
environment.

The safeguarding adults audits are centred on analysing
qguality with a view to gauging how effective our safeguarding
practice is, in improving outcomes for the service user. The
process is focused on learning and any recommendations are
monitored. The process does not focus on the individual
practitioners (although feedback will be given), but assists
senior and service managers by providing evidence of
recurring key issues/patterns or trends in safeguarding
practice across adult services, as a means of informing future
improvement and development.

The multi-agency audits took place in April 2023 with the
theme of Self-Neglect. Three cases were selected and as a
result of this audit, a new Multi Agency Risk Assessment
Management (MARAM) process was launched in Halton.

HALTON
SAFEGUARDING

BOAF

e S

The next round of multi-agency audits took place in September
2023. The theme for this audit was neglect and acts of omission
in a person’s own home. The following round of audits took
place in March 2024 with the theme being safeguarding
concerns initially received out of hours by the Emergency Duty
Team. No issues were found and the triage system for dealing
with safeguarding concerns works well across partners.

' )
0gz abed

37



Right Care Right Person

Right Care Right Person is an operating model designed to ensure that
when there are concerns for a person’s welfare linked to health and/or
social care, the right person with the right skills, training and
experience will respond to provide the best possible service.

The model was developed by Humberside Police and is being rolled out
nationally. It is currently being implemented across Cheshire using a
phased approach.

Protecting the public, especially those who are vulnerable, will always
be a core role of policing and this will be at the centre of any decisions
that Cheshire Police make about incidents reported. However, Police
Officers are often left looking after people with mental health or social
care needs who require specialist medical care that officers from
Cheshire Police cannot provide.

The Police will of course still be required to attend some incidents
alongside medical or mental health workers and Cheshire Constabulary
is fully committed to protecting people where there is an immediate
risk to like or a risk of serious harm.

Phase 1 relates to Concern for Welfare and went live in Cheshire on
Monday 8t January 2024. Further phases relating to the management
of mental health and missing persons will be implemented at a later
stage.

HALTON
SAFEGUARDING

ADULTS

What is Concern for Welfare?

In its simplest form it is concern for a person or group of people
expressed by another person or partner agency. Those concerns are
made directly or indirectly to the Police in the expectation that the
Police will assume responsibility and legal liability for those people and
seek to mitigate or minimize any apparent risk posed. This will usually
present as a request made via the Force Control Room for a welfare
check or visit to be made.

What is the change that you need to be aware of?

The Police will only attend a Concern for Welfare call for service if it i
deemed:

Te obed

» An immediate threat to life or serious harm
» A crime is reported
» Partnership staff are in danger of death or serious harm

» Police action is required to prevent a child from suffering significant
harm

Unless this threshold is reached the Police have no duty to act

38



HALTON
SAFEGUARDING

Right Care Right Person ADULTS

Referral Pathways

Cheshire Police will no longer act as incident co-ordinators for partners
or the public; instead people will be asked to call other service
providers who are best placed to respond to the person’s needs.
Cheshire Police will signpost callers to the local authority referral hubs

on their website: . .
t t Use the Right Service NHS'|

www.cheshire.police.uk/rcrp

For more information: — B 5
. . . AN + B S
The Right Care Right Person Team at Cheshire Constabulary can be | || El) g
contacted at the foIIowmg email address: Self Care Pharmacy NHS 111 GP Advice UTCs A&E or 999 %
. . . . Care for Local expert Non-emergency Out of hours: Urgent For
rl g htca re u rl g htpe rso n@Ch es h I re = DOI I ce = u k yourself at advice help Call 111 Treatment emergencies

home Centres only

The team shares regular information bulletins, meetings are also being
. . . . Minor cuts & grazes ilinesses eeling unwell? ‘ersisten oms reaks & sprains Choking
held at a strategic and tactical level and there is senior manager s ? e [ = Sl

Anxious? Long term conditions Cuts & grazes Blacking out

represe ntation frO m H d ItO n With i n these grou pS. Coughs and colds o ‘ Need hel;:r? New prescriptions Fever & rashes Serious blood loss

39


https://news.communications.halton.gov.uk/A6A524F547FD369711191DD77D64DC60795FC9F8C8A345AEB5D266FCDF292676/95A98DD24C7781AE1B24C747FF236F21/LE35
mailto:rightcare.rightperson@cheshire.police.uk

Case Study

Halton Borough Council Integrated Adult Safeguarding Unit (IASU)
make all safeguarding enquiries that are required for adults at risk who
are inpatients at Gateway Recovery Centre (GRC).

GRC is a locked rehab unit for patients with complex mental health
disorders. There are 6 separate wards, 3 for men and 3 for women.

Due to historic concerns around the safety of patients at GRC, IASU
have remained closely involved with the hospital in relation to the
safeguarding of patients, the raising of safeguarding concerns,
completing enquiries and offering advice and guidance in complex
situations. Also in order to identify safeguarding themes and trends.

IASU has a weekly safeguarding meeting with the safeguarding lead
and the lead social worker at the hospital, where updates are provided
on existing safeguarding enquiries and discussions are held around any
new concerns. In addition to this, there is a wide multi-disciplinary
team (MDT) meeting held on a monthly basis with IASU, Healthwatch
advocacy, Integrated Care Board Safeguarding Lead and a linked Police
Officer from Cheshire Police.

A safeguarding concern was raised by Aintree Hospital in relation to a
patient who had, whilst detained at GRC under Section 3 of the Mental
Health Act 1983, jumped from a bridge onto a carriageway below,
sustaining significant injuries as a result.

The referrer, reported that they had no details of the context of the
incident, however, they raised the safeguarding on the basis that the
patient had come to significant harm whilst an inpatient in a mental
health hospital.

HALTON
SAFE

= = = T

Upon making contact with the safeguarding lead at GRC, IASU was
advised that at the time of the incident, the patient was out of hospital
on Section 17 unescorted leave, which had been agreed by the patient’s
responsible clinician. IASU was also advised that the patient had been
using periods of unescorted leave for several months without incident
an that this incident was unexpected and unpredicted. 1ASU was further
advised that a ‘5 point risk assessment’ is carried out with all patients
prior to them leaving the hospital. IASU requested that the risk
assessment that was completed prior to the incident in question be
shared with the Unit as part of the safeguarding screening process.

It transpired that this particular patient had used two separate period$
of leave on the day of the incident, one at 4pm for 30 minutes in ordefP
to leave the perimeter of the hospital to smoke and a second period of3
leave at 6pm for 60 minutes in order to go to a nearby shop. This was®
usual for this patient and was written into care plans and agreed by
health professionals at the hospital.

IASU was initially sent the risk assessment that had been completed at
4pm — this showed that a risk assessment had been completed with the
patient at 4pm and had been inputted onto GRC database a few minutes
later. IASU realised that this was not the relevant risk assessment for
the incident and requested that the risk assessment that was carried out
at 6pm be shared with the Unit. When the risk assessment was received
it was noted that it was documented that whilst the risk assessment was
recorded to have taken place at 6pm (time inputted manually by
completing staff member) this was not inputted onto the database until
9pm (time stamp captured by database)

40



Case Study

As a result of this and IASU’s concern that perhaps the risk assessment
had not been done prior to the period of leave, it was felt that a S42
enquiry was needed to ensure that the documentation was not
completed retrospectively and therefore the risk could have been
identified earlier.

As a result of the local authority making a decision that a S42 enquiry
was required, GRC commenced an internal investigation which was
completed by an external professional, who is not based within the
hospital. The investigation, once completed, was shared with the local
authority for analysis and in order to inform the S42 safeguarding
enquiry.

The investigation was comprehensive and included an interview and
statement from the nurse in charge who completed the risk
assessment and a rationale as to why this was not inputted into the
database until later in the evening. It also demonstrated that care
plans, clinical notes, risk assessments and daily records were reviewed,
as was the process of risk assessments around Section 17 leave in
general.

In addition to the above, IASU was able to speak to the patient who
was recovering in hospital and discuss our concerns. As a result of the
conversation, it was confirmed by the patient that a risk assessment
was completed by the nurse in charge prior to leaving the hospital and
the patient admitted that at that time, they had not given any
indication that it was their plan to self-harm.

HALTON
SAFEGUARDING

The case study highlights how professional curiosity and clarifying
details can at times better ensure the safety and wellbeing of
service users, it also highlights the ongoing positive relationship
between the hospital and the local authority. Since the local
agreement has been in place, there is a positive level of
transparency and collaborative working, with the safeguarding lead
and the management team at GRC welcoming advice and guidance
and at times, scrutiny from the local authority to improve the

service. ‘ o
Q
(@)
D
N
W
D
41



Page 235 Agenda ltem 5f

REPORT TO: Health Policy and Performance Board

DATE: 26™ November 2024

REPORTING OFFICER: Executive Director Adult Services

PORTFOLIO: Health and Wellbeing

SUBJECT: Housing Solutions Performance Update
WARD(S) Borough wide

1.0 PURPOSE OF THE REPORT

1.1 To update the Board of the Homelessness service provision

administered by the Housing Solutions Team, to include
performance and contributing factors affecting the service delivery.

2.0 RECOMMENDATION: That the report be noted.
3.0 SUPPORTING INFORMATION
3.1 Housing Solutions Team

The Housing Solutions Team are responsible for the homelessness
administration and must be fully compliant with the homelessness
legislation. The introduction of the Homelessness Reduction Act
2017 changed the administration process, with further emphasis
upon prevention, which had a vast impact upon the team.

3.2 The legislation also affected the decision-making process, whereby,
clients threatened with homelessness are placed under relief for 56
days, subsequently, the officer cannot issue the homelessness
decision until after this period. Consequently, this resulted in an
increase in demand for temporary accommaodation.

3.3 The aim of the Housing Solutions Team is to assist and prevent
people who are threatened with homelessness in Halton. To provide
a community focussed and accessible service to ensure people
know where and how they can seek help and assistance to prevent
them becoming homeless and receive a quality and confidential
housing options service.

3.4 Each officer within the team has their own specialism and work
closely with the designated client group. Each of the officers provide
drop-in advice sessions across the Borough, to ensure the service is
accessible and provides a less formal setting for vulnerable clients.
It also allows officers to work directly with hard-to-reach clients and
break down formal communication barriers.



3.5

3.6

3.7

3.8

3.9

Page 236

Staffin
In accordance with the Homelessness Reduction Act 2017, Local

Authorities have a statutory obligation to provide temporary
accommodation to those in priority need of housing accommodation.
During the later years there has been a gradual increase in
homelessness presentations, placing additional pressure on
commissioned and none commissioned housing providers.

There continues to be a gradual increase in homelessness
presentations, placing the team under extreme pressure, whilst
managing increased caseloads of approximately 55 cases per
officer. Furthermore, a number of issues during the past months
have had a detrimental impact upon the service delivery, which
include, staff sickness absence and recruitment delays, resulting in
agency staff cover, to ease the pressure upon the service.

The Housing Solutions Team are hybrid working, completing face to
face advice sessions and homelessness
appointments/assessments, with additional time working from home
on decisions etc. The staff are managing the process, though the
additional prevention activity has placed considerable pressure upon
the team, resulting in an increase In homelessness reviews and
legal challenges.

Homelessness Performance

The past year has proven extremely challenging for the Housing
Solutions Team, due to the increase in homelessness presentations
and the reduction in housing accommodation availability within both
the social and private rented sectors. However, the service has
continued to see a gradual flow of homelessness presentations,
placing additional pressure upon the team, who are striving towards
reducing/preventing homelessness and reducing the reliance upon
hotel usage.

As anticipated, there continues to be a gradual increase in
homelessness, which due to present economic issues is deemed to
increase further. The team are working extremely hard to facilitate a
number of prevention measures to mitigate tenancy re-possessions
and enable clients to remain within the home, if safe to do so. The
table gives a comparison between the last three years, further
illustrating the level of prevention activity achieved during the
identified period.

YEAR 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 Apr 24-
Sept 24

Presentations 2039 3156 3382 1888




3.10

3.11

3.12

Page 237

Relief 986 1180 852 547
Prevention 757 1423 1969 864
Statutory 190 433 417 364
Homeless

The team work tirelessly to source temporary accommodation, in
order to avoid hotel usage. Unfortunately, due the pressures
mentioned above, using hotels is a last option, but often needed to
meet the local authority statutory requirements. However, there is a
robust plan in place to manage the move-on transition from
temporary hostel and/or permanent accommodation to free up
availability within commissioned services. The table illustrates the
decreased reliance upon hotel usage during the past three years.

YEAR 2021/22° 2022/23 2023/24 Apr 24-
Sept 24
Placement 149 114 68 36
Total 115 67 28 27
Families
Total Singles 34 47 40 9

Halton has taken a robust approach to tackling homelessness and
meeting the needs of vulnerable homelessness clients. The main
objective is to continue to review the housing provision available
within the Borough to ensure increased demand can be met. Details
of commissioned and leased temporary accommodation provision
within the Borough is as follows.

Commissioned Services

Brennan Lodge, | 39 self-contained | Single Clients
Widnes units
Halton Lodge, | 66 self-contained | Single Clients
Runcorn units Rough Sleepers
Inc 3 sit up spaces
Grangeway Court, | 14  self-Contained | Families
Runcorn units
Maya Court, Widnes | 12 self-contained | Victims of Domestic
units Abuse
NSAP Market & |3 self-contained | Rough sleepers /
Lacey Street, | apartments Offenders
Widnes




3.13

3.14

3.15

3.16

3.17

Page 238

None Commissioned

Columba Hall, | 16 self-contained Families
Widnes apartments
Whitchurch Way, | 3 shared house units | Singles
Runcorn

Halton remains committed to providing accommodation for all
homeless clients that are rough sleeping or at imminent risk of
homelessness. Halton has a robust service provision for rough
sleepers, which has proven successful in retaining low rough
sleeper figures.

Future Challenges

The Local Authority continues to face many challenges around
homelessness. As detailed above, staffing recruitment is proven to
be a major concern for many Local Authorities across the country.
The present economic crisis and increased levels of inflation are
having a detrimental impact upon many households. Details of the
levels of activity across the team are.

S21 Notice Seeking Possession / Eviction

The majority of households are experiencing varying levels of
affordability, which is a major issue. Many households struggle to
afford to remain within their properties and therefore, threatened
with homelessness.

During the past twelve months the Local Authority has seen an
increase in the level of clients approaching the Housing Solutions
Team for support and assistance, as many landlords pursue legal
possession of their properties. The table below illustrates the level
of repossession notices issued within the social, private, and home
ownership sectors during past two years.

YEAR 2022/23 2023/24 Apr 24-Sept

24

Home 42 52 35

Ownership

Private Rented 336 384 152

Registered

Social 271 499 191

Landlord

Within the Housing Solutions Team there is a designated officer who
is actively involved in the court process. The officer works directly
with lenders to reach an agreement that will allow the clients to
remain within their home. The Mortgage Rescue Scheme and
possession process has been identified as a priority and funding



3.18

3.19

3.20

3.21

3.22

3.23

Page 239

allocated to assist homeowners and tenants.

The Home Ownership possession numbers are low in comparison
with other housing sectors. However, we do anticipate that
affordability for many homeowners and households will prove to be
a major factor to clients losing their homes. The level of prevention
activity has been successful, with a vast reduction in evictions. The
tables illustrate the level of prevention activity within Appendix 1.

Although the number of private and social rented sector illustrates
the highest possession figures, not all will result in the landlord
pursuing possession of the property. Staff are working tirelessly
with clients and landlords to address any issues and utilise the
prevention fund to offset arrears, save the tenancy and prevent
homelessness.

Further discussions are ongoing with the private rented sector to
encourage them to work directly with the Local Authority, to increase
the accommodation options available and offer clients choice.
There are a number of prevention incentives available, to offer
reassurance to the landlords and to strive to address and reduce
future homelessness,
Details are:

e Bond Guarantee Scheme
HBC will act as guarantor.
Discretionary Housing Payments
Prevention Fund — Rent in advance, Deposits.
GIFT — Furniture package.

There is a robust process in place with the registered social
landlords that notifies the housing solutions adviser at an early stage
of pending action. The process has proven successful with the
officer achieving positive outcomes to reduce evictions and
negotiations to enable the client to remain within their home. Level
of activity during April 2023 — Mar 2024 contained within Appendix 1.

The Local Authority is seeing an increase in the discontinuation
notices being issues by the Home Office to asylum
seekers/refugees. There is a designated officer within the Housing
Solutions Team, with a robust approach, liaising directly with Serco
to ensure all client referrals are registered at the earliest stage of the
notice. The officers are working tirelessly to ensure all asylum
seekers awarded positive refugee status are supported and advised
accordingly, to source accommodation and can access all housing
options and services available.

The main challenge is around asylum seekers who receive a
positive decision to remain, which does not necessarily mean they
meet the homelessness criteria. This has caused an element of
confusion for the clients, which has been raised with the home office



3.24

3.25

3.26

3.27

4.0

Page 240

and Serco, The recruitment of the British Red Cross caseworker sits
within the Housing Solutions Team and work across all agencies, to
assist and support asylum seekers within the Borough. The officer
will work with clients to source move on accommodation and support
them throughout the process.

Funding
The Government confirmed the allocation of a key element of the

overall investment: funding through the Homelessness Prevention
Grant, which is available to local authorities in 2024/25 to support
and deliver services to prevent and tackle homelessness. The
purpose of the Homelessness Prevention Grant is to give local
authorities control and flexibility in managing homelessness
pressures and supporting those who are at risk of homelessness,
and to deliver the following priorities: Details.

Funding Grant Initiative Total Award
Homelessness Grant | Prevention £369.000
Rough Sleeper Grant | Accommodation / £69.000
Support

Trailblazer Grant Early Intervention £39.000
Officer

AFEO 2 x Offender Co- £60.000
ordinators

The AFEO funding introduced a new co-ordinator post in 2021/22 to
work across offender services and improve service delivery. The
post has achieved successful outcomes, resulting in a vast
improvement in communication, partnership working and a
consistent approach across Local Authority services. Subsequently,
no offender has been released back to Halton without a full pathway
plan and accommodation route. The service has been deemed
good practice and the remaining Liverpool City Region Local
Authorities have recently introduced the same approach.

Engagement with partner agencies is ongoing; to support and
advise all client groups to source suitable accommodation. The aim
is to assist clients to achieve positive outcomes and promote
lifestyle change. Communication and teamwork between service
agencies is excellent, enabling a quick response and implemented
action to address crisis issues.

The Government recognises that there is not one single solution to
end homelessness, and a strategic approach to tackling the causes
of homelessness and the health and well-being of vulnerable client
groups is as important as the supply of affordable homes and
supported housing.

POLICY IMPLICATIONS



4.1

5.0

5.1

6.0

6.1

6.2

6.3

6.4

6.5

6.6

Page 241

There are no policy implications associated with the information
within this report. Although the potential solutions for some of the
issues highlighted may lead to changes in the future.

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

Financial implications have been identified, due to the reliance upon
hotel usage, which will have a significant impact upon local budgets.

IMPLICATIONS FOR THE COUNCIL’S

Improving Health, Promoting Wellbeing and Supporting Greater
Independence

Protect the most vulnerable households, as many are reliant upon
accessing social housing to meet their housing needs. Facilitate a
choice-based lettings scheme to promote access to suitable social
housing, to promote stability, thus improving health and wellbeing,
resulting in greater independence!

Building a Strong, Sustainable Local Economy
Facilitate sustainable economic prosperity.

Supporting Children, Young People and Families

Housing support services provided to young people, within both
supported accommodation and their own home, ensure they are
empowered to access, maintain existing education, training, health
services, and support networks.

The Housing Solutions Team have a statutory duty to accommodate
people who are homeless or threatened with homelessness. There
is a designated youth officer within the Housing Solutions Team,
who works directly with young people, to address their needs and
refer into the relevant services. The officer will strive to ensure that
young people are supported, safe and accommodated within a
secure environment.

Tackling Inequality and Helping Those Who Are Most In Need
The services in place will tackle inequality and further identify that
those most in need will be awarded priority and support to secure
social housing

Working Towards a Greener Future
None at this stage.

Valuing and Appreciating Halton and Our Community
The local authority has a statutory duty to administer homelessness
and support clients threatened with homelessness. The process
and service options allow clients choice to secure social housing,
therefore promote community stability within the Borough.



Page 242

7.0 Risk Analysis

7.1 None at this stage.

8.0 EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY ISSUES

8.1 The equality implications have been identified and mitigated.
9.0 CLIMATE CHANGE IMPLICATIONS

9.1 None at this stage

10.0 LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS UNDER SECTION 100D OF
THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972

10.1 None under the meaning of the Act.

Appendix 1



Page 243

Repossession Notice Activity

Registered Social Landlord Activity Total
Referrals 499
Evictions prevented via Crisis 159
Interventions

Evictions prevented via Relief Stage 259
Property Relinquished / Tenant 9
Deceased 28
Total Eviction Loss

Court attendance — Suspended 125
Orders

Prevention Funding Applications 47 - £22,840
Discretionary Housing Applications 29 - £28,200

Home Ownership Activity

Owner Occupier Activity Total
Referrals 52
Total evictions prevented 42
Cases carried over 24/25 10
Total eviction loss 0
Sold Property and rehoused via PPP 0




Page 244 Agenda Item 6a

REPORT TO: Health Policy and Performance Board

DATE: 26™ November 2024

REPORTING OFFICER: Executive Director Adult Services

PORTFOLIO: Health and Wellbeing

SUBJECT: Performance Management Reports - Quarter 2
2024/25

WARD(S) Borough wide

1.0 PURPOSE OF THE REPORT

11 This Report introduces, through the submission of a structured

thematic performance report, the progress of key performance
indicators, milestones and targets relating to Health in Quarter 2 of
2024/25. This includes a description of factors which are affecting
the service.

2.0 RECOMMENDATION: That

1) Receive the Quarter 2 Priority Based report.

2) Consider the progress and performance information and
raise any questions or points for clarification.

3) Highlight any areas of interest or concern for reporting at
future meetings of the Board.

3.0 SUPPORTING INFORMATION

3.1 The Policy and Performance Board has a key role in monitoring and
scrutinising the performance of the Council in delivering outcomes
against its key health priorities. Therefore, in line with the Council’s
performance framework, the Board has been provided with a
thematic report which identifies the key issues in performance
arising in Quarter 2, 2024/25.

4.0 POLICY IMPLICATIONS

4.1 There are no policy implications associated with this report.
5.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

51 There are no policy implications associated with this report.
6.0 IMPLICATIONS FOR THE COUNCIL’S

Q2 —2024/25 | ADULTS Directorate / Adult Social Care / Health PPB Page 1 of 39



6.1

6.2

6.3

6.4

6.5

6.6

7.0

7.1

8.0

8.1
9.0

9.1

10.0

10.1

Page 245

Improving Health, Promoting Wellbeing and Supporting Greater
Independence

Improving Health, Promoting Wellbeing and Supporting Greater
Independence

Building a Strong, Sustainable Local Economy
None identified.

Supporting Children, Young People and Families
None identified.

Tackling Inequality and Helping Those Who Are Most In Need
The indicators presented in the thematic report relate specifically to
the delivery of health outcomes in Halton.

Working Towards a Greener Future
None identified.

Valuing and Appreciating Halton and Our Community
None identified.

Risk Analysis
None identified.
EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY ISSUES

An Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) is not required for this report

CLIMATE CHANGE IMPLICATIONS
None identified.

LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS UNDER SECTION 100D OF
THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972

None under the meaning of the Act.

Q2 —2024/25 | ADULTS Directorate / Adult Social Care / Health PPB Page 2 of 39



Page 246

2.0 Key Developments

Adult Social Care

Domiciliary Care

Tender moderation has now been completed and a report will be presented to
Executive Board on 14th November 2024 outlining recommendations for
contract award.

Homelessness

A working party, focusing on current homelessness provision, has been
established and is being led by Councillor Marie Wright. The purpose of the
working party is for Members to better understand the current arrangements in
place in relation to Homelessness.

Carers

The Council is part of a Cheshire and Merseyside consortium who bid for
funding against the Accelerated Reform Fund. The bid was successful, and
we have now had Year One funding for support with Carers Breaks. It's been
agreed that this will be passported to Halton Carers Centre who have put
forward a delivery programme to meet the outcomes of this project.

Urgent & Emergency Care Improvement Programme
New hospital discharge model for Halton patients introduced at Warrington &
Halton Teaching Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust.

Supported Housing
Work continues through the Transformation programme to identify new
supported housing opportunities which meet the needs of vulnerable adults
across the borough.

Public Health

¢ Environmental Health team have been successful in their application
for grant funding for the Healthy Homes project. The project will target
the 3 wards that have a higher deprivation and will encourage tenants
who are in private rentals to contact us when the landlord is not
addressing the damp/mould issues in the property.

e Halton have been working with other local authorities and Liverpool
John Moore’s University to working to develop a Local Drug Information
System. The system uses consistent and efficient processes for
sharing and assessing information, and issuing warnings where
needed, it helps ensure high-quality, effective information rapidly
reaches the right people.

Q2 —2024/25 | ADULTS Directorate / Adult Social Care / Health PPB Page 3 of 39



Page 247

e Halton and Cheshire West & Chester staff have been supporting the
ICB with development of an injuries due to serious violence dashboard.
This will be used by the police and local community safety partnerships
to target interventions.

e Our stop smoking team are now as part of the Government funded
Swap 2 Stop scheme and a large number of our clients are now using
vapes to stop smoking.

e Supervised Toothbrushing Programme. Halton have delivered over
15000 toothbrushes in a structured intervention to 2—7-year-olds in the
20% most deprived areas across Halton, this has been targeted
provision of free toothbrushes and pastes in their communities. This
programme aims to work in partnership with existing local schemes to
reduce child oral health inequalities.

e As we head towards the colder winter months, preparatory work has
taken place to ensure care home providers are delivering flu and
Covid-19 vaccines for all those eligible. We are also working with
pharmacies to commission free vaccinations for staff

« We continue via the Household Support Fund, to support our residents
who may be struggling through hardship, this includes food vouchers,
contributions to school uniform costs, heated throws for cancer patients
and various other methods of support.

The Public Health Directorate continues to work on a wide range of issues
linked to tackling the causes of ill health and improving health in Halton.

3.0 Emerging Issues

Adult Social Care

Domiciliary Care

During December and following Executive board approval, intention to award
letters will be distributed to the bidders who have been successful in relation
to the domiciliary care tender.

Urgent & Emergency Care Improvement Programme

Work will continue to embed the new hospital discharge model for Halton
patients introduced at Warrington & Halton Teaching Hospitals NHS
Foundation Trust in quarter 2 and during quarter 3 explore introduction of new
hospital discharge model for Halton patients at Whiston Hospital.

Q2 —2024/25 | ADULTS Directorate / Adult Social Care / Health PPB Page 4 of 39



Page 248

Public Health

Ketamine is a class B controlled substance which means possession and
supply of it is illegal. When ingested, ketamine affects the brain and body,
reducing awareness, pain and coordination.

Recent studies have shown a significant increase in the number of young
people taking ketamine and this would reflect the concerns that have recently
been raised by our schools locally.

We are working together with other organisations including young people’s
drug treatment services, police, primary health care, mental health and the
wider health and social care to shape and model good practice in a systems-
based approach, ranging from prevention through to intervention.

4.0 Performance Overview

It should be noted that given the significant and unrelenting downward
financial pressures faced by the Council there is a requirement for
Departments to make continuous in-year adjustments to the allocation of
resources in order to ensure that the Council maintains a balanced budget.
Whilst every effort continues to be made to minimise any negative impact of
such arrangements upon service delivery, they may inevitably result in a delay
in the delivery of some of the objectives and targets contained within this
report.

The way in which the Red, Amber and Green, (RAG), symbols have been
used to reflect progress to date is explained at the end of this report.

Commissioning and Complex Care Services

Key Objectives / milestones

Ref Milestones Q2
Progress

1A | Monitor the Local Dementia Strategy Action Plan, to ensure effective v
services are in place.

1B | The Homelessness strategy be kept under annual review to determine v
if any changes or updates are required.

1C | Monitor the effectiveness of the Better Care Fund pooled budget v
ensuring that budget comes out on target.

1D | Integration of Health and social care in line with one Halton priorities. v

1E | Monitor the Care Management Strategy to reflect the provision of v

integrated frontline services for adults.

Q2 —2024/25 | ADULTS Directorate / Adult Social Care / Health PPB Page 5 of 39



1F Continue to establish effective arrangements across the whole of adult v

1A

1B
1C
1D
1E

1F

Page 249

social care to deliver personalised quality services through self-
directed support and personal budgets.

Supporting Commentary

The Dementia Delivery Plan was approved by One Halton Board in April 2024 and
a Dementia Delivery Group has been established (meeting in October) to oversee
the implementation of the delivery plan.

Draft strategy to be presented to Management Team November 2024
Budget projected to come in on target
Integration work continues through the One Halton work streams

We have funded additional dedicated support for front door referrals and
Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards (DoLS) This has enabled us to clear the backlog
‘at the front door’ and allocate the correct support for those being referred within 24
hours.

Halton has established a Prevention and Wellbeing Service with the support of a
redesign of adult social Care, placing outreach support with a Wellbeing approach
at the front door. This approach has enabled us to progress these redesigns
quickly and allocate more resources to the team of first assessors and has
improved both the speed and impact of this work. We are allocating all new
referrals within 24/48 hours.

All the Strengths based training has now been completed, with 250 staff trained
and a train the trainer model in place.

The changes to ways of working have led to a more productive workforce who
have more time to speak to clients, reviews are more informed, and Assessment
work is more outcomes-focussed.

The Social Care IT system changed in June 24 from Care First 6 to Eclipse, with
newly developed Person-Centred Documentation.

Q2 —2024/25 | ADULTS Directorate / Adult Social Care / Health PPB Page 6 of 39



Key Performance Indicators

Page 250

Older People:

Actual
23/24

Target
24/25

Q2

Direction
of Travel

Progress

ASC 01

Permanent Admissions to
residential and nursing
care homes per 100,000
population 65+

347.50
22/23

600

NA

NA NA

ASC 02

Total non-elective
admissions into hospital
(general & acute), all age,
per 100,000 population.

Dec 23
to Jan
24 =
4,283

No plan
set

0 Day LOS = 1862
>0 LOS = 2693
Total = 4555

ASC 03

Proportion of Older
People (65 and over) who
were still at home 91
days after discharge from
hospital ASCOF 2D
(Formerly ASCOF 2B)

96%
23/24

85%

96.4%

v NA

Adults with Learning and/or Physic

al Disabili

ties:

ASC 04

Percentage of items of
equipment and
adaptations delivered
within 7 working days
(VI/DRC/HMS)

96%

97%

97.5%

NA NA

ASC 06

Proportion of people in
receipt of DP ASCOF 3D
(Formerly ASCOF 1C —
people in receipt of long-
term support) (Part 2)
DP)

47.6

45%

41%

NA NA

ASC 07

NEW The proportion of
people who receive long-
term support who live in
their own home or with
their family ASCOF 2E
(Formerly ASCOF 1G)

NA

89%

82%

NA

Q2 —2024/25 /| ADULTS Directorate / Adult Social Care / Health PPB Page 7 of 39




Page 251

Homelessness: Actual Target | Q2 Progress | Direction
23/24 24/25 of Travel
ASC 09 | Homeless presentations | 756 3500 872
made to the Local 7 ﬂ
Authority for assistance
In accordance with
Homelessness Reduction
Act 2017.
Relief 290 254
Prevention 163 257
Homeless 121 88
Advice 201 192
Triage 141
ASC 10 | LA Accepted a statutory 7 U
duty to homeless
households in 121 800 48
accordance with
homelessness Act 2002
ASC 11 | Number of households 148 151 7 NA
living in Temporary 38
Accommodation 30 109
Hostel Singles singles
Bed & Breakfast / Hotels | 8 40
Families 800 Families
0
Singles
2
Families
Safeguarding:
NEW The proportion of NA NA Risk NA
section 42 safeguarding reduced
enquiries where a risk 55.4%
was identified, and the )
reported outcome was Risk
that this risk was reduced rer;;;oed
or removed (ASCOF 4b)
Percentage of individuals 1]
ASC 12 |involved in Section 42 | 34%  |30% | 39%

Safeguarding Enquiries

Q2 —2024/25 | ADULTS Directorate / Adult Social Care / Health PPB Page 8 of 39




Page 252

Actual
23/24

Target
24/25

Q2

Progress

Direction
of Travel

ASC 13

Percentage of existing
HBC Adult Social Care
staff that have received
Adult Safeguarding
Training, including e-
learning, in the last 3-
years (Previously PA6
[13/14] change
denominator to front line
staff only.

76%

85%

7%

]

Carers:

ASC 15

Proportion of Carers in
receipt of Direct payment

99%

99%

98.9%

NA

NA

Adult Social Care and Carer Survey measures are reported annually for service users
and bi-annually for carers — these measures will be included in the Q4 2024/25 report
or following publication of the NHS Digital Reporting. Further information can be

found here

Q2 —2024/25 | ADULTS Directorate / Adult Social Care / Health PPB Page 9 of 39



https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/personal-social-services-adult-social-care-survey/england-2020-21#:~:text=This%20report%20contains%20findings%20from%20the%20Adult%20Social%20Care%20Survey

Page 253

Supporting Commentary

Older People:

ASC 01 Figures will be updated as soon as possible.

ASC 02 Q2 data is not yet available and will not be until Mid-November.
Unfortunately, the data is not available to NHS Midlands and
Lancashire Commissioning Support Unit until around 6 weeks
following the end of the month. This enables the data
management teams to cleanse/ process the information before its
available to report on. However, the Q1 data has been provided.

ASC 03 This measure replaces the previous measure which included
discharge from hospital into reablement/rehabilitation services.
Therefore, no comparison can be made to previous quarters.

Adults with Learning and/or Physical Disabilities:

ASC 04 This figure is for HMS equipment only so does not represent a true
figure for Q2 and is not comparable with the same period last year.
This is due to changes in our reporting system we are unable to
provide VI or DRC data at present.

ASC 06 This ASCOF measure is new and reports on all people who
receive a direct payment. No comparison can be made to
previous quarters.

ASC 07 This ASCOF measure is new and reports on all people who
receive long-term support who live in their own home or with
family. It replaces the previous ASCOF 1G measure which
reported on the proportion of learning disability people with long-
term support who live in their own home or with their family. No
comparison can be made to previous quarters.

Homelessness:

ASC 09 There continues to be an increase in homelessness nationally.
Halton has seen a gradual increase in family presentations, due to
no fault S21 notice seeking possessions, placing additional
pressure upon temporary accommodation providers.

The main emphasis is placed upon prevention, and many clients

are prevented from homelessness, with officers fully utilising the

prevention service incentives to support clients to secure suitable
accommodation across both social and private rented sectors.

ASC 10 There has been an increase in the homelessness acceptance
duty. This is partly due to the increase in no fault eviction notices
and affordability, whereby, the rents charged are far greater than
the awarded local housing allowance.

Q2 —2024/25 | ADULTS Directorate / Adult Social Care / Health PPB Page 10 of 39



Page 254

ASC 11 Due to the increase in homelessness this has placed additional
pressure upon temporary accommodation providers, with
concreted efforts by all officers to support clients with the move on
process.

For this quarter, we have seen a gradual decrease in hotel usage.

However, the LA is still reliant upon hotel use but has implemented
a robust transition plan to ensure clients placed out of area are
transferred back to commissioned services as quickly as possible.

There continues to be an ongoing review of temporary
accommodation to ensure that provision is available to meet the
ongoing demand.

Safeguarding:

This is a new measure for 2024/25. We will continue to monitor
this new measure to inform future performance.

ASC 12 Current figures have exceeded last year’s actual figures and look
to improve further over the course of the year.

ASC 13 Figures have already outperformed last year’s actual figures.

Carers:

ASC 15 This measure replaces carers in receipt of self-directed support.
There is no comparison to previous quarters.

Public Health

Key Objectives / milestones

Ref Objective 1: Child Health Qe
Progress
Milestones
PH 01 Working with partner organisations to improve the

development, health and wellbeing of children in Halton and
to tackle the health inequalities affecting that population.

Ref Objective 2: Adult weight and physical activity ‘
Milestone

PH 02 Reduce levels of adult excess weight (overweight and obese) v
and adult physical inactivity.

Ref Objective 3: NHS Health Checks
Milestone

PH 03 Ensure local delivery of the NHS Health Checks programme

in line with the nationally set achievement targets and locally
set target population groups.

Ref Objective 4: Smoking

Q2 —2024/25 | ADULTS Directorate / Adult Social Care / Health PPB Page 11 of 39



PH 04

Ref

PH 05

PH 06

Ref

PH 07

Ref

PH 08

Ref

PH 09

Page 255

Milestone

Reduce smoking prevalence overall and amongst
routine/manual and workless groups and reduce the gap
between these two groups.

Objective 5: Suicide reduction

Milestone

Work towards a reduction in suicide rate.

Objective 6: Older People

Milestone

Contribute to the reduction of falls of people aged 65 and over
and reduction in levels of social isolation and loneliness.

Objective 7: Poverty

Milestone

To increase awareness of fuel poverty and drive change to
tackle the issue through better understanding of services
available across Halton (staff and clients).

Objective 8: Sexual health

Milestone

To continue to provide an easily accessible and high quality
local sexual health service, ensuring adequate access to
GUM and contraceptive provision across the Borough, whilst
reducing the rate of sexually transmitted infections and
unwanted pregnancies.

Objective 9: Drugs and alcohol

Milestone

Work in partnership to reduce drug and alcohol related
hospital admissions.

Q2 —2024/25 | ADULTS Directorate / Adult Social Care / Health PPB Page 12 of 39




Page 256

Supporting Commentary

PH Child health

01 Regular contract performance meetings take place every quarter with the 0-19 (+
SEND) (0-19 HCP) service. The 0-19 HCP service are supporting the development
of the Family Hubs model, starting well strategy, leading on infant parent mental
health and attachment, the Local Offer, and the SEND priority action plan. 0-19
HCP staff have participated in the first Community of Practice meetings with Public
Health Northwest bringing together reps from Commissioning and 0-19 services
across the Northwest. The SEND policy review has now been ratified and all staff
have been briefed. The infographic below, is based on Q1 2024/25 performance
data. Giving an overview of the 0-19 HCP service and tracking the progress and
impact of areas where the service is working towards and improving health
outcomes for children and young people. These include maternity and first year of
life, early years and school age and transition.

)
Health & wellbeing amongst children & young people in Halton ~\_

HALTON
Life expectancy at birth in

MNolton Is lower then the 24.1% children The number of children and significant increase In rate of
ML 3 N e

England average for males and D under age 16 kve in o Young people aged O to 24 is j children in care and Halton
females. 1t has not improved relative low income projected to decrease .-lll rates are now double that of

houteholds slightly by 2043, England average

over the last 10 years (similar

trend to England) (England 19.8%)

Maternity and first year of life Early years School age and transition
Smoking at time of delivery now 16,8%, A MMR at 2 years 91,7% o Reduction in alcohol admissions for
down from 21,8% in 2010/11 N (tngtand 1a7%, Nw 88.0%) l ' g Under 185 and Halton rate is similar
(Enghand &.6%) 1o the England for the 1" time
© ¢ R W g A B v )

Low birth weight (of term bables) 2.0% 'x Childeen achieving & good level of Obesity in Reception Year 11,6%
development at 210 2.5 years is

(England 2.9%, NW 2.8%) (England 9.2%)
63.5% (england 79.2%) Obesity in Year 6 is 28.0%

(Engtana 22.7%)

Baby's 1% feed breastmilk $3.6% and X
breastfeeding ot 6-8 weeks 25,7% . ALE attendances for 0.4 year old

Q ) oy g ‘ significantly higher than England, Admissions due to self harm in 10-24

Below England (71,7% 1" feed, 49.2%
:'“)L “l'l ,: U(Il! O m;:( - " ), ' and the 2™ highest nationally year olds higher than England
ot 6-8 weeks) but some | ovements

Y

have been made
Signbicant reduction in teenage

Experience of visually obvious conception rate (62% reduction 2010

—

Infant mortality rate is 3.9 and Y o SCaY $ of 5 vear olds
: ' X d.q ntal decay: 33.9% of 5 year olds to 2021); but remains higher than
the same as the England (England 23.7%, NW 30.6%)
England
average g
Immunisations due by 1" birthday, range X Children achieving a good level of 8 , Average8 ottoinment score 42.8
: . e : ¢ 08 o (England 46.2)

“ & from 88,5% to 94.5% and generally ’1_‘{;,' development at the end of reception q_l "
N tim ’ e {1 e 3
\, simdlar to England is 62,29 (England 67.2%) Recent increase in NEET 10 4,9%

(England 5.2%)
Flu uptake amongst pregnant women
27.6% (tngland 32.1%) Produced by Pubic Mealth [vwdence & (nfeligerce Teom

teathateigencefhaton oo

SN ol Do pray Spties sat o~ pxs Mresd des

Source: 0-19 HCP produced by Public Health Evidence & Intelligence Team
(October 2024)

The infant feeding offer continues to expand, now with 5 weekly drop-in support

groups, in addition to home visits and telephone support in the postnatal period,
plus antenatal engagement at community midwifery clinics.

Q2 —2024/25 / ADULTS Directorate / Adult Social Care / Health PPB Page 13 of 39



PH
02

Page 257

Infant Feeding:

Women supported with breastfeeding 138
of whom were supported via home visits 70
Women supported with safe formula feeding via phone 111
Women attending breastfeeding support groups 27
Parents attending infant feeding drop-ins 49
Parents attending Introducing Solid Foods workshops 43

Halton Healthy Early Years (HHEYS)
Settings accessing training: 5

Total staff trained: 29

Topics: Oral health, Healthy eating.

HENRY Programme (preventing obesity for under 5s) & Parent Workshops:
8-week Right From the Start courses completed: 1.

Parent workshops: 4

Total attendees: 17.

Young Health Champions Cohorts completed: 2. Participants: 18:
Cohort of Young Carers and cohort of pupils at Ashley High School (SEN).

Healthy Schools 58 schools (88%) were engaged in the programme at the end of
summer term in July. 2024-25 school year has commenced with 21 visits booked or
completed so far. Programme offer has expanded to include breastfeeding
awareness, and sessions to promote immunisation uptake.

Supporting commentary — Adult weight and physical activity

Through the Fresh Start program the Adult Weight Management Service continues to
offer an in-depth curriculum of advice and exercise that supports local people to
manage their weight and positively impact their lifestyles. In the current climate, more
focus has been emphasised within the service to increase support of weight
management for target population groups such as low-income households by
embedding key skills such as shopping on a budget, meal planning for 1 and
supporting resilience.

Over the second quarter, Fresh Start had 649 referrals to the service from Halton
residents. So far 141 have started on the face-to-face service and 158 started via the
digital App version of Fresh Start. The team are

currently updating the education on the program and will be doing staff development
to support the increasing change toward more complex patients coming through the
service.

Halton continues to support physical activity through the ‘exercise on prescription’
program. Exercise on Prescription is a free service, which supports people with
health conditions to become more physically active and is part of their treatment to
improve their condition management. Some of the common health conditions that
clients come for support with include cardiovascular conditions, pulmonary &

Q2 —2024/25 | ADULTS Directorate / Adult Social Care / Health PPB Page 14 of 39



PH
03

PH
04

Page 258

respiratory conditions, mental health conditions, falls prevention and back and joint
conditions. All clients in service receive brief intervention and advice around their
health condition and guided support by an exercise specialist who is trained to
deliver activity to people with health conditions. Throughout quarter two, 321
referrals were made into this service and, (133) 60% of clients engaging with
physical activity so far.

Supporting commentary — NHS Health Checks

Each year 20% of the total eligible population should be invited for an NHS Health
Check. In Halton the target for 2024/25 is 7254 per year. This equals 1815 invites
per quarter should be sent. In Q2, 2225 NHS Health Check Invites was sent, which
is 123% of the quarterly invite target.

National targets are set that NHS Health Check services should aim to have a
completion rate of around 80%. Of patients who were invited in Halton this quarter,
1213 patients have received a NHSHC, which is an 84% uptake rate. This is an
increase on quarter one’s performance in which 1001 NHS Health Checks were
completed which was a 69% uptake rate. Following an NHS Health Check Halton
have a target of 30% of patients should be referred onto wider support services. In
Q2, 349 were completed. This is 29% on NHS Health Checks completed. This is a
decrease on last quarters referral rate of 35%. Halton have prioritised tackling health
inequalities within the service to which some key milestones have been achieved this
year to date. These include:

* In Q2, 100% of ethnic minorities who are eligible for an NHSHC have received an
invitation.

* In Q2, 41% of NHSHC’s completed are on patients from decile 1&2 IMD (index of
multiple deprivation). Previous data shows this cohort has the lowest proportionate
uptake.

* In Q2, 56% of NHSHC’s were completed on patients in age categories 40-45,45-50,
50-55 which previous data shows Halton has the lowest proportionate uptake.

Supporting commentary — Smoking

Total Referrals 668
Total Set a Quit Date 470
Engagement Rate 70%
Total Quit 182 so far
Total Still Awaiting 4 Week Quit Outcome 101
Unemployed/Never Worked Set a Quit Date 77
Unemployed/Never worked Quit 24
Awaiting 4 Week Quit Outcome 20
Sick/Disabled/Unable to Return to Work Set a Quit Date | 114
Sick/Disabled/Unable to Return to Work Quit 50
Awaiting 4 Week Quit Outcome 17
Routine/Manual Set a Quit Date 72
Routine/Manual Quit 24
Awaiting 4 Week Quit Outcome 15

Q2 —2024/25 | ADULTS Directorate / Adult Social Care / Health PPB Page 15 of 39



PH
05

PH
06

PH
07

PH
08

Page 259

Supporting commentary — Suicide reduction

We continue to work closely with partners and Champs on the Zero Suicide Agenda
and consistently drive Halton’s action plan to contribute to reduction in suicides.
Work continuing to take place on long term conditions, Dual Diagnosis, male mental
health as well as supporting education settings with self-harm and suicide attempts.
Insight work with teenage males to understand why they don’t engage with mental
health services at the same rates as teenage females is complete and next steps
under development. Despite work continuing RTS for 2024/2025 are slightly higher
than the previous year 2023/2024. Economic crisis is known to increase risk of
suicide therefore issues with cost of living could be contributing to a potential
increase locally.

Supporting commentary — Older people

The Exercise on Prescription Programme which includes falls prevention has been
rolled out in some GP practices to target common health conditions such as
hypertension and falls. In Q2 67 local people were identified as at risk of falling or as
having had a previous fall. These service users have been supported with advice
and a strength and stability class. There are some ongoing issues with the data from
the Sure Start to Later Life service, due to the transition from Care First to Eclipse
data systems by Adult Social Care Services However data is available for July and
August of Q2 showing 38 referrals into service, with 35 assessments and 30 review
appointments being completed. Out of the 30 reviews that took place 4 people
reported that they feel less socially isolated as a result of the intervention from the
service.

Supporting commentary - Poverty

We continue to work closely with regional partners on the Cheshire & Merseyside
fuel poverty steering group to look at pro-active home support for those with high-risk
long term health conditions. We have worked with national CIC Catapult over the last
quarter to replicate locally the warm home prescription offer that they have
successfully trialled over the last few winters.

Supporting commentary — Sexual health

Halton Sexual Health Service has offered 1,644 face to face clinical appointments in
Q1, 2024/25. This is an increase of 89 from Q4, 2023/24. A total of 233 young
people aged 19 and under have accessed the service in Q1, an increase of 22 from
the previous quarter. axess4u provision is promoted through Axess website, social
media, outreach, and education teams. The number of males (all ages) accessing
the service has risen by 44 in Q1, to a total of 441. A total of 1452 patients were
seen during Q1, increases were seen in the 18-39 and 50-60+ age groups. Online
bookings in Q1 rose by 34%, with out of area attendances rising by 4.3%. And a 29%
increase in cervical screening numbers. In women under 18 there was a rise of 4% in
the numbers taking up LARC including Depo and Sayana, and within that, the main
method chosen was implant. Coding issues have been rectified in the service since
Q4, hence the number of recorded BAME attendances has risen by 15%, bringing
this back over target. A rise in mixed white/ black African and Caribbean. STI
screening of all ages has risen by over 13% in Q1. With syphilis and HIV screening
making up 40% of the total tests, with an increase in positive syphilis numbers since
Q4. The total number of patients issued with PrEP in Halton through Q1 was 15%
higher than the previous quarter. The service saw 161 LGBT+ patients in Q1, an
increase of 12 from Q4.

Q2 —2024/25 | ADULTS Directorate / Adult Social Care / Health PPB Page 16 of 39



PH
09

Page 260

The sub-contracted pharmacies have issued 178 emergency contraception
prescriptions in Q1, an increase of 17 from Q4. GP’s fitting IUC’s have also raised
activity in Q1 with 51 fittings, an increase of 12 from Q4.

Discussions continue around Women’s Health Hubs and a new C&M WHH clinical
lead has been appointed to support this work, focussing on increasing LARC access.

The first plus one for the contract extension with Change Grow Live has now been
finalised, there is flexibility for another plus one for 2026/2027 if required.
Commissioners in the North West have agreed to collaboratively fund a post to be
employed by North West Ambulance Service (NWAS) initially over 2 years. The post
will support strategic planning to ensure targeted and tailored support is provided
following a non-fatal opiate overdose. This means that every opiate non-fatal
overdose is automatically referred to the local drug and alcohol service, with or
without patient consent.

The role is unique to England and is expected to make a significant contribution to
improved responses to non-fatal overdoses in the North West and contributing to a
reduction in drug-related deaths in the region. The expected outcomes include:

* Increase in referrals into drug and alcohol treatment services.

* Contribution towards a reduction in drug-related deaths.

Audit C screenings are delivered during Health Checks and Stop Smoking
consultations to clients across Halton. During Q1 Health Trainers/Health Check
Officers have delivered 974 Audit C screenings in workplaces, GP practises and in
the community. During Q1 the Stop Smoking Service have delivered 278 Audit C
screenings with clients wishing to stop smoking Total combined Audit C
screenings delivered = 1,252

Q2 —2024/25 | ADULTS Directorate / Adult Social Care / Health PPB Page 17 of 39



Key Performance Indicators

Page 261

Ref Description Actual Target Quarter Current Direction
2023/24 | 2024/25 2 Progress | of Travel
PHOla Healthy life expectancy at  58.0 58.0 n/a E ‘[]'
birth: females (years)
(2018- = (2019-
20) 21)
PHO1b | Healthy life expectancy at 61.4 61.4 n/a E '[]'
birth: males (years)
(2018- = (2019-
20) 21)
PHO2 A good level of child 62.2% 62.5% n/a E ‘[]'
development
(% of eligible children (2022/2 (2023/2
achieving a good level of 3) 4)
development at the end of
reception)
PHO3 Health Visitor new births 83.9% 90% 87.6% E '[]'
visits
(% of new births receiving a = (2023/2 @ (standin Q1
face-to-face visit by a Health 4) g target) 2024/25
Visitor within 14 days) )
PHO4 | Prevalence of adult excess 72.7% = 72.0% n/a m _l_
weight (% of adults
estimated to be overweight = (2022/2 @ (2023/2
or obese) 3) 4)
PHO5  Percentage of physically 62.8% @ 62.6% n/a n _l_
active adults
(2022/2 = (2023/2
3) 4)
PHO6 Uptake of NHS Health 44% 60% 46% l_
Check
(% of NHS Health Checks (2023/2 @ (2024/2 (Q1
offered which were taken up 4) 5) 2024/25
in the quarter) )
PHO7  Smoking prevalence 13.3% = 13.0%  14.6% n _l_
(% of adults who currently
smoke) (2022) (2023) (2023)

Q2 —2024/25 | ADULTS Directorate / Adult Social Care / Health PPB Page 18 of 39




Page 262

Ref Description Actual Target Quarter Current Direction
2023/24 | 2024/25 2 Progress | of Travel
PHO8 Deaths from suicide 9.3 9.9 13.4 H _l_
(directly standardised rate
per 100,000 population) (2020- = (2021- @ (2021-
22) 23) 23
provisio
nal)
PHO9  Self-harm hospital ~ 261.8 259.2 223.7 v -D-
admissions (Emergency
admissions, all ages, (2022/2 @ (2023/2 (2023/2
directly standardised rate 3) 4) 4
per 100,000 population) provisio
nal)
PH10 Emergency admissions due 2,206 2,195 2,144 v =
to injuries resulting from falls
in the over 65s (Directly (2022/2 @(2023/2 (2023/2
Standardised Rate, per 3) 4) 4
100,000 population; PHOF provisio
definition) nal)
PH11 | Social Isolation: percentage 32.7% 40% 36.2% n '[]'
of adult social care users
who have as much social (2021/2 (2022/2 (2022/2
contact as they would like 2) 3) 3)
(age 18+)
PH12 Fuel poverty (low income, 12.4% @ 12.2% @ 12.2% v ‘[]'
low energy efficiency = (2021) (2022) (2022)
methodology)
PH13 | New sexually transmitted 407 399 n/a n/a
infections (STI) diagnoses (2023) (2024)
per 100,000 (excluding
chlamydia under 25)
PH14 Long-acting reversible = 49.2% 50% 48.9% (:::,
contraception (LARC) @ (2023/2 @ (2024/2 Q1
prescribed as a proportion 4) 5) 2024/25
of all contraceptives )
PH15 Admission episodes for 857 848 934 n l_
alcohol-specific conditions
(Directly Standardised Rate
per 100,000 population) (2022/2  (2023/2 @ (2023/2
3) 4) 4

Q2 —2024/25 | ADULTS Directorate / Adult Social Care / Health PPB Page 19 of 39




Page 263

Ref Descrintion Actual Target Quarter Current Direction
P 2023/24 | 2024/25 2 Progress | of Travel
provisio
nal)
PH16 @ Successful completion of 19.1% = 19.5% = 19.4% E =
drug treatment (non-opiate) = (2023/2 @ (2024/2 (Q1
4) 5) 2024/25
)

Supporting Commentary

PH Ola - Data is published annually by OHID. 2018-20 data showed a slight
improvement; however, this may not continue due to the excess deaths that
occurred during 2021

PH 01b - Data is published annually by OHID. 2018-20 data showed a slight
improvement; however, this may not continue due to the excess deaths that
occurred during 2021.

PH 02 - The percentage reduced by 6% between 2018/19 and 2021/22 in
Halton; this is similar to the decline in England overall. However, the Halton
percentage did increase slightly between 2021/22 and 2022/23. Data is
released annually.

PH 03 - The 2023/24 and Q1 2024/25 data saw an increase from 2022/23 but
failed to meet the target of 90%. However, they did meet the performance
standard of 75%.

PH 04 - Adult excess weight increased in 2022/23 and did not meet the target.
Data is published annually by OHID.

PH 05 — Adult physical activity decreased again slightly in 2022/23. Data is
published annually by OHID.

PH 06 - There has been a reduction in uptake during 2023/24 and Q1 2024/25
as there were a large number of invites sent out. Q2 2024/25 data is not yet
available.

PH 07 — Smoking levels increased in 2023 and did not meet the target. Data
is published annually.

PH 08 - Provisional 2021-23 data indicates the rate has increased since 2020-
22 and is not on track to meet the target. Data is published annually.

PH 09 - Published 2023/24 data shows the rate of self-harm admissions has
reduced since 2021/22 and met the target. Data is available annually.

Q2 —2024/25 | ADULTS Directorate / Adult Social Care / Health PPB Page 20 of 39




Page 264

PH 10 - Provisional 2023/24 indicates the rate of falls injury admissions is
similar to 2022/23 (a very small reduction) and has met the target. Data is
available annually.

PH 11 - The proportion of adult social care users having as much social
contact as they would like increased in 2022/23 but did not meet the target.
Data is available annually.

PH 12 — Fuel poverty has improved in Halton since 2020 and is slightly below
the England average. Data is published annually.

PH 13 — New STI rates increased slightly in 2023. However, rates are
consistently better than the England. Data is published annually.

PH 14 — Data for Q1 2024/25 is similar to 2023/24 annual figure.

PH 15 — Provisional 2023/24 indicates the rate of alcohol-specific admissions
has increased and has not met the target.

PH 16 - Data does fluctuate year on year but in 2022/23and 2023/24, the
Halton proportion of successful completions was worse than the England
average. The figure has remained similar in Q1 2024/25.

Q2 —2024/25 | ADULTS Directorate / Adult Social Care / Health PPB Page 21 of 39



APPENDIX 1 - Financial Statements

COMMUNITY CARE

Page 265

Revenue Budget as at 30™ September 2024

Annual |Budgetto| Actual Variance Forecast
Budget Date Spend | (Overspend) | Outturn
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Expenditure
Residential & Nursing 13,372 6,302 7,279 (977) (1,345)
Domicilary Care & Supported living 12,890 5,867 5,846 21 46
Direct Payments 14,125 7,389 8,035 (646) (1,155)
Day Care 648 389 274 115 7
Total Expenditure 41,035 19,947 21,434 (1,487) (2,447)
Income
Residential & Nursing Income -13,182 -5,842 -5,849 7 6
Community Care Income -2,270 -1,043 -1,048 5 11
Direct Payments Income -1,014 -435 -441 6 8
Income from other CCGs -135 -34 -34 0 0
Market sustainability & Improvement Grant -2,796 -1,398 -1,398 0 0
Adult Social Care Support Grant -5,167 -2,583 -2,583 0 0
War Pension Disregard Grant -67 0 0 0 (11)
Total Income -24,631 -11,335 -11,353 18 14
Net Operational Expenditure 16,404 8,612 10,081 (1,469) (2,433)

Comments on the above figures:

The Community Care budget has been realigned since the
reflect more closely services commissioned.

last report to

At the end of September 2024 expenditure on Community Care services is
over budget profile by £1.4m. It is anticipated that at the end of the financial
year it will be overspent by £2.4m. This is an increase of £0.3m from the
previous position reported at the end of July.

Further analysis of individual service budgets is provided below. Note service
demand referred to in the report is based on the most up to date information
as at the end of August 2024.

Residential & Nursing Care

There are currently 420 residents in permanent external residential/nursing
care as at the end of August 2024 compared to 406 in April, an increase of
3.4%. Compared to the 2023/24 average of 390 this is an increase of 7.6%.
The average cost of a package of care since April has increased from £866 to
£881 a slight increase of 1.7%. Based on this average cost the 4 additional
service users from July to August will cost approximately £0.127m to year
end. In addition to these placements there are 94 residents placed within
council internal care homes.

Q2 —2024/25 | ADULTS Directorate / Adult Social Care / Health PPB Page 22 of 39



Page 266

The graph below illustrates the demand for permanent placements.

Total External Residential & Nursing Clients™ 2%/2

430 2023/24 v 2024/25 ——24/25

420 i
410 /\ /

-

8
_5400
%390
@380
E
£370
=
360
350

340 T T T T T T T T T T T T 1
1 2 3 4 5 6 perlop 28 9 10 11 12 13

There are 25 external packages which charge a top up currently costing
£2,592.14 per week which equates to £0.135m per annum.

Extra 1 to 1 hours in external care homes currently cost £13,379 per week
and the forecast to year end for this is circa £0.422m. This is for 14 individuals
to date. Last year 20 individuals received 1 to 1 care at a cost of £0.255m.
This suggests that either people are receiving more hours, or the rate is
higher than last year.

The table below shows the number of Permanent external packages over
£1,000 per week.

Q2 —2024/25 / ADULTS Directorate / Adult Social Care / Health PPB Page 23 of 39



Page 267

Weekly Cost No of Permanent PoCs
£ PERIOD1 PERIOD2 PEROD3 PEROD4 PERODS5

1000-1999 52 53 53 53 54
2000-2999 18 18 16 17 17
3000-3999 5 5 5 5 5
4000-4999 7 8 8 8 9
5000-5999 3 2 2 2 3
6000-6999 1 2 1 2 2
7000-7999 1 1 1 1
>10,000 1 1 1 1 1
Total 87 0 87 89 92

Over £1,000 Out
of Borough 60 62 60 62 63

Over £1,000 Joint
Funded 41 43 42 43 46

Between Period 4 and 5 the number of permanent packages over £1000 has
increased by 3 at a cost of £6382.89 per week, circa £0.191m to year end.

Of the current 92 permanent placements 63 are out of borough and 46 are
joint funded.

Domiciliary Care & Supported Living

There are currently 755 service users receiving a package of care at home
compared to 744 in June, a slight increase of 1.5%. However, the average
number of service users during 2023/24 was only 707, an increase of 6.7%
which demonstrates demand for the service has increased this financial year.

The graph below illustrates the demand for the service from April 2023 to
date.

Q2 —2024/25 | ADULTS Directorate / Adult Social Care / Health PPB Page 24 of 39



Page 268

Total Domiciliary (incl. Supported Living) Clierits23/24
2023/24 v 2024/25 ——24/25

6 7 8
PERIOD

However, the average cost of a package of care is currently £433.89
compared with £490.65 in April, a decrease of 11.5% which is helping to
achieve a balanced budget for the service.

Direct Payments

In August 615 clients received a Direct Payment (DP) compared with 619 in
April a very slight decrease of 0.64%. However, the average number of DP’s
in 2023/24 was 591, therefore there has been an increase of 4.06% on last
year’s average.

The average cost of a package of care has decreased since April from
£529.04 to £455.65 in August, a reduction of 13.7%.

Currently there are 193 service users receiving a DP to pay care providers
that have an hourly rate higher than the Council’s domiciliary contracted rate
of £21.18. This is an increase from period 4 of 32 clients and a financial
increase of £5,860 per week (£0.152m to year end if this continues). This
appears to be a trend and is exerting additional pressure on the budget.

The forecast position for Direct Payments assumes an amount of £1.4m will
be recovered from users following an audit to seek assurance the DP is spent
in line with their care and support needs. Variations to the amount recovered
will directly affect the forecast.

Q2 —2024/25 / ADULTS Directorate / Adult Social Care / Health PPB Page 25 of 39



Page 269

640

630

620

Count
()]
—
o

600

590

580

Direct Payments

—2...

April23 to March 25 LA ONLY

A\

N

Per1 Per2 Per3 Per4 Per5 Per6 Per7 Per8 Per9
PERIOD

Per 10Per 11Per 12Per 13

The Community Care budget as a whole is very volatile by nature as it is
demand driven, with many influential factors such as the ageing population,
deprivation within the borough and also links to the health care sector.

It will continue to be closely monitored and scrutinised throughout the rest of
the financial year to quantify pressures on the financial performance. The
Community Care budget recovery group continues to meet to identify savings
to try to mitigate the risk of further overspend against this budget. So far, they
have realised savings to the tune of £1.2m.

Q2 —2024/25 / ADULTS Directorate / Adult Social Care / Health PPB Page 26 of 39



Care Homes Division

Page 270

Revenue Budget as at 30th September 2024

Annual Budget to |Actual Spend| Variance Forecast
Budget Date (Overspend)| Outturn
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Expenditure
Madeline Mckenna
Employees 698 349 316 33 35
Agency - covering vacancies 0 0 70 (70) (152)
Other Premises 101 38 39 ) 3)
Supplies & Services 20 8 12 (4) 2
Food Provison 48 20 24 (4) (1)
Total Madeline Mckenna Expenditure 867 415 461 (46) (123)
Millbrow
Employees 2,056 1,028 618 410 679
Agency - covering vacancies 3 3 458 (455) (950)
Other Premises 129 51 70 (19) (38)
Supplies & Services 61 27 49 (22) (25)
Food Provison 78 33 39 (6) 1
Total Millbrow Expenditure 2,327 1,142 1,234 (92) (333)
St Luke's
Employees 2,884 1,442 1,012 430 740
Agency - covering vacancies 250 250 696 (446) (1,023)
Premises 172 73 109 (36) (67)
Supplies & Services 59 21 a7 (26) (26)
Reimbursement & Grant Income -104 -104 -104 0 0
Client Income -44 -44 -44 0 0
Food Provison 120 60 62 (2) (3)
Total St Luke's Expenditure 3,337 1,698 1,778 (80) (379)
St Patrick's
Employees 1,839 919 590 329 566
Agency - covering vacancies 42 42 504 (462) (2,001)
Other Premises 157 55 64 9) (17)
Supplies & Services 64 29 22 7 14
Food Provison 122 50 49 1 2
Reimbursement & Grant Income -21 -21 -21 0 0
Total St Patrick's Expenditure 2,203 1,074 1,208 (134) (436)
Care Homes Divison Management
Employees 362 180 141 39 77
Supplies & Services 0 0 2 (2) (4)
Care Home Divison Management 362 180 143 37 73
Net Operational Expenditure 9,096 4,509 4,824 (315) (1,198)
Recharges
Premises Support 264 88 88 0 0
Transport Support 0 0 0 0 0
Central Support 683 228 228 0 0
Asset Rental Support 0 0 0 0 0
Recharge Income 0 0 0 0 0
Net Total Recharges 947 316 316 0 0
Net Departmental Expenditure 10,043 4,825 5,140 (315) (1,198)

Comments on the above figures

Financial Position

The Care Home division is made up of the following cost centres, Divisional
Management Care Homes, Madeline Mckenna, Millborow, St Luke’s and St
Patrick’s.

Q2 —2024/25 | ADULTS Directorate / Adult Social Care / Health PPB Page 27 of 39



Page 271

The spend to 30" September 2024 across the division is over budget profile by
£0.315m. The forecast for the end of 2024/25 financial year is an estimated outturn
position of £1.198m over budget. This is assuming the level of agency continues at
a similar rate and includes higher spend assumptions later in the financial year due
to winter pressures surrounding staffing and utilities.

Comparison to Previous Year Outturn and Period 2 forecasted Outturn

The outturn position for financial year 2023/24 was £1.056m over budget. Based on
the estimated outturn position for 2024/25, there is an expectation that the
estimated outturn overspend will be £0.142m higher than the last financial year.

The outturn position for Period 4 was £1.290m over budget. Based on the
estimated outturn position for Quarter 2, there is an expectation that the estimated
outturn overspend will be £0.092m lower than the previous quarter.

Employee expenditure specifically agency spend continues to be a pressure across

the care homes, Agency spend will continue to be monitored to ensure the forecast
remains in line with spend.

Supporting Information

Employee Related expenditure

Employee related expenditure is over budget profile at the end of September 2024
by £0.192m with the expected outturn position of employee related expenditure at
the end of financial year 2024/25 as £1.029m over budget.

It has been assumed that the pay award offer of £1,290 will be accepted. This has
been included within the forecasted outturn. This will result in an over budget spend
of £0.188m across the Care Home Division.

Recruitment of staff is a continued pressure across the care homes. There remains
a high number of staff vacancies across the care homes. A proactive rolling
recruitment exercise is ongoing within the care homes and is supported by HR.

Due to pressures with recruitment and retention in the sector, heavy reliance is
being placed on overtime and expensive agency staff to support the care homes. At
the end of September 2024 total agency spend across the care homes reached
£1.887m, the cost of this has partially been offset by staff vacancies.

Premises Related Expenditure

Premises related expenditure is over budget profile at the end of September 2024
by £0.065m and is forecast as an estimated overspend at the end of the financial
year 2024/25 by £0.125m.

Q2 —2024/25 | ADULTS Directorate / Adult Social Care / Health PPB Page 28 of 39



Page 272

Repairs and maintenance continue to be a budget pressure across all the care
homes. The recruitment of a facilities manager would help to reduce these costs.
Budget for this post has been made available but the recruitment to this position
has so far been unsuccessful.

Food Related Expenditure

Food related expenditure is over budget profile at the end of September 2024 by
£0.011m and is forecast as an estimated overspend at the end of the financial year
2024/25 by £0.010m.

Approved 2024/25 Savings

There are no approved savings for the care home division in financial year 2024/25

Occupancy Levels

Current occupancy at September stands at 120 residents, which represents 74% of
total capacity. This figure has reduced from the 128 residents recorded in April
2024.

Risks/Opportunities

The demand for agency staff within the care homes has been significantly high for
several years.

Currently agency staff are being used for a variety of different reasons, to cover
vacant posts, maternity leave and sickness absence.

The forecasts for agency staff are continuously reviewed to account for fluctuations
in demand, however, the difficulty in the recruitment of new staff and the inability to
retain existing staff has resulted in continued reliance on agency staff. The
expectation is that the use for agency staff will be an ongoing issue. The care
homes and the transformation team are working actively to look at options to
reduce the reliance on agency.

Q2 —2024/25 | ADULTS Directorate / Adult Social Care / Health PPB Page 29 of 39



Page 273

COMPLEX CARE POOL BUDGET

Revenue Budget as at 30 September 2024

Annual | Budget | Actual Variance | Forecast
Budget | to Date | Spend | (Overspend) | Outturn
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Expenditure
Intermediate Care Services 5,220 2,109 2,226 117 (233)
Oakmeadow 1,831 884 921 (37) (74)
Community Home Care First 2,111 818 649 169 338
Joint Equipment Store 871 276 276 0 0
Development Fund 582 66 0 66 133
Contracts & SLA's 3,243 98 98 0 0
Inglenook 127 55 41 14 28
HICafs 3,703 1,210 1,066 144 289
Carers Breaks 494 225 156 69 138
Carers centre 371 0 0 0 0
Residential Care 7,225 3,629 3,629 0 0
Domiciliary Care & Supported Living 4,227 2,113 2,113 0 0
Total Expenditure 30,005| 11,483 | 11,175 308 619
Income
BCF -13,484 | -6,742 -6,742 0 0
CCG Contribution to Pool -2,865 -1,432 -1,432 0 0
Oakmeadow Income -19 -16 -13 (3) 4)
ASC Discharge Grant Income -1,631 -816 -816 0 0
ICB Discharge Grant Income -1,282 -1,282 -1,282 0 0
Other Income -20 0 0 0 0
Total Income -19,301 | -10,288 | -10,285 (3) (4)
ICB Contribution Share of Surplus 0 (307)
Net Operational Expenditure 10,704 1,195 890 305 308

Comments on the above figures:

The financial performance as at 30" September 2024 shows the Complex
Care Pool Budget is £0.305m under budget profile as this point of the financial

year.

Intermediate Care Services are currently over budget to date predominantly
due to the use of agency staff within the reablement team. This overspend is
in contrast to the previous financial year, which was underspent, and is the
result of higher staffing costs and the absence of the Local Authority Urgent
and Emergency Care (LAUEC) Grant this year.

Q2 —2024/25 | ADULTS Directorate / Adult Social Care / Health PPB Page 30 of 39




Page 274

Spend is over budget at this point in the year on Oakmeadow due to
increased costs in utilities, food, supplies & services and the use of agency
staff. The majority of vacant posts have now been recruited to, but a few
remain, and agency staff are required to cover staff sickness. This agency
spend is currently being investigated by the service in order to ascertain as to
whether it can be reduced in year.

The underspend on HICafs relates to the reduction in value of the Bridgewater
contract due to the non-recruitment of two Pharmacy posts. This is offset by
an overspend on staffing caused by unbudgeted spend on agency staff.

The underspend on Community Home Care First is due to agency costs being
lower than expected at the start of the financial year, with current indications
that this may continue throughout the financial year.

Expenditure on Inglenook is less than anticipated as although there are two
clients using the service, one is now funded by Continuing Health Care which
has reduced the pressure on this budget.

Expenditure on Carer’s Breaks is £0.069m less than anticipated for the year to
date, with a forecast outturn of £138m under budget as demand for services is
still lower than pre-pandemic levels.

Based on current intelligence, the forecast outturn for year end is £0.615m
under budget, however the year-end position will result in a balanced budget
for the pool with any unallocated funds in year being split with the ICB in
accordance with the terms of the pool budget to fund those services under
extreme pressure — namely the Health & Community Care budget. This
budget has historically always overspent due to limited resources and often
relies on the pool budget underspend to offset pressures. It is important to
note however, that it is not guaranteed that the Pool will always have the
resources to contribute towards these underspends in the future.

Q2 —2024/25 | ADULTS Directorate / Adult Social Care / Health PPB Page 31 of 39



Page 275

Pooled Budget Capital Projects as at 30th September 2024

2024-25 | Allocation | Actual Total
Capital To Date | Spend | Allocation
Allocation Remaining
£°000 £°000 £000 £000
Disabled Facilities Grant 1050 525 580 470
Stair lifts (Adaptations 200 100 89 111
Initiative)
RSL Adaptations (Joint 150 75 77 73
Funding)
Telehealthcare Digital 135 70 60 75
Switchover
Oakmeadow & Peelhouse 40 0 0 40
Network Improvements
Miadekine McKenna Refurb 100 50 82 18
Millbrow Refurb 50 25 34 16
St Luke’s Care Home 50 25 24 26
St Patrick’s Care Home 50 25 30 20
Total 1,825 895 976 849

Comments on the above figures:

Allocations for Disabled Facilities Grants/Stair Lifts and RSL adaptations are
consistent with 2023/24 spend and budget, and expenditure across the 3
headings is projected to be within budget overall for the financial year.

The £400,000 Telehealthcare Digital Switchover scheme was approved by
Executive Board on 15 July 2021. Significant capital investment is required to
ensure a functional Telehealthcare IT system is in place prior to the switch off
of existing copper cable based systems. Procurement commenced in 2022/23
with an initial purchase to the value of £100,000. It is anticipated that the
scheme will be completed in the current financial year, fully funded from the
residual capital allocation of £135,000.

On 16" June 2022 Executive Board approved a £4.2M refurbishment
programme in respect of the four Council owned care homes, to be completed
withing a three year timescale. Spend to 31 March 2024 amounted to
£947,000, leaving available funding of £3.253M at the start of the current
financial year.

Executive Board have approved an additional £2M capital allocation in respect
of energy efficiency initiatives. At present, detailed costing proposals are in
development, with further revisions to the capital allocations to be submitted to
Executive Board later in the year.

Initial 2024-25 capital allocations against each home currently therefore reflect
just anticipated minor refurbishment costs.

Q2 —2024/25 | ADULTS Directorate / Adult Social Care / Health PPB Page 32 of 39



Page 276

ADULT SOCIAL CARE

Revenue Operational Budget as at 301" September 2024

Annual |Budgetto| Actual Variance Forecast
Budget Date Spend |(Overspend)| Outturn
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Expenditure
Employees 17,543 8,776 8,249 527 1,060
Agency- Covering Vacancies 0 0 580 (580) (1,160)
Premises 481 263 247 16 0
Supplies & Services 511 297 319 (22) (45)
Aids & Adaptations 37 18 21 3) 0
Transport 242 120 152 (32) (60)
Food & Drink Provisions 214 107 89 18 30
Supported Accommodation and Services 1,385 652 608 44 90
Emergency Duty Team 115 0 0 0 0
Transfer To Reserves 282 0 0 0 0
Capital Financing 13 0 0 0 0
Contracts & SLAs 1,090 537 534 3 0
Housing Solutions Grant Funded Schemes
Homelessness Prevention 471 148 130 18 0
Rough Sleepers Initiative 167 48 49 Q) 0
Trailblazer 100 50 43 7 0
Total Expenditure 22,651 11,016 11,021 (5) (85)
Income
Fees & Charges -873 -430 -393 (37) (70)
Sales & Rents Income -480 -311 -317 6 10
Reimbursements & Grant Income -2,208 -658 -635 (23) 0
Capital Salaries -121 -61 -61 0 0
Housing Schemes Income -631 -626 -625 (1) 0
Total Income -4,313 -2,086 -2,031 (55) (60)
Net Operational Expenditure 18,338 8,930 8,990 (60) (145)
Recharges
Premises Support 529 264 264 0 0
Transport Support 581 291 400 (109) (190)
Central Support 3,465 1,732 1,732 0 0
Asset Rental Support 13 0 0 0 0
Recharge Income -112 -55 -55 0 0
Net Total Recharges 4,476 2,232 2,341 (109) (190)
Net Departmental Expenditure 22,814 11,162 11,331 (169) (335)

Net Department Expenditure, excluding the Community Care and Care
Homes divisions, is currently £0.169m above budget profile at the end of
the second quarter of the financial year.

Current Expenditure projections indicate an overspend for the full financial
year in the region of £0.335m

Employee costs, including agency, are currently £53,000 above budget
profile. Spend projections are based on the current pay offer, costed on a
full-year basis. This results in a projected full-year cost above current
budget of £100,000. This relates to unbudgeted agency costs in respect of

Q2 —2024/25 | ADULTS Directorate / Adult Social Care / Health PPB Page 33 of 39



Page 277

covering vacant posts, particularly in terms of front-line Care Management
and Mental Health Team posts.

Agency expenditure across the department as a whole at the end of
September 2024 stood at £0.580m, with a full year spend of £1.160m
projected. This compares with a spend for April to September 2023 of
£0.404m, and a full year spend for last financial year of £0.928m.

The projected £0.045m full year spend above budget in respect of supplies
and services relates to an increased volume of caseload in respect of
Deprivation Of Liberty Standards (DoLs) assessments.

Transport and transport recharge costs were substantially above budget in
the previous financial year. A review of costs, and apportionment of
recharged costs between Children’s and Adults Services is ongoing.
Current projections imply a full year spend above budget of £0.060m in
respect of direct transport costs, and £0.190m in respect of internally
recharged costs.

Housing Strategy initiatives included in the report above include the Rough
Sleeping Initiative, Homelessness Prevention Scheme, and the Trailblazer
initiative. The Homelessness Prevention scheme is an amalgamation of the
previous Flexible Homelessness Support and Homelessness Reduction
schemes and is wholly grant funded.

Income for the Department as a whole is broadly to budget for the year,
although there is a projected full-year under-achievement of £0.070m in
respect of transport income charged to service users.

It is currently projected that Departmental spend will be £0.335m overspent
at the end of the financial year, as a result of the above factors.

Whilst some of the 2024/25 approved savings have been achieved, work is
still ongoing on a number of items. The above projections account for the
currently projected delayed or partially achieved items.

Q2 —2024/25 | ADULTS Directorate / Adult Social Care / Health PPB Page 34 of 39



Progress Against Agreed Savings
Adult Social Care

Service Area Net Description of Saving Proposal Savings Current Comments
Budget Value Progress
£000 24125 | 25/26
£°000 | £°000
ASC1 Housing 474 | Remodel the current service 0 125 Anticipated to be achieved,
Solutions based on good practice evidence currently under review.
from other areas.
ASC2 Telehealthcare 680 | Explore alternative funding 170 0 u Currently Under Review
streams such as Health funding
or Disabled Facilities Grants.
Charges were increased by 40%
Increase charges / review 170 0 w.e.f. April 2024, so this should
income. be achieved
15 0 n
Cease the key safe installation Service still being provided
service.
ASC17/18 | Quality 395 | Review the activities of the 0 0 Saving implemented
Assurance Quality Assurance Team, given
Team there are fewer providers for
domiciliary care and the transfer
of four care homes into the
Council.
50 0
Merge the service with the
Safeguarding Unit.

Q2 —2024/25 /| ADULTS Directorate / Adult Social Care / Health PPB Page 35 of 39

g/ ¢ abed



ASC16 Shared Lives 115 | Engage with an external agency 58 0 u | | Service currently still provided in-
(Adult currently operating Shared Lives house, although a balanced
Placement to take over the running of this budget will be attained for
Service) service. It is anticipated that this 2024/25 as a result of current
would provide an improved temporary savings, and work is
service. ongoing to ensure the 2025/6
structure can achieve the
permanent savings target
ASC19 Voluntary N/A | Review the support provided by 200 100 Anticipated to be achieved
Sector Support Adult Social Care and all other
Council Departments, to
voluntary sector organisations.
This would include assisting them
to secure alternative funding in
order to reduce their dependence
upon Council funding. A target
saving phased over two years
has been estimated.
ASC4 Positive 349 | Increase income generated in 100 0 Contracts being re-costed on
Behaviour order to ensure full cost recovery, renewal, saving anticipated to be
Support through increased service achieved
Service

contract charges to other
councils.

Review the Integrated Care
Board contribution for Adults, to

ICB funding not secured,
although a balanced budget will
be attained for 2024/25 as a
result of current temporary
savings, and work is ongoing to

Q2 —2024/25 /| ADULTS Directorate / Adult Social Care / Health PPB Page 36 of 39

6/ abed



ensure the full recovery of related
costs.

150

ensure the 2025/6 structure can
achieve the permanent savings
target

ASC15 Learning
Disability
Nursing Team

424

Cease provision of this service.
The service is a Health related
function rather than Adult Social
Care, but this is a historical
arrangement. The Integrated
Care Board would need to
consider how they want to
provide this function.

424

Costs now recharged to the ICB

ASC14 Care
Management
Community
Care Budget

18,982

Attract £500k investment from the
pooled budget (BCF) from
2024/25. Undertake work in
years 1 and 2 to reduce reliance
upon contracted services from
2025/26. Services are currently
in the process of being
redesigned on a “Strengths
Based Approach” i.e. focused
upon prevention.

500

1,000

Under Review

Total Adult Social Care Department

1,837

1,225

Q2 —2024/25 | ADULTS Directorate / Adult Social Care / Health PPB Page 37 of 39

08¢ abed



Page 281

PUBLIC HEALTH & PUBLIC PROTECTION DEPARTMENT

Revenue Budget as at 30 September 2024

Annual |Budgetto| Actual Variance Forecast
Budget Date Spend | (Overspend) | Outturn
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Expenditure
Employees 5,345 2,238 2,184 54 48
Agency - covering vacancies 0 0 17 a7 0
Premises 6 0 0 0 0
Supplies & Services 387 188 169 19 38
Contracts & SLA's 7,913 3,372 3,319 53 16
Transport 4 2 0 2 0
Transfer to Reserves 19 19 19 0 0
Other Agency 24 24 24 0 0
Total Expenditure 13,698 5,843 5,732 111 102
Income
Fees & Charges -83 -61 -62 1 0
Reimbursements & Grant Income -306 -276 -276 0 0
Transfer from Reserves -1,714 -65 -65 0 0
Capital Salaries 0 0 0 0 0
Government Grant Income -12,193 -6,297 -6,297 0 0
Total Income -14,296 -6,699 -6,700 1 0
Net Operational Expenditure -598 -856 -968 112 102
Recharges
Premises Support 149 75 75 0 0
Transport Support 22 11 11 0 0
Central Support 2,387 1,194 1,194 0 0
Asset Rental Support 0 0 0 0 0
Recharge Income -669 -335 -335 0 0
Net Total Recharges 1,889 945 945 0 0
Net Departmental Expenditure 1,291 89 -23 112 102

Comments on the above figures

Financial Position

The current financial position shows the net spend for the department is £0.112m
under budget profile as at the end of September 2024. The estimated outturn
position for 2024/25 is £0.102m net spend under the approved budget for the year.
However, this does include a £0.509m forecast drawdown from reserves to cover
additional expenditure and contributions to public health related HBC services from
the public health grant. This has increased from the previous reporting period due
to unexpectedly receiving a number of unaccounted invoices relating to previous
years.

Due to recent recruitment, employee costs are running in line with budget profile.
Expenditure on supplies and services will be kept to essential items only throughout
the year and is currently forecasting a small underspend.

A budget pressure to be aware of is a number of contracts are due for renewal and
in the current financial climate are likely to increase significantly.

Q2 —2024/25 | ADULTS Directorate / Adult Social Care / Health PPB Page 38 of 39



Page 282

Symbols are used in the following manner:

Progress Objective Performance Indicator

Green Indicates that the objective Indicates that the annual target is
IS on course to be oncourse to be achieved.
achieved within the
appropriate timeframe.

Amber E Indicates that it is Indicates that it is uncertain or too
uncertain_or too early to early to say at this stage whether
say at this stage, whether the annual target is on course to
the milestone/objective will  be achieved.
be achieved within the
appropriate timeframe.

Red n Indicates that it is highly Indicates that the target will not
likely or certain that the be achieved unless there is an
objective  will not be intervention or remedial action
achieved within the taken.
appropriate timeframe.

Direction of Travel Indicator

Where possible performance measures will also identify a direction of travel using
the following convention

Green Indicates that performance is better as compared to the same
period last year.

Amber Cj Indicates that performance is the same as compared to the same
period last year.

Red 1 Indicates that performance is worse as compared to the same
period last year.

N/A Indicates that the measure cannot be compared to the same period
last year.

Q2 —2024/25 | ADULTS Directorate / Adult Social Care / Health PPB Page 39 of 39



	Agenda
	1 Minutes
	3 Public Question Time
	4 Health and Wellbeing Minutes
	Minutes , 10/07/2024 Health and Wellbeing Board

	5a Research and Practice Development Care Partnership Co-Creation Report
	Appendix 1.docx
	RPDCP Project Summary.pptx

	5b Integration between Warrington & Halton Teaching Hospitals NHSFT & Bridgewater Community Healthcare NHSFT
	Warrington and Halton integration programme.pptx

	5c One Halton Partnership and ICB@Halton Updates
	261124 Health PPB Agenda Items.pptx

	5d Report on Activity to support Carers
	Appendix One.pdf
	Appendix 2.xlsx

	5e HSAB Annual Report 2023-24
	Halton Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report April 2023.pptx

	5f Housing Solutions Performance Update
	6a Performance Management Reports - Quarter 2 2024/25

